DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion





Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee November 5-6, 2015 Atlanta, Georgia

Record of the Proceedings

Table of Contents

Meeting Agenda	3
List of Participants	4
Executive Summary	7
Welcome and Introductions	8
CDC Updates: Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion	9
Healthcare Antimicrobial Stewardship	12
Nontuberculous Mycobacterium Infections Associated with Heater-Cooler Devices	24
Update: Research Framework for Environmental Infection Control: Environmental Surfaces	s32
Considerations for Evidence-Based Evaluations for New and Evolving Proprietary Products Infection Control	
Using Data for Prevention: Targeted Assessment for Prevention (TAP)	40
Update on HICPAC Workgroup for Endoscope Reprocessing	47
Public Comment	49
Recognition of Retiring Members	50
Liaison / <i>Ex Officio</i> Reports	51
Adjourn	57
Control of Antimicrobial Resistance Across Healthcare Settings	57
Sepsis Surveillance Definition Work Update	65
Ensuring Training and Competency of Healthcare Personnel in Infection Control	69
Summary and Work Plan	71
Public Comment	73
Adjourn	73
Certification	74
Attachment #1: Acronyms Used in this Document	75
Attachment #2: Liaison and Ex-Officio Reports	78
Clinical Practice Guidelines for Antimicrobial Prophylaxis in Surgery	109
Guidelines for Developing an Institutional Program to Enhance Antimicrobial Stewardship	110
Guidelines for the Prevention of Antimicrobial Resistance in Hospitals	110

Meeting Agenda

Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee

November 5-6, 2015
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Tom Harkin Global Communications Center (Building 19, Auditorium 3)
1600 Clifton Road NE, Atlanta, GA

Thursday, November 5, 2015

Time	Tonio	Durmaga	Dracidar/Dracenter
Time	Topic	Purpose	Presider/Presenter
9:00	Welcome and Introductions	Information	Dan Diekema (HICPAC Chair) Jeff Hageman (HICPAC DFO)
9:15	CDC Updates: Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion (DHQP)	Information	Denise Cardo (DHQP,CDC)
9:30	Healthcare Antimicrobial Stewardship	Information Discussion	Arjun Srinivasan (DHQP, CDC) Lauri Hicks (DHQP, CDC)
10:45	Break		,
11:00	Nontuberculous Mycobacterium Infections Associated with Heater-Cooler Devices	Information Discussion	Joe Perz (DHQP, CDC) Michael Bell (DHQP, CDC)
12:00	Lunch	Discussion	Wilchael Bell (DHQF, CDC)
1:30	Update: Research Framework for Environmental Infection Control: Environmental Surfaces	Information	Sujan Reddy (Emory University)
4 45			E: 0((DUOD 0D0)
1:45	Approach to Evidence-Based Evaluations for New and Evolving Proprietary Products for Infection Control	Information Discussion	Erin Stone (DHQP, CDC)
2:30	Using Data for Prevention: Targeted	Information	Carolyn Gould (DHQP)
	Assessment for Prevention (TAP)	Discussion	Carety.: Coana (211Q1)
3:30	Break		
3:45	Update on HICPAC Reprocessing Workgroup	Information Discussion	Jeff Hageman (HICPAC DFO)
4:15	Public Comment		
4:30	Liaison/ex officio reports		
5:00	Adjourn		

Friday, November 6, 2015

Time	Topic	Purpose	Presider/Presenter
9:00	Welcome and Roll Call	Information	Dan Diekema (HICPAC Chair) Jeff Hageman (HICPAC DFO)
9:15	Control of Antimicrobial Resistance Across Healthcare Settings	Information Discussion	John Jernigan (DHQP, CDC)
10:15	Sepsis Surveillance Definition Update	Information	Anthony Fiore (DHQP, CDC)
10:30	Break		
10:45	Ensuring Training and Competency of Healthcare Personnel Infection Control	Information Discussion	Michael Bell (DHQP, CDC)
11:15	Public Comment		
11:30	Summary and Work Plan		
12:00	Adjourn		

List of Participants

November 5, 2015

HICPAC Members

Dr. Daniel Diekema, Chair

Dr. Hilary Babcock

Ms. Vickie Brown

Dr. Sheri Chernetsky-Tejedor

Dr. W. Charles Huskins

Dr. Susan Huang

Ms. Lynn Janssen

Dr. Lisa Maragakis

Dr. Jan Patterson

Ms. Gina Pugliese

Dr. Tom Talbot

Dr. Deborah Yokoe

EX OFFICIO MEMBERS

Ms. Elizabeth Claverie-Williams, Food and Drug Administration

Dr. David Henderson, National Institutes of Health

Dr. Gary Roselle, Veteran's Administration Dr. Daniel Schwartz, Centers for Medicare

and Medicaid Services
Ms. Judy Trawick, Health Resources and

LIAISON REPRESENTATIVES

Service Administration

Mr. Michael McElroy (America's Essential Hospitals)

Dr. Mark Russi (American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine (ACOEM))

Ms. Amber Wood (Association of

periOperative Registered Nursed (AORN))

Ms. Michael Anne Preas (Association of Professionals of Infection Control and Epidemiology (APIC))

Dr. Emily Lutterloh (Association of State and Territorial Health Officials (ASTHO))

Ms. Marion Kainer (Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists (CSTE))

Ms. Lisa McGiffert (Consumers Union)

Ms. Linda Spaulding (DNV Global

Healthcare)

Dr. Stephen Weber (Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA))

Dr. Sarah Matthews (National Association of County and City Health Officials (NACCHO))

Ms. Toju Ogunremi (Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC))

Dr. Michael Howell (Society for Critical Care Medicine (SCCM))

Dr. David Banach (Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America (SHEA)

Dr. Robert Sawyer (Surgical Infection Society (SIS))

CDC REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Jessica Adam, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Denise Albina, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Sonya Arundar, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Michael Bell, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Denise Cardo, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Tanya Cassingham/ CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Matthew Crist, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Bryan Christiansen, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Nicole Coffin, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Angela Coulliette-Salmond, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Sarah David, CDC/DHQP

Dr. Lauren Epstein, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Tony Fiore, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Scott Fridkin, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Nancy Gallagher, CDC/DHQP

Mr. Jeremy Goodman, CDC/DHQP

Dr. Carolyn Gould, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Nicole Gualandi, CDC/DHQP

Dr. Neil Gupta, CDC/ DHQP

Mr. Jeff Hageman, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Alison Halpin, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Heather Hastings, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Rita Helfand, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Lauri Hicks, CDC/DHQP

Dr. Kathleen Irwin, CDC/DHQP

Dr. John Jernigan, CDC/DHQP

Dr. Rima Kabbaz, CDC/OID

Ms. Sophia Kazakova, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Mary Keckler, CDC/DHQP

Dr. David Kuhar, CDC/D DHQP

Dr. Jason Lake, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Caitlin Leach, CDC/NCEZID

Dr. Meghan Lyman, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Cliff MacDonald, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Dyann Matson Koffman, CDC/OSQ/OADS

Mr. Emmanuel Maurice, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Kelly McCormick, CDC/DHQP

Dr. Shelley Magill, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Kerri Moran, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Heather Moulton-Meissner, CDC/DHQP

Dr. Duc Nguyen, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Lyn Nguyen, CDC/DHQP

Dr. Judith Noble-Wang, CDC/DHQP

Dr. Shannon Novosad, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Amibola Ogundimu, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Erin O'Leary, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Amanda Overholt, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Danielle Palms, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Kiran Perkins, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Joe Perz, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Ruby Phelps, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Daniel Pollock, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Jan Ratterreee, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Cathy Rebmann, CDC/DHQP

Dr. Sujan Reddy, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Melissa Schaefer, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Issac See, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Kathy Sieber, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Erin Stone, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Nicola Thompson, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Abbigail Tumpey, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Katharina van Santen, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Wendy Vance, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Ellen Wan, CDC/DHQP

Dr. J. Todd Weber, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Cindy Weinbaum, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Sarah Yi, CDC/ DHQP

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Dr. Jim Arbogast, Gojo

Ms. Kay Argroves, American Association of Nurse Anesthetists

Mr. Nick Austerman, Bard Medical

Ms. Nicole Bryan, CSTE

Dr. Russ Castioni. 3M

Ms. Kendra Cox, Cambridge

Communications, Training, and

Assessments

Ms. Pamela Falk, Northside Hospital

Mr. Hudson Garrett. PDI

Ms. Maryellen Guinan, America's Essential Hospitals

Ms. Amna Handley, GA Pacific

Ms. Linda Homan, Ecolab

Ms. Eve Humphries, Society of Healthcare

Epidemiologist of America

Dr. Jesse Jacob, Emory University

Mr. Robert Jones, Goldshield/ Energy and Environmental

Ms. Jane Kirk, Gojo Industries

Ms. Beth Morrow, Northside Hospital

Ms. Renee Odehnal, Ethicon

Ms. Silvia Quevedo. Association of

Professionals in Infection Control

Ms. Maria Rodriguez, Xenex

Dr. Michelle Stevens, 3M

Ms. Rachel Stricof, Council of State and

Territorial Epidemiologists

Ms. Lisa Tomlinson, APIC

Ms. Cindy Winfrey, PDI

Dr. Hugo Xi, Carefusion

November 6, 2015

HICPAC MEMBERS

Dr. Daniel Diekema, Chair

Dr. Hilary Babcock

Ms. Vickie Brown

Dr. Sheri Chernetsky-Tejedor

Dr. W. Charles Huskins

Dr. Susan Huang

Ms. Lynn Janssen

Dr. Lisa Maragakis

Dr. Jan Patterson

Dr. Tom Talbot

Dr. Deborah Yokoe

EX OFFICIO MEMBERS

Ms. Elizabeth Claverie-Williams, Food and Drug Administration

Dr. David Henderson, National Institutes of Health

Dr. Gary Roselle, Veteran's Administration

Dr. Daniel Schwartz, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services

Ms. Judy Trawick, Health Resources and Service Administration

LIAISON REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Michael McElroy (America's Essential Hospitals)

Dr. Mark Russi (American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine (ACOEM))

Ms. Amber Wood (Association of

periOperative Registered Nursed (AORN))

Ms. Michael Anne Preas (Association of Professionals of Infection Control and Epidemiology (APIC))

Dr. Emily Lutterloh (Association of State and Territorial Health Officials (ASTHO))

Ms. Marion Kainer (Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists (CSTE))

Ms. Lisa McGiffert (Consumers Union)

Ms. Linda Spaulding (DNV Global Healthcare)

Dr. Stephen Weber (Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA))

Dr. Sarah Matthews (National Association of County and City Health Officials (NACCHO))

Ms. Toju Ogunremi (Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC))

Dr. Michael Howell (Society for Critical Care Medicine (SCCM))

Dr. David Banach (Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America (SHEA) Dr. Robert Sawyer (Surgical Infection

Society (SIS))

CDC REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Jessica Adam, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Michael Bell, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Denise Cardo, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Tanya Cassingham, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Matthew Christ, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Bryan Christiansen, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Danielle Coker, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Nicoline Collins, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Sarah David, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Lauren Epstein, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Tony Fiore, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Scott Fridkin, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Nancy Gallagher, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Carolyn Gould, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Nicole Gualandi, CDC/DHQP

Mr. Jeff Hageman, CDC/DHPQ

Dr. John Jernigan, CDC/ DHQP

MS. Sophia Kazakova, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Laura King, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Megan Klingler, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. David Kuhar, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Jason Lake, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Shelley MaGill, CDC/ DHQP

Mr. Emmanuel Maurice, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Kelly McCormick. CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Kerri Moran, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Heather Moulton-Meissner, CDC/ DHQP

Mr. Justin O'Hagan, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Amibola Ogundima, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Danielle Palms. CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Priti Patel, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Kiran Perkins, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Joe Perz, CDC/DHQP

Ms. Jan Ratterree, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Sujan Reddy, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. Issac See, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Alicia Shugart, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Erin Stone, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Abbigail Tumpey, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Wendy Vance, CDC/ DHQP

Dr. J. Todd Weber, CDC/ DHQP

Ms. Sarah Yi, CDC/ DHQP

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Ms. Nicole Bryan, CSTE

Dr. Russ Castioni, 3M

Ms. Kendra Cox, Cambridge

Communications, Training, and

Assessments

Ms. Pamela Falk, Northside Hospital

Ms. Maryellen Guinan, America's Essential Hospitals

Ms. Amna Handley, GA Pacific

Ms. Michelle Homan, Ecolab

Ms. Eve Humphries, Society of Healthcare

Epidemiologist of America

Dr. Jesse Jacob, Emory University

Mr. Robert Jones, Goldshield/ Energy and Environmental

Ms. Jane Kirk, Gojo Industries

MS. Beth Morrow. Northside Hospital

Ms. Renee Odehnal, Ethicon

Ms. Silvia Quevedo, Association of

Professionals in Infection Control

Ms. Maria Rodriguez, Xenex

Ms. Rachel Stricof, Council of State and

Territorial Epidemiologists

Ms. Lisa Tomlinson, APIC

Executive Summary

The US Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases (NCEZID) Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion (DHQP) convened a meeting of the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC) on November 5-6, 2015 in Atlanta, Georgia. The Designated Federal Official (DFO) and Chair confirmed the presence of a guorum of HICPAC voting and *ex officio* members on both days of the meeting.

The meeting was called to order at 9:22 am. on November 5, 2015. Dr. Denise Cardo provided updates and future directions from DHQP. Drs. Arjun Srinivasan and Lauri Hicks updated HICPAC on DHQP's efforts in healthcare antimicrobial stewardship. HICPAC heard information on nontuberculous mycobacterium infections associated with heater-cooler devices from Drs. Joe Perz and Michael Bell and then held discussions. Dr. Sujan Reddy updated HICPAC on the research framework for environmental infection control pertaining to environmental surfaces. Ms. Erin Stone presented, and HICPAC reviewed and discussed, an approach to evidence-based evaluations for new and evolving proprietary products for infection control. Dr. Carolyn Gould presented on using data for prevention using the Targeted Assessment for Prevention (TAP). HICPAC received an update on the HICPAC Reprocessing Workgroup. There was a public comment period, and HICPAC recognized retiring members Dr. Susan Huang and Ms. Gina Pugliese. HICPAC liaison groups provided written and verbal updates. HICPAC stood adjourned from 5:01 pm on November 5 until 9:07 am on November 6.

On Friday, November 6, 2015, Dr. John Jernigan presented to HICPAC regarding control of antimicrobial resistance across healthcare settings. Dr. Anthony Fiore presented on DHQP's work regarding a sepsis surveillance definition. Dr. Michael Bell led a discussion on ensuring training and competency of healthcare personnel in infection control. HICPAC discussed a future work plan and held a public comment period.

HICPAC stood in recess at 11:25 am on November 6, 2015. The next HICPAC meeting will be held in Atlanta, Georgia on March 31-April 1, 2016.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Diseases Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion

Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC)

November 5-6, 2015 Atlanta, Georgia

DRAFT Minutes of the Meeting

The United States Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases (NCEZID) Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion (DHQP) convened a meeting of the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC) on July 16-17, 2015 at the Tom Harkin Global Communications Center at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1600 Clifton Road NE, Atlanta, Georgia.

Thursday, November 5, 2015

Welcome and Introductions

Jeff Hageman
Division of Healthcare Quality and Promotion
National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Designated Federal Official, Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee

Mr. Jeff Hageman called the meeting to order at 9:22 am. He welcomed HICPAC members, ex *officio* members, and liaison representatives, and conducted a roll call. A quorum was present. HICPAC members disclosed the following conflicts of interest:

Dr. Daniel Diekema has received research funding from bioMérieux.
Ms. Jan Patterson's spouse has been a consultant for Astellus Pharma, Endo
International, and Viamet.
Ms. Lynn Janssen's spouse works for Dynavax Technologies, which immunologic
products, including vaccines.
Dr. W. Charles Huskins served as an advisory board member to Genentech.
Dr. Tom Talbot's spouse has received research funding from MedImmune, Sanofi
Pasteur, and Gilead Sciences, Inc, and is on the advisory committee for Novartis.
Dr. Lisa Maragakis receives research funding from Clorox and Versa.
Dr. Susan Huang is conducting clinical trials and research studies in which participating
hospitals and nursing homes receive contributed product from Sage Products, Mölnlycke
Healthcare, 3M, and Clorox.

CDC Updates: Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion

Denise Cardo, MD
Director, Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion
National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Dr. Cardo provided an update on DHQP's direction and areas where HICPAC and its liaisons can provide advice and support. Over the past several years progress has been made in preventing healthcare-associated infections through the implementation CDC and HICPAC recommendations. However, more work needs to be done to increase adherence and implementation of the recommendations that are known to be effective.

Dr. Cardo also provided an overview of DHQP's data sources that provide information to target prevention and response efforts including information from outbreaks reported to CDC, the National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) and the Emerging Infections Program (EIP). These sources complement each other and add to understanding regarding what is happening, even to the unit or pathogen level, and to better promote prevention and work with partners.

Dr. Cardo also emphasized that DHQP's partnerships are critical for improving patient safety nationally. Over the years, DHQP has expanded not only the partners with which it works, but also the partners it supports through funding. The HICPAC liaisons represent many of DHQP's partner organizations that range from professional societies, healthcare organizations, accreditation organizations, public health associations, federal agencies involved in healthcare issues, and consumers. HICPAC liaisons are encouraged to share the activities that their organizations are undertaking for promoting healthcare-associated infection (HAI) issues, addressing barriers, and facilitating implementation. HICPAC liaison input during HICPAC meetings is critical not only for science, but also for working faster and better to protect patients.

At the same time, the division is expanding its role in supporting research. In addition to intramural research, the division's role in extramural research is expanding through the Safety and Healthcare Epidemiology Prevention Research Development (SHEPheRD) and the Prevention Epicenters, as well as other mechanisms. Two of the main goals of DHQP are to prevent infections and improve patient care. Dr. Cardo outlined several of DHQP's research topics include:

New interventions for better detection and prevention of infections and antibiotic
resistance (AR): The division's isolate bank has been made available to look for new
diagnostics or to test new treatments. The division is also considering how its data and
expertise can contribute to the development of new vaccines for HAIs.
The <u>role of the environment</u> in transmission of HAIs: The division is funding extramural
research and conducting intramural research in this area.
Microbiome: DHQP is partnering with several groups to better understand the
microbiome and how it may help with the prevention of infections and resistance.
Improving stewardship across healthcare not just by settings, but by funding research to
determine the best interventions and ways to look at data across healthcare.

- ☐ <u>Utilizing modeling</u> to understand the spread of pathogens: the division has embraced modeling, especially when randomized controlled trials (RCTs) cannot be conducted or when the field cannot wait for their results.
- Advanced microbiology tools, such as sequencing, work with modeling to understand dynamics, to better understand infections and resistance, and to focus prevention.

Dr. Cardo also highlighted several areas where DHQP has been expanding efforts including:

Medical Devices

Medical devices have been part of the division for some time, but as devices advance, the field of infection prevention and control is behind. Devices are becoming more complex and sometimes less invasive, but they rarely consider infection prevention and control. The field should not only conduct outbreak investigations, but also should be prepared for the future with strategies to participate in the development of the devices that do not have unintended adverse consequences to patients.

Environmental Infection Control

This area is sometimes related to medical devices, but non-device outbreaks can occur. For instance, Carbapenem-resistant *Enterobacteriaceae* (CRE) outbreaks have been linked to sinks or to biofilm found in plumbing. The field must move beyond patient-to-patient transmission and use all of the different available tools to create interventions.

Post-Acute Healthcare Settings

DHQP is more present in post-acute healthcare settings such as ambulatory centers and long-term care facilities. This requires different roles and levels of involvement, but the division is helping the field move forward.

Stewardship

Stewardship is a priority for HHS, and CDC is the lead agency for these federal activities with DHQP leading CDC's activities in this area. DHQP also serves as a connection for its federal partners and its partners in healthcare. It is time to consider stewardship with new paradigms and new expectations for making a difference. A new Office of Antibiotic Stewardship has assembled stewardship activities across the continuum of healthcare together within DHQP.

Sepsis

DHQP has become more involved in better diagnosing sepsis, recognizing early sepsis, and including sepsis as part of stewardship.

Preparedness and Response

This area is focused on Ebola, Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (MERS-CoV), and other emerging infections. DHQP supports state and local health departments as well as hospitals to create better connections.

This HICPAC meeting agenda addresses the above roles and activities. CDC counts on advice from HICPAC and the liaison representatives not only in creating recommendations, but also in setting directions for moving forward and for helping move the field forward. HICPAC also helps with implementation in the field to make positive changes.

Discussion Points

HICPAC commented on a recently-published study in the *New England Journal of Medicine* (*NEJM*) which was a randomized trial of outcomes associated with the placement of central venous lines in different locations. The study examined line insertion-related complications, thrombosis, and bloodstream infection. In some cases, the data showed competing risks. Depending upon where the line was inserted, one risk was higher than the other. This concept is important in thinking about risks associated with medical devices and from the standpoint of the bedside. Providers deal with initiatives related to central line-associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI), venous thromboembolism (VTE), and other concerns. Perhaps these initiatives can be integrated in a better way so that providers think more broadly about the risks associated with a central line rather than just about CLABSI prevention.

Dr. Cardo replied that this idea is critical. The focus should be on the patient and on the risks and benefits of everything that providers do, not only in the prevention of infections, but also in the prevention of other adverse consequences. Also, the unintended consequences of what CDC recommends should be considered. The initial approach to infection prevention and control utilized checklists, and increasing adherence made a difference. Now that work should take place in a manner that focuses on the patient. This focus should be applied in all categories, such as sepsis. Early recognition of sepsis can include blood cultures and reassessment of antibiotics. CDC's recommendations should be part of the process of care so that it will be easier for clinicians to do what is needed for a specific patient. Health systems are moving toward performing checklists by patient rather than device. This change is challenging, but without moving in that direction it will be difficult to make a difference. Even in stewardship, antibiotics should be considered based not only on a condition, but also on which antibiotic option should be administered first. The goal should not be decrease for the sake of decrease, but should take into account which antibiotics will cause the most harm to the patient. HICPAC's feedback will be necessary in making this change, as the guidelines are specific and should be put into a context of care.

HICPAC recognized that these issues are all important. The public reporting of events has made a positive impact in institutions to build interest and investment in programs. One element of the reporting that should be addressed is inadequate risk adjustment of reported data. Hospitals that are invested in reducing these events are struggling because they have momentum but are still penalized. In the success with reporting, this issue should not be forgotten. There is increasing frustration with events that are unique and concern about whether institutions have equivalent settings. There is exciting work occurring regarding risk adjustment of the measures, getting accurate data that can be used, and providing information about what is preventable.

Dr. Cardo agreed and said that this issue is ongoing. There was a past HICPAC working group that helped with definitions and metrics. It may be time to create a similar group. In some hospitals, patients are not getting cultures so that infections will not be reported. This practice is not good. It is important to consider the situation in its entirety, as there have been unintended consequences from CDC being assertive.

Regarding the medical devices issue, especially relating to scopes that are reprocessed and reused, Consumer's Union observed that the issue seems to center on cleaning. CDC should speak up about this issue and state that cleaning processes should be shown to work before a device is cleared to be on the market. The duodenoscope issues showed that after the fact when the manufacturers came in for reprocessing, the process did not clean out the bacteria.

Medical device laws will be reviewed in 2017, so it is a good time for CDC to speak up on the infection prevention side to ensure that they are safe.

Dr. Cardo said that one of the approaches is not only to provide strategies for personnel to clean better, but also to establish requirements for new devices. It is important to ensure manufacturers are responsible for guaranteeing that devices are compatible with cleaning and disinfection products.

FDA clarified that because it is a regulatory agency, details of the review process cannot be discussed. However, the review process does incorporate cleaning and reprocessing validation of all devices. The agency is actively reviewing progress with the manufacturers and with the validation testing that they submit to FDA before the device is cleared.

Dr. Cardo added that DHQP works closely with FDA colleagues, who share the desire to improve medical devices.

Healthcare Antimicrobial Stewardship

Lauri Hicks, DO
Director, Office of Antibiotic Stewardship
Medical Director, Get Smart: Know When Antibiotics Work
Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion
National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Dr. Hicks described efforts to improve antibiotic use in the community. CDC has worked in this area in the outpatient setting for a long time. The National Campaign for Appropriate Antibiotic Use in the Community was launched in 1995. In 2003, the program was renamed Get Smart: Know When Antibiotics Work. The new name coincided with a large media launch. The program's historical focus has been on acute respiratory tract infections (ARTIs), given that they are the conditions that lead to the most inappropriate antibiotic use in the community setting. The program is now considering other infections in dentistry and other areas that contribute to the overuse of antibiotics in the community setting.

	ogram aims to reduce the spread of antibiotic resistance by: Promoting provider adherence to appropriate prescribing guidelines Decreasing demand for antibiotics among healthy adults and parents of young children, which plays a major role in overuse of antibiotics in the outpatient setting because when providers perceive that a parent wants an antibiotic, they are more likely to prescribe it Increasing adherence to prescribed antibiotics
observ	as hosted Get Smart About Antibiotics Week annually since 2008. The goal of the ance is to increase the number of actively engaged program partners in the promotion of nart messages to target audiences. The target audiences include:
	The general public Providers Hospital administrators Global interest groups Policymakers

CDC works with a number of partners on the observance of Get Smart About Antibiotics Week, including government agencies, state and local health departments, and international partners such as the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). This year, the World Antibiotic Awareness Week, hosted by the World Health Organization (WHO), will coincide with Get Smart About Antibiotics Week, November 16-22, 2015.

CDC works with these partners on a number of issues beyond Get Smart About Antibiotics Week. One of the more successful and ongoing relationships has been with the Veterans Health Administration (VHA). They have been exploring appropriate antibiotic prescribing in outpatient clinics for some time. A recent published paper showed variability in prescribing across the VA outpatient clinics. Work has also taken place with the VA to implement clinical decision support to improve prescribing. Some of the implementation activities are being piloted in a number of VA clinics, with the goal of expanding across the VA healthcare system.

Professional societies have been important partners for many years. The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) released updated Principles for Judicious Prescribing in Pediatrics for ARTI in 2013. State and local health departments are being supported to develop and implement programs promoting appropriate antibiotic use in the community. Fifteen states were funded in 2015, but more than 30 states are participating in antimicrobial stewardship activities.

Corporate partnerships are an exciting element of antimicrobial stewardship. This year, Walmart issued a public service announcement (PSA) during Get Smart Week and beyond. The PSA reaches customers as they are in the checkout line at Walmart stores and will reach millions of individuals.

The program has also focused on measuring antibiotic use in the community. There are a number of resources for this measurement in the outpatient setting, including the following:

- □ CDC surveys, which help in the assessment of both the volume and appropriateness of antibiotic use:
 - ➤ The National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS)
 - ➤ The National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NHAMCS)
- ☐ The program has purchased proprietary data collected for pharmaceutical marketing, which has allowed for examination of antibiotic expenditures across the spectrum of healthcare and for study of population-based prescribing at the county and state levels based on the number of prescriptions filled
- Qualitative research has been part of the program since its beginning; changing practice in the outpatient setting requires that the messages resonate with the general public and providers
- ☐ Quality measure data (e.g., Healthcare Effectiveness and Information Set)
- ☐ Other data sources include claims datasets, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) surveys, and healthcare system data

A great deal of progress has been made in the first decade of appropriate antibiotic use activities in the community. Data on antibiotic prescriptions resulting from doctor visits was collected for five conditions: Ear Infections, Colds, Bronchitis, Sore Throats, and Sinusitis. Assessing appropriateness can be difficult, but because antibiotics are never indicated for conditions such as colds or bronchitis, the percent of people who receive an antibiotic during a visit for those infections should be zero. Antibiotics are still being prescribed for those

conditions, but there have been incremental improvements in each of the five conditions of interest.

Antibiotic selection is an important aspect of stewardship. There is a great deal of macrolide and fluoroquinolone use for upper respiratory conditions. The most commonly prescribed antibiotic for bronchitis, which is not needed at all, is a macrolide. The most commonly prescribed antibiotic in the US is azithromycin. The indications for that drug are very limited.

Antimicrobial use should be considered across the spectrum of healthcare. Infections and antibiotic-resistant infections are a major concern in acute care as well as long-term care settings, and they are emerging increasingly in the outpatient setting. The majority of costs per year for antibiotics are in the outpatient setting: \$6.5 billion of the total \$10 billion that was spend on antibiotics in 2009 was spent in the outpatient setting. This spending does not represent use. Antibiotics in the outpatient setting are quite inexpensive. The outpatient setting represents approximately 80% of the total antibiotic use, but all settings are important. The bulk of the AR problems are in acute and long-term care settings.

The proprietary IMS Health data have been powerful in helping the program understand the national-level burden and volume of antibiotic use. In 2011, 842 prescriptions were written per 1000 persons in the community setting. Five out of every six people in the US receive an antibiotic every year. Not surprisingly, there is more use in the younger and in the older age groups.

The same data from 2011 allowed for the study of state prescribing rates. Kentucky has the highest prescribing rate in the country, with 1281 prescriptions written per 1000 persons. Alaska has the lowest prescribing rate, with 348 prescriptions written per 1000 persons. This variability in prescribing across the US needs to be understood, particularly given the uniform prescribing guidelines that are available. Based on preliminary analyses of conditions for which antibiotics are not indicated, there is more prescribing for those conditions in the areas with the highest prescribing rates. More needs to be understood about the other factors involved.

The program engages in policy activities, including quality measures and national goals. The Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) allows for analysis of provider-level prescribing for three measures of quality pertaining to antimicrobial use. It is not possible to use the data to learn about individual providers' prescribing practices, but it is possible to utilize health plan data. Employers also use these data to assess quality measures of the health plans. There is variability in performance on these measures across health plans. There may be opportunities to work with high-performing plans to learn lessons and to target low-performing plans. CDC is collaborating with Pew Charitable Trusts and an expert panel to establish national targets for reducing inappropriate antibiotic use. This initiative will be important for the agency, as the field is asking for a goal in this area.

A number of lessons have been learned in two decades of activities in appropriate antibiotic use, including the following:

П	Start with measurement of antibiotic use and research. Data are needed for action.
ш	Tailor messages to specific target audiences. Patients as well as providers are targeted
	because of the role that patients play in this problem by putting pressure on healthcare
	providers to prescribe.
	Develop a partnership network and leverage support through effective partnerships.

Support local-level intervention programs, such as programs with state health
departments, the VA, and other health systems.
Develop national policies that will facilitate implementation.
Changing behavior and culture takes time and perseverance, as well as work with a
variety of different partners.

Discussion Points

HICPAC observed that according to the map, states where antibiotics are overprescribed are also states where opiates and proton-pump inhibitors (PPIs) are overprescribed. The problem is likely to be larger than antibiotics, and it should be determined why providers in these states prescribe more medications.

Dr. Hicks pointed out that the maps depicting problems with overprescribing other drugs look the same as the antibiotic over-prescription map. They also look the same as the obesity map. There has been discussion regarding whether this overlap represents a causal relationship between the overuse of antibiotics in those areas, or whether the obesity problem is leading to a need for more antibiotic use.

HICPAC wondered about issues related to states with large rural areas and limited access to care. The more populated areas in these states may have the same high rates as other, more populated states.

Dr. Hicks said that the program has conducted an analysis of urban versus rural environments. The analysis did not identify differences between the urban and rural areas, but more needs to be done to examine that question more closely.

The literature about antibiotics refers to side effects. The relationship between the microbiome and obesity may be powerful, if antibiotics increase the risk of obesity.

Dr. Hicks said that the program is discussing this issue. Their first step is to focus on adverse events, particularly regarding *Clostridium difficile* (*C. diff.*). If there is an impression that antibiotics are linked to weight gain in children and adults, it will serve as an incentive to avoid them when they are not necessary. The program should consider how to incorporate the microbiome messages into the larger program.

The National Institutes of Health (NIH) seconded that idea and encouraged the pursuit of aspects of the microbiome. The map provides a significant epidemiological opportunity to work with microbiome partners to learn something at the macro level.

Regarding the bar graph that analyzes by age group, the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine (ACOEM) offered the interpretation that the more people interact with doctors, the more antibiotics they are prescribed. If the data are analyzed using a population denominator versus physician visit denominator, do all states track together? The conclusion of this analysis could guide where interventions are directed and whether interventions should only be done with physicians or with the general population as well.

Dr. Hicks added that females receive antibiotics much more frequently than males, likely because females have more interaction with the healthcare system, particularly during childbearing years. These data can help the program understand the audiences who should be

targeted. There is also discussion regarding how to prevent unnecessary visits in the first place. When a patient visits a provider, the provider assumes that the patient wants something.

HICPAC was curious to see how the data change as care models move toward electronic visits and asynchronous care. Prescribing practices may look different when patients interact with providers via Face Time or other technologies.

Dr. Hicks replied that the program is talking to Kaiser Permanente about the work that they have done in this area. Kaiser has a call center that allows patients and parents to call in. The staff at the call center work through an algorithm to determine whether callers need to seek care. There are concerns that telemedicine could potentially lead to a situation in which providers are prescribing without actually examining the patient. When a patient or parent can be guided regarding when to seek care, it may be possible to reduce inappropriate antibiotic use.

The overlap of opioid and antibiotic use is important to consider in efforts to educate the public. There are commercials airing on television for opioid-induced constipation medicine. Opioid use is becoming mainstream. HICPAC wondered about PSAs or other means for reaching audiences who are seeing commercials for these drugs.

Dr. Hicks said that the program works with a variety of partners that can help counteract that kind of messaging. Unfortunately, it is expensive to air PSAs on network television. It is important for CDC to be proactive in making sure the correct messages are being shared. Walmart is reaching an incredible amount of people with the PSA in their stores. In another example, a state worked with the airlines to play a PSA about appropriate antibiotic use as planes depart.

The Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists (CSTE) said that at the state level, Tennessee is working with substance abuse staff to understand how closely opioid prescribing is related to antimicrobial usage and the geography of that relationship. The Get Smart program could work with the substance abuse elements of CDC to find synergies in understanding the underlying culture behind use. There may also be opportunities to collaborate in messaging.

Dr. Hicks replied that the opioid problem is public and well-recognized at the moment. CDC started working on the problem of opioid overprescribing and access relatively recently. The groups working on opioids at CDC have come to the Get Smart program for lessons learned from its work since the late 1990s and early 2000s to apply to their program and campaign activities. Even though the groups work in different areas, they should work together.

Consumer's Union commented that the pharmaceutical data are granular enough to identify the healthcare providers who are overprescribing. It makes sense to target populations, but it makes more sense to target the individuals who are overprescribing and to understand why it is happening, as well as the situations in which it is happening. Sometimes public disclosure is the most effective means for affecting change as it puts providers who are inappropriate prescribers in the public eye. It is a delicate area, but after decades of dealing with this problem, it is time to stop procrastinating and determine what/where the problems are and address them.

Dr. Hicks said that the program would like to go in that direction, but it is difficult. Other partners are able to assess individual provider practices and target them for education. The partners are also able to identify outliers. Kaiser has been making that information somewhat more public by having the poor performers, the outliers who are not prescribing appropriately, meet with the high performers. She has talked with colleagues at the VA about the possibility of using a model similar to this one in that system.

The VA is a good place to pilot such an initiative. The VA further said that if a patient sees a provider and has been sick for two weeks, he or she wants to get better. If they do not receive antibiotics, what are they getting? The current trend is to prescribe an opioid and steroids, both of which also have consequences.

HICPAC said that as providers are analyzed, care models and practice structures should also be analyzed. Which providers are in medical homes, and how much does prescribing replace high-touch interaction with patients in a different model?

Dr. Hicks said that there has been discussion regarding how behavioral interventions can make a difference in terms of patient-provider interaction. CDC needs to provide better tools for providers and the right tools for patients to facilitate that appropriate interaction. Providers overestimate the frequency with which patients want an antibiotic.

Antibiotic Use Data Update

CAPT Arjun Srinivasan, MD Associate Director for Healthcare Associated Infection Prevention Programs

Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion

National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Dr. Srinivasan updated HICPAC on measures. The Standardized Antibiotic Administration Ratio (SAAR) has moved forward with the National Quality Forum (NQF). There was a public comment period. DHQP responded to the comments, which were generally positive and had a theme that the SAAR is important and needed. There were comments about the types of risk adjustment that need to be made and calls for more data on which to base the risk assessment.

DHQP has been working in partnership with Pew in a group focused on measurement and national goal-setting. During the group's most recent meeting in September 2015, they spent a great deal of time talking with different health systems that report data into the antibiotic use (AU) option of NHSN. They have received their SAAR calculations and are providing input on the data. The discussion was eye-opening, as they allowed the group to see the data and spend time thinking about how they might act on it. Both healthcare systems agreed that the data point them to items that are actionable. The systems had feedback about different ways to display the volume of data. The systems had employed various graphical systems for displaying the data. DHQP will continue to work with them. It is hoped that the SAAR will be part of the NHSN module soon. The goal is that facilities will be capable of calculating their SAARs in early 2016.

One of the healthcare systems was engaged in a performance improvement project on antibiotic stewardship while data were being collected using the SAAR measure. There were indications that hospitals have implemented good activities related to stewardship and have been active in trying to improve antibiotic use saw their SAAR measures decrease. It is important that the SAAR measure is sensitive to improvement.

DHQP is working on the annual facility survey for NHSN. It now includes questions on antibiotic stewardship programs. The data are available on the state level, with the percentage of hospitals in each state that report having an antibiotic stewardship program that incorporates all seven of the CDC Core Elements for Hospital Antibiotic Stewardship Programs.

There is variability in the map, but it provides data for action. California is predominating with 58% of hospitals reporting having a complete stewardship program. The data show high performers and low performers, and where efforts may be targeted. The data come at an important time as states move toward taking more active roles in preventing AR. Antibiotic stewardship is a large part of that effort, and states can use the data to work with hospitals to improve compliance with stewardship programs.

CDC's Core Elements for Antibiotic Stewardship Programs lay out high-level infrastructure and activities that have been associated with successful stewardship programs. Hospitals have provided feedback that they generally like the core elements, but they are challenged regarding how to implement them and what the elements might be in their individual facilities. Hospitals want to know the ways in which the elements can be implemented, and which ways are good, better, or best. They also want to know about barriers to implementation and how facilities overcome them.

DHQP is trying to provide more substance to the guidance. One of the approaches is through the National Quality Partnership, part of the NQF. The National Quality Partnership has assembled an Action Team for Antibiotic Stewardship that draws from the large and broad membership of the NQF, which represents the spectrum of different stakeholders in healthcare. They support the idea of developing a "playbook" for antibiotic stewardship. NQF had a similar activity focused on reducing early elective deliveries, which is a parallel problem to antibiotic overuse—there is too much of it, and there is guidance on how to make it happen less, but it is not supposed to be zero. The playbook for early elective deliveries was intended to be guidance for hospitals to talk about the different interventions that have been successful in reducing early elective deliveries, what implementation of those interventions looks like in a variety of healthcare settings, and the barriers that people encountered in implementing the interventions and how they overcame them.

The antibiotic stewardship playbook will be built upon the CDC Core Elements. It will help hospitals implement stewardship programs and provide examples. It can also serve as a model to inform survey and accreditation organizations. There is interest from regulatory and accrediting groups in thinking about requirements for antibiotic stewardship, so there will have to be a sense of what it looks like. The playbook can conform that education to groups that accredit hospitals. The Joint Commission has expressed interest in the playbook as well.

DHQP is partnering with health departments to advance stewardship. The division has provided funding to a number of states to start integrated antibiotic stewardship programs. They are working to help health departments, as this activity is new for some of them. There have been discussions regarding developing a technical package with information about what has been successful in health departments in improving antibiotic use and reducing antibiotic resistance.

The division has also been active in long-term care settings. In September 2015, the division released the Core Elements of Antibiotic Stewardship for Nursing Homes. They are similar to the core elements for hospital antibiotic stewardship programs. Experts in the area felt that while the elements are the same, their implementation is very different in a nursing home than in a hospital. The launch of the nursing home elements included checklists, appendices with implementation and measurement suggestions, fact sheets, and an infographic.

The engagement of nurses in antibiotic stewardship in hospitals has been discussed by HICPAC before. Thanks to some HICPAC members and liaison representatives, DHQP has connected with several nursing organizations. The division hopes to assemble a group of nurses to provide advice on the role that they can play in antibiotic stewardship. The American Nurses Association (ANA) has put out a call for nurses who are active in acute care hospitals who are interested in stewardship. Already, 50 people have responded to the call.

DHQP invited HICPAC's thoughts and guidance regarding how to improve guidelines for treatment of infections so that they consider stewardship more thoroughly than they do now.

Dr. Hicks said that their deliberations so far have focused on how guidelines inform many of their stewardship activities and interventions. In order to generate a solid set of recommendations, it is important to think about how guidelines for treatment of infections are developed and how those guidelines should incorporate elements of antimicrobial stewardship.

Guidelines establish standards of care, help identify where quality improvement is needed, and improve patient outcomes. Get Smart has helped develop clinical practice guidelines, primarily in collaboration with professional medical societies. Historically, the emphasis has been on respiratory infections because those are the areas that experience the most inappropriate antibiotic use. The program has developed guidelines for both adult and pediatric patients. There are challenges, as many guidelines are developed without consideration for their impact on the treatment of other infections.

The program has worked with AAP, which has taken leadership in this area. AAP developed guidelines related to the treatment of acute otitis media and were one of the first organizations to consider how antibiotics are prescribed and to incorporate principles of antimicrobial stewardship in their guidelines. The acute otitis media guidelines include the concept of watchful waiting for mild cases of ear infection. Get Smart worked with AAP on the document entitled "Principles of Judicious Antibiotic Prescribing for Upper Respiratory Tract Infections in

Pediatrics." This document applied principles of antibiotic stewardship to the existing guidelines. Every guideline could engage in a similar exercise.

Not only are there problems associated with antibiotic overuse for conditions that do not warrant them, but also there are problems associated with ordering tests that are not necessarily indicated or may have issues with interpretation if they are not ordered in the right circumstances. One of the most important elements of the diagnosis of acute pharyngitis and the determination of whether a patient has group A streptococcal (GAS) pharyngitis is to ensure the test is ordered at the right time. A test performed on a person who does not meet the criteria may yield a positive result in a person who does not have GAS.

Another component of this work is weighing the benefits versus the harms of antibiotics. It is important to think about the potential adverse events or consequences when antibiotics are used when they are not needed, or when there is little to no benefit. Providers should think about how to implement judicious prescribing practices. If an antibiotic is indicated, then options should be considered to decrease the total volume of antibiotic use to which that patient is exposed. Some organizations are thinking about these issues, but in many situations, the incorporation of stewardship recommendations or considerations would help positively impact and contribute to antibiotic treatment across the full spectrum, not just focusing on one illness or infections.

Discussion Points

CSTE asked when the playbook and technical guidance for state health departments will be available. Dr. Srinivasan hoped that the playbook would be on a rapid production schedule, perhaps in a six-month timeframe, if realistic. The first meeting will be held in December 2015. Many groups will be involved, so the process may move more slowly, but the product will be better for having the involvement of many groups. CDC has emphasized the need to work rapidly. Regarding the technical package, they are working with the Public Health Foundation to move forward as fast as possible.

CSTE suggested making parts of the playbook available as soon as possible. For example, providing guidance or examples in leadership in portions will be helpful.

HICPAC asked about collaboration with Choose Wisely in Canada. That group is more broadly focused than just antibiotics, but has similar resources and has developed collaborations with professional organizations.

Dr. Srinivasan answered that the program has worked a great deal with Choosing Wisely, both in visits and through professional societies. A number of Choosing Wisely recommendations are related to antibiotic use, antibiotic stewardship, and HAIs. SHEA recently submitted five items to Choosing Wisely related to the inpatient elements of stewardship. Previously, Choosing Wisely was more focused on outpatient conditions. The theme of limiting overuse resonates.

IDSA observed that this work is important. As the notion of incorporating stewardship language into guidelines progresses, CDC is encouraged to think broadly. There are many more professional societies than are represented as liaisons on HICPAC. Involvement from different procedural specialties will broaden the audience for the materials so that messages come from more than usual groups. It is encouraging that the playbook will include "good, better, and best" examples. There is tension in stewardship programs because leadership often depends upon availability. The core document highlights the role and opportunity of hospitalists who demonstrate success in performance improvement, but the "good, better, best" approach offers the opportunity to indicate that "best" is leadership from an infectious disease (ID)-trained, experienced professional who is already demonstrating performance improvement. Other individuals are suitable as well if such an individual is not yet available.

Dr. Srinivasan acknowledged that it is unrealistic to say that leadership has to come from an ID doctor, because they are not available in large percentages of healthcare settings. This issue relates to the ID community demonstrating its value. When a hospital's administration considers starting a stewardship program, the first thought should be to have an ID-trained doctor, although some experts in ID may not want the ID practice to lead stewardship efforts. IDSA takes stewardship education seriously and is making it part of the core training for ID. Discussions have begun with the playbook team regarding how to incorporate language about ID training.

IDSA said that the playbook is an opportunity to recognize the practicality of what is available now, and also to set an aspirational vision. In many aspects of medicine or clinical care, the singular qualification to take on a specialized task is availability. The industry can be driven in the right direction by encouraging leadership from people who have been trained in ID and have demonstrated how to use it effectively.

Dr. Srinivasan said the types of models can be expanded. For example, there are ID practices that do this work remotely. Alternative delivery models may be helpful for this specific expertise. This work does not dictate prescriptions for individual patients; rather, the work focuses on establishing a system. Much can be done to bring expertise to bear and to emphasize that there is a group of professionals with specific training that will be helpful.

HICPAC supported the three principles. The more concrete tools that can be provided to the many professional societies to include antibiotic stewardship principles in their guidelines and recommendations at a granular level, the better. A proactive approach may be to reach out to the professional societies and to provide them with those tools and principles. The societies can

be asked for commitment from their guideline committees to utilize the principles and to provide feedback. In addition to guidelines, it may be useful to work with groups that create quality metrics. Quality metrics may be released for sepsis or community-acquired pneumonia that could have unintended consequences of excessive antibiotic usage.

Dr. Cardo asked whether HICPAC should consider drafting a guidance document to help professional organizations when they are creating treatment guidelines. She asked the liaisons how their organizations approach stewardship in their guidelines. HICPAC and the liaisons can have significant impact in driving guidance development.

HICPAC was encouraged that the Get Smart program is now incorporated into DHQP. It is hoped that the state-level efforts will be stronger because of new collaboration opportunities with the consolidation. Regarding the California data, the state law requiring hospitals to have stewardship programs was passed in the fall of 2014. The programs had to be in place by July 1, 2015. The state law does not align exactly with the seven CDC core elements. It is important for the message to be shared that hospitals in California will be measured against the CDC elements, regardless of what is in the state law.

HICPAC was pleased to hear about the involvement of nursing groups. Hospitals are asking for a checklist or algorithm to accompany guidelines to make it easier to have quality improvement teams with people who may not have all of the clinical expertise but who can find basic areas on which to focus, such as the two or three antibiotics with the highest inappropriate use. Any formal guidance that HICPAC can provide regarding the elements that are needed for the guidance would be helpful so that the professional associations can take it upon themselves to develop guidance based on published documents.

HICPAC emphasized that the testing aspect of stewardship is important. The American Society for Microbiology (ASM) or the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) could be useful groups. For example, there is no guidance or standard regarding a positive urinalysis (UA) to drive a culture.

CSTE said that it is important that all groups speak with a common message from the same playbook. The Joint Commission Speak Up™ patient safety program states that antibiotics may be indicated for bronchitis. Mixed messages can be difficult to manage. Australia has strong antimicrobial stewardship guidelines, and all treatment guidelines have antimicrobial stewardship principles incorporated into them. The guidelines form the clinical decision support system and are used as the gold standard for appropriateness of antimicrobial use. The US does not have an equivalent. There may be a possibility of condensing the available research into a resource for what clinicians need to know, formatted with the three principles in mind. The resource could provide additional guidance regarding second-line or third-line antibiotics if regional prevalence of AMR is above a certain percentage. It would not be "one size fits all," but would take into account the different resistant patterns in a hospital or community. The Australian guidelines are endorsed by all professional societies. It would be difficult to create such a resource, but it would be ideal.

Dr. Hicks said that the program would like to move toward such a final product. The support of different professional societies will be needed for that approach.

SHEA and ISDA collaborated with other societies on the development of new guidelines on the implementation of antibiotic stewardship. The guidelines are likely to be well-received because of the number of societies that participated in the process. Other professional societies should be encouraged not only to offer guidance, but also to involve other groups in the development process to secure broad buy-in.

Dr. Diekema asked the HICPAC liaison members representing societies to raise their hands if their societies are promulgating antimicrobial use or treatment guidance. Three organizations indicated that they were in that process.

The Association of State and Territorial Health Officials (ASTHO) expressed concern about the percent of hospitals reporting that they have implemented the core elements. The core elements are subjective enough that there is likely to be a wide range of what is meant when hospitals say that they are implementing them. This area needs more scrutiny.

Dr. Srinivasan agreed. The program is addressing the issue in a number of ways. The questions on the survey are worded such that they are not checking a box. There are seven elements, but the survey has 15 or 16 questions that address whether a hospital is active related to the elements. The program is engaged in validation as well, as experts in stewardship are assessing the answers. The few places where validation has been conducted have had good correlation between the answers on the survey and the reality of practice, both for hospitals who said they had the elements and for hospitals who said they did not. More validation needs to be done.

Dr. Cardo said that the data are not perfect, but they are useful for knowing not just who has the seven elements, but who does not, and the common elements that hospitals do not have. This information allows the program to be more proactive. If hospitals do not have certain elements because of a lack of training and education, then CDC and professional organizations can be proactive to address that gap. If a hospital does not have feedback to clinicians, it may not have good data. The surveys are a starting point for improving stewardship programs.

Dr. Michael Bell (Deputy Director, DHQP) agreed that the survey has low bars and was struck by the number of facilities that have still not managed to achieve them. There is a great deal of work to do to reach the targets. Parallel to that work is the recognition that validation and precision are also necessary.

Consumer's Union has been calling for accountable antibiotic stewardship programs. There is concern that hospitals say that they have these programs but they are not measuring the progress. An accountable stewardship program would participate in reporting antibiotic use and AR infections to see if there are changes in those numbers.

Dr. Diekema emphasized the importance of the planned work on risk adjustment for the new SAAR metric. Many hospitals are concerned about any new metric, because they may eventually be used punitively against them. Overall, however, the effort is a positive one. There is work for HICPAC in playing a role in providing a product related to guidance for guideline development that related to antimicrobial utilization. There are examples of frameworks available.

Nontuberculous Mycobacterium Infections Associated with Heater-Cooler Devices

Joseph Perz, DrPH, MA
Leader, Quality Standards and Safety Team
Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion
National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Michael Bell, MD
Deputy Director
Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion
National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Dr. Perz reviewed points about Nontuberculous Mycobacterium (NTM) and infections associated with heater-cooler devices.

NTM are relatively slow-growing bacteria clinically in terms of how long it takes infections to develop as well as in terms of culturing, analytics, and diagnostics. The organisms are ubiquitous in the environment and are opportunistic. As such, transmission is often recognized in the healthcare setting. The healthcare setting presents a combination of one or more of the following:

The presence of immunocompromised patients
Breaches in normal host defenses, such as incisions, injections, and vascular access
Novel exposure pathways, often involving water.

The October 23, 2015 *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR)* reported an investigation of eye infections of *Mycobacterium chelonae*. Four patients acquired infection after laser-assisted in situ keratomileusis (LASIK) surgery in an ambulatory surgery center (ASC). The source was identified as a misting humidifier that was contaminated with the same organism. There was a pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) match between patients and the humidifier isolate. The clinic's purchase of the consumer-grade humidifier was motivated by the need to maintain a specific level of humidity for the laser device. The clinic was not aware of the American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) and HICPAC standards indicating that use of a stand-alone humidifier in this manner is not advised. Given that this event occurred at an ASC, there may be opportunities to work with colleagues at CMS and accrediting organizations to check for lapses such as this one. If LASIK procedures occur in a non-certified setting, the work will be more challenging. CDC is preparing outreach to the user community in the coming weeks.

An outbreak of invasive *Mycobacterium* (*M*) *chimaera* infection following open-heart surgery patients was reported in the July 2015 issue of *Clinical Infectious Diseases* (*CID*). Investigators in a Swiss hospital identified six cases of invasive *M. chimaera* in patients who had received implants as part of their open-heart cardiac procedures. The investigation focused on possible water sources, since the outbreak was of an NTM infection.

Particular focus was on the heater-cooler unit. These units are used with heart-lung machines, oxygenators, and cardioplegia devices. They are approximately 30 inches tall and have up to three circuits that provide temperature-regulated water to either the oxygenator, a blanket that is used to regulate a patient's temperature, or to the cardioplegia solution or device. All of the circuits are closed and do not contact the patient directly. In all three cases, they contact another device. The Swiss investigators identified *M. chimaera* in the internal heater-cooler water circuits on the device and in air samples that were obtained when the device was running. The air samples were negative when the device was not running.

Two fans are present in the heater-cooler. This design is typical for this class of device. One fan cools the device's internal components, and another, larger fan draws air into the machine. While the water circuits are self-contained, the possibility of water escaping the circuits should be considered, particularly given that the device has an overflow bottle in front of the grill where air passes.

The investigation began in 2012 after the first two patients were recognized with the unusual NTM species. Prospective surveillance identified four more patients, two who became evident in early 2013 and two more in early 2014. The investigation considered the heater-cooler unit as a potential source of the pathogen. The hospital decided to replace their machines. Within a few months of the installation of the factory new units, they were also growing *M. chimaera* from the tank water, despite careful attention to the maintenance and disinfection of the units.

FDA posted a recall notice from Sorin, the manufacturer of the unit from the Swiss outbreak, in July 2015. In June 2015, Sorin USA had issued a field safety unit. The FDA recall acknowledged the receipt of evidence that while water is not intended to contact the patient directly, there is potential for aerosolization and subsequent exposure of the surgical site. The recall did not replace the units; rather, it called for replacement of the instructions for use, including cleaning and disinfection.

On July 20, 2015, the Pennsylvania Department of Health was notified by a hospital of a cluster of NTM infections among cardiac surgery patients. The hospital became aware of the heater-cooler reports and realized that several patients that had previously undergone cardiac surgery at the hospital had infections that were only identified at the *M. avium* complex (MAC) level. That complex includes *M. chimaera*. The investigation included CDC and the Pennsylvania Department of Health, with full cooperation by the facility. Because of the previous association and the realization that the heater-cooler units might be a factor in the outbreak, they were replaced immediately upon identification of the cluster and consultation with the department of health.

Ultimately, the investigation identified eight cases of invasive NTM. Three cases were identified as *M. chimaera* and the rest were at the MAC level. Those patient specimens were no longer available. There is a long latency period of the infection. The time between surgery and the infection diagnosis in the *CID* report was over three years for several patients. A similar trajectory was observed in the Pennsylvania investigation, which experienced a multi-year delay between the presumptive exposure and diagnosis. The development of symptoms was not necessarily on a similar delay.

Preliminary epidemiologic and laboratory findings point to the heater-cooler unit as the source of the NTM. The investigation is ongoing and is led by the Pennsylvania Department of Health. *M.*

chimaera was recovered from the heater-cooler units that were removed from service. Work is ongoing to analyze the PFGE patterns among patient isolates and isolates from the devices.

The investigation is public. Even with preliminary results, there was a sense of urgency that the findings were important to share, especially with the patients. The Pennsylvania Department of Health has communicated about the issue, and the hospital has conducted strong communication work with patients and medical professionals, recognizing the importance of encouraging clinicians to think of NTMs in these situations. FDA has also communicated on this issue, posting a safety alert on October 15, 2015. The alert is not specific to one manufacturer. Based on reports that FDA has received and on ongoing investigations, there is reason for concern about the class of devices in general. The recommendations from FDA include the following:

Adhere to the current manufacturer instructions, being cognizant of recent recalls that
updated the instructions
Utilize sterile or filtered water; however, different manufacturers have different advice
regarding whether sterile water is compatible with the device
Direct the exhaust from the device away from the sterile field
Remove units that show signs of contamination
Engage in MedWatch reporting of infections that might be associated with these devices
and of concerns about the device instructions or presence of contamination

Sorin has recommended locating the unit physically farther away from the sterile field. The positioning of the unit is limited because of the length of the available tubing and performance characteristics of the device.

CDC has also engaged in outreach on this issue. The healthcare community receives many useful notices regarding recalls and alerts from FDA, but this case represents more than a hypothetical risk: there are real infections present and evidence of occurrence in the US. CDC's aim has been to amplify the FDA alert to reach a broader swath of targets, including public health departments; hospitals; clinicians; and patients.

Dr. Bell said that learning of an event such as this outbreak presents an opportunity to ensure that no one else is exposed. Additionally, the event raises questions regarding what to do about the people who have been exposed. The denominator is substantial. The number of procedures performed using these devices that are essential for lifesaving surgeries is high. Many procedures using these devices occur without negative outcomes. Detection of this cluster is due to clinicians' awareness and thoughtfulness. This situation is not a massive crisis, but it is an indication that much is undetected in the patient care environment.

The response to this outbreak is an effective example of a state health department and a facility reacting appropriately and getting appropriate partners involved quickly. Taking the affected machines out of circulation immediately was a good strategy. There is not a straightforward answer regarding how to move forward with these machines

Outreach to potentially involved patients and others has taken place in a short amount of time. These efforts began with the usual groups of healthcare epidemiologists and infection control colleagues to ensure that there is awareness of the issue throughout the hospital. There is also an immediate need to talk to individuals who manage operating theaters to make them aware of the situation. Materials management and the hierarchy of facilities management are also involved. Groups that have experience in what happens in an operating theater, such as the Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN) and profusionist groups have been involved. Outreach has also taken place with other clinical colleagues. The devices are used not only for heart surgeries, but also in other procedures such as liver transplants. This indolent infection presents with non-specificity. It can present as a suppurative surgical wound, or it can also be a deeper infection with non-specific symptoms such as fever and failure to thrive. There are significant in correct diagnosis. Outreach can mitigate the delays, as clinicians with patients who might have been exposed are thinking about NTM as a possibility.

CDC also convened professional groups of individuals who care for NTM-type patients to ask whether there are simple and effective measures to offer patients who might have been exposed. The short answer is that there are not, partly because antimicrobial choices change dramatically based on the species. Additionally, if the infection is recognized appropriately, the treatment is generally manageable and successful. The benefit of post-exposure prophylaxis is therefore unproven and may have adverse consequences (including antibiotic resistance emergence).

The heater-cooler unit appears to be harmless from an infection perspective, but the water overflow bottle is likely rarely, if ever, sanitized and is situated in front of a fan. Nothing that blows air should be in an operating theater, if possible. That risk assessment approach is not built into these devices. The Swiss facility moved the machine outside the operating theater on the other side of a wall. There are concerns about trip hazards from longer tubes and less effective operation because of the dissipation of heat, but it is important not to blow air in the operating theater. In looking inside the machine, it is clear that a reservoir of warm water in a steel container in a chilled operating theater will have condensation that will drip. The insulation layered inside the machine is a non-cleanable foam. The situation is perfect for growing all manner of organisms, not just NTMs. NTMs happen to be durable and noticeable enough to be identified as a surgical case cluster, but there could be other organisms as well. There could be protection for patients from perioperative prophylaxis, which could mask the other organisms.

This experience regarding devices raises the questions: What are the unintended infectious disease risks related to devices in surgical settings? How cleanable are the devices?

The cleaning and maintenance instructions for the heater-cooler unit focused on the basin and the tube of circulating water. These elements are not likely to be the primary culprit for the organism growth. It is more likely that other factors contribute to the problem. The opening for refilling the reservoir is approximately two inches in diameter, leading to the likelihood that water is likely to spill over the edges. There is non-cleanable insulation within the device. The large cooling fan at the base of the device and louvers on the side of the machine contribute to chaotic dispersal of potentially contaminated air.

More infections have not been observed, probably due to good practices within operating theaters, such as air exchanges. The devices are not likely to be pointed directly toward the operative site. There may be concerns associated with the smaller cooling fan that blows air out of the device because it is closer to tables that may hold sterile equipment.

A systematic review of practices should be engineered to determine these issues. Currently, such a review is not part of anyone's job responsibilities. Materials management follows the manufacturer's instructions for cleaning. The operating room staff, surgeons, and infection control personnel do not perform this kind of risk assessment. It is likely that another device will be discovered to be problematic. Consideration must be given to what must be done in advance for the next series of devices. Also important to contemplate is how industry should be informed about expectations as devices are being designed, not from a regulatory perspective, but from a microbiologic, patient safety perspective. An approach that provides design considerations for patient safety may merge well with the regulatory aspects of medical device development.

Discussion Points

Dr. Cardo thanked Dr. Diekema and Dr. Yokoe for their rapid response in helping to identify experts to address questions regarding prophylaxis. She thanked the HICPAC liaison representatives who were also responsive to the calls to expand the partners who have contributed to this work.

Dr. Bell added that the American Hospital Association (AHA) helped CDC make connections. Laboratory staff from CDC visited the hospital sites and were able to collect samples to make a direct connection between the devices and the infections in patients.

Regarding the recommendation on using sterile water, HICPAC asked about consideration of treating the water with chlorine or otherwise.

Dr. Perz replied that the topic of treating water is challenging due to the potential for corrosive effects and various incompatibilities. FDA is working with manufacturers to bring more clarity to the question. The current, generic recommendation is to place a .22 micron filter on the water source that is used to fill the unit.

Dr. Bell was skeptical about sterilizing the water as a solution to the problem. Sterile water may go into the basin, but the basin is open to the environment and there is persistent wetness within the circuit, so there will be organisms. Sterilization will also not answer the question of condensate pooling in the device. The problem centers on maintenance of the device and

cleaning it between uses. However, the device is not designed to be cleaned in the areas that it needs to be.

HICPAC thanked CDC for the communication of October 27, 2015. As more information is gathered, it might be possible to be more specific about the recommendations for evaluating patients who might have an infection. The window period is long, and the potential manifestations of illness are wide-ranging. More specific guidance would be helpful for identifying additional cases.

HICPAC asked about the possibility of putting a filter on the outside of the fan so that the air is filtered and not expelled strongly into the air in the operating room.

Dr. Bell indicated that the manufacturers could answer that question. He hoped that there would not be makeshift solutions to devices around the US. If improvised solutions reduce the efficiency of the device, there will be unintended consequences. Putting the entire unit in a sealed box with a separate exhaust management system is a post hoc solution that has been used in Europe.

The VA expressed concern that this issue may be a small component of the larger problem of hospitals, hotels, and other facilities adding supplemental chlorine to water. As chlorine is added, the less virulent organisms are killed off, and the NTMs are more resistant. The total number of organisms may well be rising. Infections with NTMs are increasing, particularly regionally. After the clusters of Legionella in the US, many people are chlorinating their water, including in Pennsylvania. The thought that the NTM outbreaks associated with devices may be a sentinel event is worrisome.

Dr. Perz welcomed that point and noted that it seems that CDC is conducting more NTM investigations generally. In addition to the example of the ASC, CDC has been assisting a state with an investigation in a dental setting. It is important to think about water and both direct and indirect pathways. The variation among how municipal water is treated and how hospitals may be doing supplemental treatment is worth more attention.

There are many overlaps between this issue and the issue of contaminated duodenoscopes. Both issues reflect design problems with the medical devices on which the field has become so reliant. Practice changes are "Band-Aids." The primary concern is the design of the equipment. The resolution will require redesign. There should be strategies for pushing those redesigning priorities forward. Depending upon strategies such as noticing when equipment is contaminated is a suboptimal approach.

Dr. Cardo hoped to hear more from HICPAC on this question. DHQP hopes to identify the problems with medical devices, which are often designed creatively but without consideration of infection risk and cleaning. Similar issues have emerged in environmental infection control. It would be helpful for HICPAC to think of strategies and approaches that each partner can employ.

Dr. Bell agreed that the suggestion for relying on visual inspection for a microscopic organism is not a good one. HICPAC and CDC can promote understanding that these organisms cannot be seen, even if contamination exists.

HICPAC supported the idea of setting general principles. There is no direct responsibility for risk assessment, but many professionals in infection prevention take on that responsibility. There can be a great deal of pushback when there is no conclusive evidence about an expensive piece of machinery or equipment that is vital to clinical care. Some problems are discovered through the course of unrelated investigations. A general set of principles highlighting water source and other issues would be helpful, as the burden of proof is always on the hospital epidemiology/infection prevention group to prove that there is a problem and to spur action.

An integral conversation should be occurring not only between FDA and the manufacturers, but also with CDC. The "Band-Aid to clean" has to come with the assurance that what is being proffered can be reliably implemented without extreme duress. For example, creating a chamber for the heater-cooler unit on the other side of a wall in the operating room seems to solve the problem from the manufacturing side, which will not need to make any changes if that step is taken. This problem is exemplified by the response to the device problem with endoscopes. There is extreme difficulty in cleaning the devices to the degree that it cannot be assured that they are clean. The responses to clean are appropriate interim solutions, as it is not possible to redesign devices quickly. The pressure to redesign, however, should be strong. The question of being able to clean reliably without an extreme onerous solution should be part of the planning process from the outset as opposed to after the fact, when there is an outcry from the field.

Dr. Diekema said that his hospital discusses the need for an industrial engineer who understands the principles of infection prevention, infection control, and organism transmission. The engineers who design these devices need a baseline understanding of pathogen transmission, environmental microbiology, human disease, and other relevant topics.

Dr. Bell commented on purchasing, which is the step between design and use. Someone who performs risk assessments should be involved at the purchasing decision point for health systems.

HICPAC could have a role in creating a guidance document to identify specific areas for consideration. AHRQ has a document for medical devices that focuses on issues related to how to take human factors and medical errors into account in the design process. The idea of filters was raised regarding suction in the 1980s when there were infection risks associated with devices that had a bag inside an outer, hard container that carried risk of contamination. Filters were also part of the suction systems in the walls. The Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation (AAMI) held a risk management summit in conjunction with FDA that included discussion of partnerships with medical devices. A White Paper will be produced from that meeting, and it might be helpful to contact that group.

CSTE observed that in the design of instrumentation going forward, it would be helpful to provide industry with guidance regarding basic principles. If possible, it would be helpful for the FDA process to include individuals who are familiar with the hospital setting to conduct a risk assessment. Risk assessment should be conducted on the devices that are already in use. This process would be aided by an organized approach, rather than asking every facility to do the assessment. A few centers could make a concerted effort to look for risks rather than diffusing the effort across the healthcare system.

AORN commented on the importance of the product selection process and having an interdisciplinary team at the table for it. AORN has guidelines for product selection, but depends on infection preventionists to share their expertise and knowledge in making decisions. Clear guidance regarding product selection would be helpful to the team.

The Surgical Infection Society (SIS) noted that this problem is a physical plant question. A consistent source of high-volume, clean-but-not-sterile, hot and cold water is needed to drive these machines. These devices were created because hospitals were not built with that capability. Hospitals, particularly operating rooms (ORs), need better access to hot and cold water. A more centralized system would remove the need for fans in the OR.

APIC said that the charges from the document from Sorin and the recommendations from FDA for infection preventionists are very involved. The recommendations address sampling, cleaning, re-sampling, and performing air sampling, which is challenging. Because the guidelines are complicated, many hospital settings are turning to their infection prevention teams for assistance in operationalizing them. Additional guidance would be helpful, especially to smaller organizations that do not have a great deal of support. Regarding systemic surveillance, the recommendation was made to conduct a retrospective assessment. It would be helpful to know how many facilities have done that. The more feedback that is gathered, the more robust the body of information will be.

Dr. Diekema asked for an informal raising of hands of HICPAC members and liaison representatives whose hospitals have performed retrospective assessments. Approximately six to seven indicated that they had.

Intervention should occur earlier in the pathway. It does not make sense to place the burden on the end user. HICPAC urged caution regarding what is recommended regarding these important, severe, and rare infections. Thousands of other devices have complications that are more common. Focus should be on early prevention, not on encumbering the end user for surveillance, culturing the air, and other functions.

Dr. Bell raised the issue of routine culturing of devices, which is a non-starter for NTMs because their growth is so slow and because laboratory capability is limited. The manufacturers' literature may suggest that culturing should be done, but it is not possible. In addition to conducting the outbreak investigation, the laboratory is thinking of rational tools and alternatives that can be used to assess the general hygiene of a device that might have been wet. It is preferable that a device be designed appropriately, or that a system is created to accommodate a challenging device and disinfect it reliably without having to drive practices by repetitive sampling.

APIC said that manufacturers state that repetitive sampling should be conducted once devices are clean, and to continue to culture constantly while the heater-cooler unit is being used to ensure that it remains safe. This topic needs to be discussed, and recommendations should be made to healthcare organizations, infection preventionists, hospital epidemiologists, risk managers, and profusionists regarding how to proceed.

Dr. Perz reported that FDA and CDC are actively engaged in this conversation.

Regarding the different types of medical devices, FDA requires manufacturers to develop instructions for cleaning and maintenance, but there is a disconnect between having that information and how it is marketed. The devices are marketed to personnel who do not clean or maintain them. Manufacturers should be held more accountable for including details on device cleaning, reuse, and disinfection as they are marketing to providers, and ensuring that the purchaser of the device has the necessary equipment and accessories to appropriately disinfect and reuse it. There is opportunity to improve the marketing component in the clinical setting.

The Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM) addressed how HICPAC can have impact on this problem in the absence of additional FDA regulation or legislation. Guidance regarding a rating system for infection safety would be helpful in working with hospital value analysis committees. Many of SCCM's members are members of large-group purchasing organizations that could exert pressure in this area, but there is no tool available to support it.

Dr. Diekema said that it is problematic when there are no options, or limited options, for some devices, such as heater cooler units and duodenoscopes. This increases the importance of being proactive in review of new devices for potential infection risk prior to approval..

Update: Research Framework for Environmental Infection Control: Environmental Surfaces

Sujan Reddy, MD, MSc Emory University Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion National Center for Emerging Zoonotic and Infectious Diseases Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Dr. Reddy updated HICPAC on the draft research framework for environmental infection control. The focus of the research agenda is to establish shared goals and objectives for CDC and partners, as many of them are engaged in environmental infection control research. The primary focus of the agenda is on non-critical surfaces and the contamination of those surfaces.

The agenda begins with a focus on adult acute care settings, intensive care units (ICUs), and wards. There are important differences in different healthcare settings, and the agenda will broaden to understand environmental contamination in all of them. The aims of the research agenda are threefold:

- 1) Modeling Transmission: Understand the role of non-critical environmental surfaces in the transmission of pathogens in different types of healthcare facilities. This aim addresses how surfaces become contaminated, as well as how a pathogen may then be transferred to a patient. The aim also addresses the proportion of all HAIs that may be related to environmental surface contamination.
- 2) Measuring Cleanliness: Evaluate methods for measuring surface contamination, including sampling. Determine whether the total bioburden level should be assessed, or whether the focus should be on individual pathogen bioburden levels. Determine cleanliness thresholds associated with improved patient safety outcomes, such as transmission events.

3) Improving Cleanliness: Understand the current state of cleaning and disinfecting surfaces, including monitoring. Evaluate methods for reducing contamination in order to improve patient safety outcomes. Improving cleanliness focuses on process and the human factors that influence cleaning and disinfection in the healthcare environment. For instance, what aspects of the environmental service workers' workload impact their ability to do their work well? This question incorporates education and training in infection control principles as well as structural issues related to job turnover rates, bed turnover, and other influencing factors.

In September 2015, DHQP hosted Environmental Hygiene: Ebola and Other Emerging Pathogens in Healthcare, a one-day roundtable with speakers on the current state of knowledge in environment infection control and ample time to discuss the agenda. It is important to have shared objectives throughout the process of understanding more about environmental infection control. The attendees were a diverse group, including representatives from academia, industry, patient advocacy, and environmental services unions. The presenters were:

<u>Dr. Curtis Donskey</u>: Patient microbial burden and its relationship to environmental contamination The talk discussed patient factors that influence shedding. For instance, antibiotic use may increase "super-shedders" and their ability to shed into the environment.

<u>Dr. Mary Hayden</u>: Differences in environmental contamination by pathogen: Implications for assessment and transmission

Certain areas of patient rooms are more contaminated than others, and these areas may vary by different pathogens. There are challenges associated with sampling different environmental surfaces.

<u>Dr. Susan Huang</u>: Attributable risk of the environment? Important cleaning moments for monitoring

Not enough data are available to answer the question of attributable risk, but an analogy for the problem is a series of unfortunate events, each of which carries probability.

<u>Dr. Deverick Anderson</u>: Approaches and logistical challenges of clinical trials regarding environmental surface contamination

Patient-centered outcomes are the goal, but there are many challenges associated with designing and conducting studies that assess them.

The robust discussion at the meeting included several points. Regarding modeling transmission, there is clear interest in understanding different healthcare settings. The group also discussed the role of air and water, which play a role in contaminating surfaces and colonizing patients. Portable devices such as computers on wheels and their role in transmission were discussed, as well as basic questions regarding who has responsibility for cleaning the devices. Manufacturers have specific recommendations for cleaning and disinfection of their devices, but the recommendations do not necessarily utilize the materials that are available at a given hospital. Room design plays a role in preventing contamination and simplifying cleaning and disinfection. In terms of improving cleanliness, human factors are important, and environmental services workers want to be at the table not just at infection control meetings, but at the table when implementation research and research into how to improve their work is planned. The group also discussed strategies as well as short- and long-term goals and priorities for environmental infection control research.

A summary of the meeting and agenda have been posted on the website. It is hoped that it will serve as a "landing page" for future projects as they are completed and a reference point for toolkits and other resources. DHQP is actively involved in all of the questions in the research agenda. The research agenda is not sequential. One study may consider multiple aspects of it. For instance, multiple projects are examining transmission dynamics or methods to improve cleanliness. Grantees and contractors are expressing a need to understand how best to sample the environment and some basic principles that should inform the decisions. The DHQP is engaged in discussing these issues so that the protocols are standardized and the studies can be repeated and compared to each other.

Discussion Points

HICPAC emphasized that a great deal of CDC-funded research uses environmental sampling, and the methods differ across studies. The work that DHQP is doing to standardize the approaches will be beneficial.

HICPAC agreed with the importance of clarity between the research role and the readiness for clinical implementation. Defining a target level of cleanliness, and how it can be defined, is important, as it is not rational to expect the environment to be sterile. While it is understandable that the agenda is not sequential, care should be taken not to leap ahead to improving cleanliness and setting goals before the best ways to measure and other key points, such as the level of cleanliness at which there is clinical impact, are understood. That threshold should be kept at the forefront so that the research does not follow directions that do not necessarily make patients safer and are not necessarily clinically connected.

NIH applauded this effort. NIH has struggled with CRE for quite some time and has been astounded at the extent to which the organisms are found, and may not be related to detectable clinical issues. The organisms are in sinks and sink drains all around the hospital, which has elevated concerns; however, there is no identified connection. The situation illustrates the lack of understanding of the healthcare-associated epidemiology of environmental organisms. DHQP's work in this area is important.

Considerations for Evidence-Based Evaluations for New and Evolving Proprietary Products for Infection Control

Erin Stone, MS
Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion
National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Ms. Stone introduced the topic of approaches to evidence-based evaluations for new and evolving proprietary products for infection control. HICPAC's involvement in this area includes the focus on triclosan-coated sutures, as well as the need to update the recommendations on chlorhexidine gluconate-impregnated (CGI) dressings from the Bloodstream Infection (BSI) Guideline. Consistent, transparent, and reliable evaluations of proprietary products should be made to inform recommendations with an eye towards the evolving landscape of infection control products, their innovation, and evolution.

One of the recommendations in the 2011 CDC and HICPAC BSI Guideline Infections evaluated CGI dressings. At the time, the proprietary products on the market were a CGI sponge and a CGI gel.

This guideline was the last one to be grandfathered in before the current methodology. It was written using the previous methodology, along with a draft version entered into the federal register for a public comment period. Comments received during the public comment period indicated that the products should be evaluated separately. Comments specified that between the different chlorhexidine-impregnated dressings, the method of delivery of the chlorhexidine was different, the products were different, and there was more evidence for the sponge. At the time there was no evidence for the gel dressing. As a result, the two products were evaluated separately, with separate recommendations. The 2001 Guideline reads:

Use a chlorhexidine-impregnated sponge dressing for temporary short-term catheters in patients older than 2 months of age if the CLABSI rate is not decreasing despite adherence to basic prevention measures, including education and training, appropriate use of chlorhexidine for skin antisepsis, and maximum sterile barrier (MSB) precautions. **Category IB**

No recommendation is made for other types of chlorhexidine dressings. **Unresolved issue**

The first recommendation was a Category IB, based on one systematic review of sponge dressings and two RCTs of sponge dressings.

Recent work since the last time the chlorhexidine dressing update issue was presented to HICPAC in November 2013 has analyzed the two types of dressings together. The January 2014 Update to the SHEA Compendium of Strategies to prevent CLABSIs in Acute Care Hospitals is an implementation guideline that considers the different types of CGI dressings together. The dressings are addressed in the Special Approaches section. These special approaches are recommended for use in locations and/or populations within a hospital with unacceptably high CLABSI rates despite implementation of basic CLABSI prevention strategies. These measures may not be indicated if institutional goals have been consistently achieved.

- 2. Use chlorhexidine-containing dressings for central venous catheters (CVCs) in patients over 2 months of age (quality of evidence: I)
- a. It is unclear whether there is additional benefit to using a chlorhexidinecontaining dressing if daily chlorhexidine bathing is already established and vice versa.

The supporting literature for the Level I Quality of evidence is one systematic review on sponge dressings, one RCT on gel dressings, four RCTs on sponge dressings, and one observational study on sponge dressings.

A recent meta-analysis, Safdar et al 2014, analyzed all types of CGI dressings together. The objective was to assess the efficacy of CGI dressings for prevention of CVC-related colonization and catheter-related bloodstream infection (CRBSI) using meta-analysis. Their primary analysis of 9 RCTs (8 sponge, 1 gel) with 5639 patients showed a reduction in the risk of CRBSI with chlorhexidine dressing versus all comparator dressings. The relative risk was 0.57 with a narrow confidence interval and low heterogeneity.

A Cochrane review was released in 2015 on dressings and securement devices for CVCs. Its objective was to compare the available dressing and securement device evidence for CVCs in terms of CRBSI, catheter colonization, entry- and exit-site infection, and a host of adverse events. CRBSI for CGI dressings compared with Standard Polyurethane (SPU) dressings in 5 trials (4 sponge, 1 gel) showed unclear evidence of reduction in CRBSI. The quality of evidence was moderate, with a confidence interval that spanned 1 and low heterogeneity. Additional analyses were conducted on the frequency of CRBSI for CGI dressings compared with all other dressings. That analysis included 6 trials (1 gel, 5 sponge) and showed a relative risk of 0.60 showing significant reduction in CRBSI with CGI dressings and low heterogeneity. The evidence was high-quality. The final analysis of CGI dressings was the rate of CRBSI per 1000 patient days. This analysis included 4 studies comparing CGI dressings with SPU dressings (1 CGI gel dressing, 3 CGI sponge dressing). The analysis showed significant evidence of benefit with a relative risk of 0.51 and a narrow confidence interval. The evidence is moderate-quality, downgraded for imprecision.

In light of these recent systematic reviews and multi-organizational recommendations, the Key Question for this recommendation has been updated as follows:

For patients older than two months with temporary, non-tunneled catheters how do CGI dressings, compared to standard dressings, impact the risk of catheter-related infections?

The critical outcomes are, infection, such as CRBSI, catheter-related infection (CRI), or CABSI. An additional outcome considered is product-related adverse events.

The initial search strategy through August 2015, including references from the 2011 HICPAC guideline, was expanded through September 2015, with abstract and full-text reviews conducted by CDC. Based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria, 6 studies were incorporated into evidence and Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) tables:

The studies highlighted in yellow in the table have received some form of industry funding. The studies highlighted in pink have chlorhexidine skin antisepsis. Those highlighted in green have alcohol skin antisepsis, and the yellow have povidone-iodine skin antisepsis. A study of 12 centers in France used either povidone-iodine or chlorhexidine gluconate (CHG) and did not delineate which centers did which. The studies highlighted in red contained adverse events as a predefined outcome. Some studies did not predefine adverse events, but mentioned that there were no adverse events. Three of the larger studies show decreased CRBSI and CRI, and three studies show no significant difference in the critical outcomes.

Regarding chlorhexidine resistance, one RCT suggested no suspicion of bacterial resistance to chlorhexidine dressings. Another RCT detected no changes microorganism profiles. None of the other studies reported on chlorhexidine resistance.

When this topic was last presented, HICPAC suggested taking a deeper look at product-related adverse events. A systematic literature search was conducted in September 2015. The search returned two case series of seven patients each. DHQP is working with FDA to explore the utility of Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience (MAUDE) and MedWatch data for incorporation into the adverse events work and into the narrative summary.

DHQP would like to engage one or two HICPAC experts to review the analysis, GRADE tables, evidence tables, adverse events data, and draft recommendations for presentation at the next HICPAC meeting.

Questions for consideration include:

CGI Dressings

		Combining products: Are there any reasons not to combine CGI dressings?
		Outcomes to consider: Colonization data was initially deemed a proxy for infection data
		and was not incorporated. Should it be incorporated? Are there other product-related
		adverse events that have not yet been considered?
		Are there other considerations, such as other sources of adverse event data, that should
	_	be included?
		bo molados.
New	ı aı	nd Emerging Proprietary Products
		What products are similar enough to be considered in a product class? For example,
	_	when are CGI dressings similar enough to be considered together?
	_	
	u	Evaluating a new or emerging product or product class: Is there a temporal threshold for
		this work? Should it be done every two years, for example, or should the evaluation wait
		until a product has been on the market and in use for a certain number of years,
		regardless of RCT data? Should there be evidentiary thresholds? Is one RCT enough to
		evaluate a product and make a recommendation?
		Are there other factors to consider? For example, if clinicaltrials gov is enrolling 10 trials,
		should that product be evaluated at that time?
		How do other organizations make recommendations for proprietary products?

Discussion Points

Dr. Diekema opened the floor for discussion and noted that HICPAC will have an opportunity to delve further into individual studies during the next meeting.

HICPAC did not see a reason not to consider gel and sponge dressings together.

Dr. Cardo said that it would be helpful for future decisions to understand the rationale for considering the products together.

Dr. Diekema agreed and noted that the rationale will address the broader question of when products are similar enough to be viewed together, and when they should be separated. He asked for comments regarding whether to expand the outcomes from the infection event to include line colonization data. Some studies in the literature consider colonization as well.

Ms. Stone clarified that typically, the studies analyze exit site colonization and catheter tip colonization.

If enough science uses the outcome of infections, then it will not be necessary to rely on colonization data, which is usually used when there are not enough studies or an inadequate power or sample sizes. Colonization is an easier metric to measure than actual infections. There was discussion regarding whether the new guideline should be consistent with the original one and whether it used only infections, or also colonization, for the outcomes.

Ms. Stone said that the original guideline used all infection outcomes. Mr. Hageman agreed and added that the prior guideline looked reviewed existing data and any outcomes. The current system of identifying critical outcomes was not in place, as this guideline was grandfathered in. The prior methods were not as systematic as the current methods. The public comments for this issue resulted not in GRADE evidence, but in a systematic review.

The reason for separating the products was related to the timing of their development. The sponge was developed first, so more data were available about it. Regarding a rationale for combining the products, they are similar concepts for a local antiseptic. Unless there is a technology that is broadly different, they can be combined. It is not clear whether that rationale can be translated to other areas effectively.

Consumer's Union asked about CHG resistance and whether it needs future examination by HICPAC. Ms. Stone said that CHG resistance is an outcome of interest. It will be summarized as such in the GRADE tables; however, there is a paucity of evidence.

One of the challenges with CHG is agreeing on what constitutes resistance by in vitro testing. The underlying science and clinical microbiology needs to be determined.

It was noted that the Compendium addressed chlorhexidine bathing. It may be worthwhile to investigate the background behind that recommendation. Contributors to the Compendium recalled that the comment was not based on particular evidence. It is a theoretical concern to be factored in.

Some clinicians are concerned about obscuring the exit site of the catheter. Some dressings are opaque and could mask exit site infections, bleeding, or other complications and lead to delayed diagnosis.

Regarding resistance, it will be important to move the literature to report not just a percent of isolates obtained as a resistance profile. The population risk may have been reduced, and whatever remains may have proportional higher resistance, but the benefit may still be high. A meaningful clinical break point for resistance is not known. The dominant means in the literature for measuring resistance is not optimal.

Regarding how other organizations implement or make decisions in these areas, APIC members rely on the information that is released by HICPAC in these recommendations. Many APIC members do not have the opportunity to understand the process by which the decisions are made, so they are influenced by CDC and HICPAC guidelines shared by APIC. Vendors place pressure on APIC members based on the results of different trials. It is difficult for individuals to make those decisions.

The Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) deals with the same issues and does not have documents to address them. PHAC will assess the work of CDC and HICPAC closely.

AORN has faced these issues several times in creating guidelines. A few times, AORN states that the perioperative team may evaluate a certain emerging technology for use in the perioperative setting with the multidisciplinary team. In this case, the guideline lists the rationale that the evidence is conflicting and which evidence supports and which refutes. This information provides guidance and support to the teams that make decisions. AORN documents stand for five years, so there is room for the team to make decisions as new evidence becomes available.

HICPAC asked whether the questions should be considered in relation to CHG, or in general. Ms. Stone answered that general consideration would be helpful, as it would be useful to maintain the rationale established regarding CHG.

The decision to combine products into a class or to consider them together will be based on the amount of evidence available. It may not be possible to make a general statement about combining. It may be preferable to combine as many products as possible into a category, assuming that there is enough research comparing them. In the evidence table, there was one RCT for gel, and the rest were other applications. They may need to be considered separately, as there may not be enough data to combine them.

Regarding CHG, CSTE said that there may not be evidence regarding standard versus coated catheters.

As rates are driven lower and as there is better technology that brings options to reduce rates, time is very important. For instance, if a study from 1995 is quoted, it should be remembered that at that time the acceptable rates were high and the best practice was not in place. Even in studies conducted recently, there is no longer clear evidence of the additive benefit of certain products. Each product may demonstrate benefit to an acceptable core background of behavior. In terms of making a statement in the guidance that all of the products should therefore be implemented, HICPAC should be careful regarding what is recommended as "core." "Core" should refer to the best practice under every circumstance, no matter what else is added. If there have not been multiple head-to-head studies to show that there is always incremental

benefit in addition to other options, HICPAC should be careful in defining recommendations as IA. Many approaches may be effective, but they may not be necessary together. This issue makes study designs more challenging. In order to detect an incremental benefit on top of what is known to be effective, the size and the cost of the studies will be increasingly prohibitive.

HICPAC could incorporate that concept into the evaluation of the quality of the studies. The evaluation of studies on coated sutures encountered this challenge, as some trials were quite small or showed impressive reductions in extremely high starting rates that may not be a real-world setting for current rates or rates that are expected when all other best practices are in place. The evaluation could include additional criteria addressing whether the study controlled for best practices, the size of the trial, and the starting point of the rates and whether it is acceptable to demonstrate incremental benefit.

Regarding combining products, criteria are needed to allow products to be regarded as "similar enough." These criteria might be that they have the same active agent, the same site of action, the same mode of delivery, and the clinical trials that have examined their efficacy have utilized identical or at least very similar outcomes. An additional consideration could be the timespan of delivery, if it is relevant to the product. Another secondary criterion might be associated adverse events.

Dr. Bell thought the discussion had been helpful. A number of products are emerging, and various aspects of healthcare quality are affected by new technologies. He hoped not to struggle with a disheveled evidence base that does not yield good conclusions. There may be merit in laying out minimum standards for how evidence must be presented in order for a product to be considered. The span of work is untenable. There is a need for a recommendation, but the work must be able to be done.

Dr. Diekema agreed and noted that there are published standard approaches to evaluate these trials.

Using Data for Prevention: Targeted Assessment for Prevention (TAP)

Carolyn Gould, MD, MSCR
Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion
National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Dr. Gould provided HICPAC with an update on how DHQP has been working with partners on using data for prevention, focusing on the Targeted Assessment for Prevention (TAP) strategy. NHSN data can be used for action in many ways. More data are available because of the mandates for Catheter-Associated Urinary Tract Infection (CAUTI)/CLABSI and *Clostridium difficile* infection (CDI), the infections on which the TAP strategy focuses. The TAP strategy can be used to target hospitals with the highest numbers of excess infections. DHQP has been partnering with many groups, including CMS Quality Innovation Network – Quality Improvement Organizations (QIN-QIOs) and the Hospital Engagement Networks (HENs) as well as state health departments and multiple other partners with access to NHSN data.

The TAP strategy addresses a complex issue, so the approach to addressing it is as simple as possible in order to be effective. The framework for quality improvement (QI) is a linear progression:

Target facilities and specific units within them using the TAP report function that is
available in NHSN.
Assess gaps in infection prevention in the targeted facilities and units of interest.
Prevent infections by implementing customized interventions to address those gaps.

The TAP strategy has a website that will include all tools that have been developed for TAP. There are links to NHSN technical documents for providing TAP reports and links to stories and newsletters from partners.

The metric that serves as the basis for the TAP report was developed by Dr. Minn Soe in the surveillance branch of DHQP. The metric is called Cumulative Attributable Difference (CAD). It is related to the Standardized Infection Ratio (SIR), but it is different because it is not a ratio.

CAD = OBSERVED - (PREDICTED * SIR_{target})

The target SIR can be chosen based on the goals of the group, state, organization, or national HHS reduction targets. The lower the target SIR, the larger the CAD, or excess number of infections. As a default, NHSN TAP reports use the HHS target SIRs, but there is an option to customize it. For instance, a system that has exceeded the national targets may wish to have different targets. CAD is operationalized as the number of prevented infections needed to reach the target SIR in a similar timespan under similar conditions. The metric is useful because it is related to the SIR and provides a concrete number to translate the SIR into a target.

The development of CAD was described in a recently-published paper in *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology (ICHE)*. When Dr. Soe began developing the metric, he initially considered its efficiency in enabling DHQP to target hospitals to reach the HHS targets. He considered the impact on the 2013 national pooled mean CAUTI SIR, which was 1.057, and the number of hospitals needed to reach the national goal of .75. Of the 1500 hospitals with a positive CAD, which translates to an SIR above .75, preventing 10,040 infections at 243 hospitals (19% of the total) would enable achievement of the national CAUTI reduction goal. Using the CAD to target hospitals leads to better achievement of the national goal than using the SIR, which was closer to 800 hospitals. This exercise illustrates that CAD is a potentially efficient way to reach the national target if it is assumed that intervening with fewer hospitals is easier with limited resources. The other hospitals that still need prevention measures should not be ignored.

Since the initial development of the metric, additional benefits of the TAP strategy beyond reaching a target SIR have been described. The TAP strategy is a focused approach to prevention that helps hospitals focus initial efforts. Within targeted hospitals, excess HAIs can be mapped to the unit level. This mapping is not always possible with the SIR, as the SIR is not calculated if the denominator is too small. Many hospitals can therefore only assess facility-wide data, not unit-based data, and some units can remain undetected even if they have problems.

CAD is a concrete prevention goal that is linked to the SIR. The tools that have been developed for the entire strategy have helped DHQP work with partners to identify specific gaps in infection prevention through standardized assessments of targeted units. Implementation strategies can be customized to address specific gaps. Units and hospitals are very different from one another.

Several tools have been developed to help implement the TAP strategy. TAP reports pull data from various parts of NHSN into one report: Event data, data from the annual survey, device utilization data, and pathogen-level data. The following illustrates the tools:

TAP reports can be generated at the facility level and at the unit level. Within a system, the report can rank hospitals by the total facility CAD. ICU data are separated from non-ICU locations. The SIR is included in the TAP report to emphasize that the SIR should be used as well as the CAD, as the CAD is a ranking prioritization metric, not a comparative metric. This distinction is important because although the CAD is risk-adjusted, it is influenced by the size of the denominator and will therefore pull out hospitals with the largest burden, which often have the largest denominator. For this reason, the metric is only used for targeting.

Pathogen-level data presented includes the total number of pathogens reported for the events and the actual numbers by pathogen. The pathogen data is useful as a high-level snapshot of the pathogens that are reported for CAUTIs. This information was particularly important when yeast was part of the CAUTI definition, as a predominance of yeast might indicate a different type of prevention strategy. A predominance of a single pathogen might indicate an outbreak.

A TAP report can be run for any duration of time. It is recommended that the report include at least a quarter's worth of data so that there are enough events to be representative. The unit-level TAP report can rank locations within a facility by CAD. This presentation allows a facility to determine the units that drive the overall excess. Frequently, a limited number of units contribute the most excess infections. This information allows a facility to focus initial efforts on the units that have the most excess.

Facility Assessment Tools have also been created to support the TAP strategy. When units or facilities have been targeted, the assessment questionnaire can be administered to assess staff perceptions, awareness, and knowledge of practices related to prevention. The survey should be administered to multiple staff at different levels within the facility or unit. The responses and variability in them can be revealing. The CAUTI tool is complete, and tools for CRI and CLABSI are being piloted. Ultimately, an integrated tool will have all of the elements and as few questions as possible. Pilot data will be used to hone the questionnaires down to the questions that yield the most information. Feedback from partners has been helpful in this process.

The reliability of the CAUTI tool was analyzed using pilot data from a QIO partner that conducted the assessment in four targeted hospitals. The analysis included internal consistency, the distribution of scores, and differences by facility. The tool was found to be reliable and internally consistent. There were significant differences in the assessment by facility. The next step will be to compare the gap assessment data with outcome data to learn which domains and particular questions are most related to the outcomes. A database that accompanies the assessments allows their results to be summarized and scored.

Regarding prevention, the third step of the TAP strategy, a CAUTI Implementation Guide has been created. The guide is a menu by domains in the assessment that links to existing, publicly-

available resources for prevention. DHQP conducted an environmental scan to find these tools, many of which were created by the AHRQ-funded national Comprehensive Unit-based Safety Program (CUSP) project. Additionally, an implementation tool from ANA is referenced. The Implementation Guide pairs with the results of the assessment with the CAUTI Implementation Tool, which will allow facilities to identify and utilize appropriate prevention methods. Gaps identified by the tool can be addressed using resources from the guide.

DHQP piloted the TAP strategy in 2014 with seven participating QIOs. This process helped refine the TAP report format, narrow on CAUTI as the starting infection of interest, and refine the initial Facility Assessment Tool.

The TAP strategy is being implemented in several settings. In the contract for the 11th Scope of Work for the CMS QIN-QIOs, all 14 QIN-QIOs are implementing the TAP strategy for CAUTI prevention. They include over 1350 hospitals in the 11th Scope of Work. CDC is providing technical assistance. Ten of the QIN-QIOs representing 28 states are implementing the TAP Strategy for CDI Prevention, and some of them are interested in CLABSI. Many of the state health departments that are funded by the Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity (ELC) cooperative agreement are implementing the TAP Strategy for prevention of specific HAIs as well as general infection control improvement. A collaboration is ongoing with the HRET of the AHA in which they will engage partners to improve infection control in acute care hospitals as part of their Ebola-funded work. They will use the TAP approach to target and engage facilities. DHQP is in discussions with CMS Survey and Certification and the Joint Commission regarding implementing a TAP strategy approach to use existing data to guide and focus infection control surveys. CDC has reached out to hospitals with high CADs to direct them to ongoing initiatives, including the QIN-QIOs and AHRQ-funded initiatives to prevent infections.

As of October 1, 2015, more than 20,000 TAP reports have been run in NHSN by individual facilities and group users. This uptake is exciting. Users may not utilize the analysis function of NHSN because the idea of running reports may be intimidating. DHQP is considering developing a dashboard within NHSN to include TAP report data and other data on MDR organisms.

Qualitative feedback has been received from some of the QIN-QIO partners. The feedback has called the TAP strategy a game changer that allows for providing targeted information to the units that need it the most. Comments also note that the strategy is simple and elegant, which is a boon for infection preventionists.

DHQP has developed a TAP Strategy "How To Guide" in response to user requests for a step-by-step guide. There is a guide for a group user and for a facility user. The guide includes examples from QIN-QIO partners who have been using data in different ways. One user creates graphical representations of the TAP reports. The figures are useful for reporting to hospital administration and for making a case for addressing issues with and within facilities.

Discussion Points

Dr. Cardo said that TAP helps facilities that do not know how to begin, because it provides tools for making a concrete, first step to address targeted problems. It also provides concrete information that clinicians, administrators, and others can understand. The flexibility of the strategy is important as well. CDC's role is to provide measurement tools to help facilities determine their directions in infection prevention as well as implementation tools. The strategy continues to improve over time as it is adopted by partners and as it evolves based on feedback. She asked for HICPAC's feedback regarding how institutions use data for prevention, and how to motivate people to use the TAP strategy. As data are examined more thoroughly, more ways to prevent infections and show progress are identified. DHQP would appreciate ideas regarding how to engage more infection preventionists, healthcare epidemiologists, and others not just to collect data, but to use it.

HICPAC agreed that the TAP tools will be powerful for QI. CAD is volume-driven, which raises concerns about ranking hospitals. Because of volume, certain facilities that perform more of certain procedures may be ranked low even if their performance is not worse than other facilities. CAD is useful for internal QI, but it should not be over-interpreted.

Dr. Gould agreed that the goal of CAD is for it to serve for internal QI purposes, not as a comparative metric. The "how-to" guide explains this point, and the division is working on other communication and messaging to reinforce that CAD is for QI and that the SIR should still be used for comparative and reporting purposes.

It has been exciting for HICPAC to see this effort evolve over time. HICPAC asked if the assessment tool is available on the website to be accessed by facilities that are not in NHSN, whether the assessment questionnaire is administered to front-line workers to learn about their opinions and practices, the timeline for the availability of the "how-to" guide.

Dr. Gould responded that the assessment tools are not on the web, as they are still undergoing revision. The CAUTI tool has been piloted and revised and can be shared. When the tools are combined into one tool, it can be shared. Regarding who is assessed in the questionnaire, DHQP recommends that facilities conduct on-site assessments with various staff members. Many facilities found value in the real-time teaching moments that cues to action that emerged. Some facilities conducted group interviews, and some distributed the tool to staff remotely. Remote distribution misses the opportunity for delving more deeply, teaching moments, and discussions. Nevertheless, it is still valuable. DHQP has not thus far recommended a specific number of healthcare personnel to be interviewed. DHQP has emphasized that the assessment should include personnel at different levels, from front-line nursing staff to institution leadership,

in order to yield a good representation of knowledge, awareness, and perceptions. The "how-to" guide is in the final stages of completion and should be available soon.

CSTE commented on the usefulness of the TAP strategy, especially as it provides concrete information. In 2013, the Tennessee state SIR was 1.38. Five hospitals comprised 50% of the excess infections. If those five facilities reached the HHS goal of 0.75, the state SIR would decrease to 1.0. If the five facilities with the highest SIRs eliminated every infection, then the state SIR would decrease to 1.17. This example illustrates the power of targeting resources. Regarding ranking, after discussions with the multidisciplinary advisory group, the state of Tennessee sent facilities a quarterly progress report card that showed the number of observed infections, the number of expected infections, their SIR, their CAD, and the state's SIR at the time. The report card also had a column that said: "Are you in the top five hospitals in the number of preventable infections in the state of Tennessee?" Facilities were thereby put on notice that they were major drivers for the state. That information is not a true ranking, but it has been powerful in engaging hospital leadership. The hospitals with excess infections are not always the largest-volume hospitals.

From a public health standpoint, it makes sense to target larger hospitals that have higher-than-average SIRs. Because they care for more patients, they have more events and more ownership and obligation to ensure that they are operating at least at the standard of care. The TAP strategy can illustrate other important issues as well. Large facilities tend to be open to finding new ways to reduce infection, and involving their leadership is beneficial. If the assessment shows no process problems, then the institution may lack critical adjusters and find opportunities to rethink measures for certain high-risk groups. A great deal of research shows that if low-volume hospitals that are not included in CAD are lumped as a group, they uniformly have higher surgical site infection (SSI) rates than larger-volume hospitals. This example shows CDC that when the CAD is applied, there should be a lumping check to determine whether there might be a driver of low-volume, poor care that will not be discerned in this metric. If this dichotomy exists, effort should be applied on the population level for small, lower-volume hospitals in addition to the attempts to reduce the numbers of infections.

The State of California has targeted hospitals using a "data for action" strategy using CLABSI rates on the unit level. The state invites hospitals to receive an expert assessment visit if they are targeted in the public report. Because there is a lag in the publication of data, the TAP report has helped the state because it allows the state to conduct interim assessments. It would be interesting to work with the HAI advisory committee about the TAP report and to create a statewide strategy for the use of the report. The role of the state health department could be to ensure hospitals understand how to use the report for internal QI.

The premise of focusing limited resources on a smaller number of hospitals has merit, but HICPAC cautioned that they are more likely to be larger hospitals with more complex environments. The approach might divert resources to where they might not be as fruitful, as they may already have systems in place. Working with an increased number of smaller facilities may have a greater cumulative effect. CAD provides tools for units so that they may set their own goals and track their own progress toward them.

HICPAC encouraged DHQP to consider visualization and how the TAP report information is presented because the data should be used to affect change. Pie charts may misrepresent information. There are tools and literature available on how people best process information and act on it.

Dr. Gould agreed that different learners will understand information in different ways. It is important that any presentation of data will not be misinterpreted.

APIC looks to partner and provide additional education regarding the implementation of TAP reports and how to use the information for infection preventionists at the front line. The tool is as useful for those professionals as it is for state agencies and QIOs.

Infection preventionists in smaller facilities in multi-hospital systems may not necessarily be comfortable in the analytic realm of NHSN. The idea of a dashboard to present data is potentially helpful.

SCCM said that the information in the TAP report is potentially compelling. There is some hesitation, however, because it will never prioritize improving small rural hospitals where HAIs have impact.

HICPAC asked whether the 0.75 goal is based on knowledge of where the average is now, or on newer data indicating the state of the nation. Dr. Gould replied that the goal is based on the original 2013 HHS goals. The updates are still in the clearance process.

The 2015 SIRs for CAUTI will use the old baseline. DHQP will create tools for facilities to use to recalculate their data until 2016, when 2015 will be the new baseline for the SIRs. Because of new definitions for CAUTI, the 2015 SIRs will be lower. There are ways to adjust the data to account for the definition changes until the new baseline is established. The CAUTI SIRs were decreasing at the end of 2014.

The California Department of Health does not have access to the same data as the QIN that it works with; because it is not in the state law, the department does not have access to CAUTI data. There was discussion regarding the data use agreement for NHSN that would make the data more readily available to the HAI programs that are funded by CDC. This change would require changing the agreement with the hospitals.

Dr. Bell said that there is strength in influencing policy. While focusing on a range of healthcare locations, DHQP wants to be useful for policy solutions. It is worth considering a next generation tool or analytic component that would be useful, based on state experience.

HICPAC asked if the assessment tool for CAUTI includes questions about culturing practices, microbiology laboratory practices, and similar factors. Dr. Gould answered that laboratory practices are not included in the CAUTI tool, but it is open for revision. The tool asks about culturing practices of asymptomatic patients. There are laboratory questions on the CDI tool in terms of stool rejection policies.

One of the primary strategies of hospitals is to perform as few cultures as possible, using a variety of approaches such as laboratory-focused reflex testing.

The VA has particularly been looking at CDI using the SIR, CAD, and TAP report. The VA decided to focus on the TAP and called the top five facilities. If the phone call was not effective, then the team conducted a site visit. The hospitals tended to be larger facilities with expertise, not small facilities with less expertise. They did not have verification processes in place to

confirm that they are doing what they say they are doing. A lack of knowledge is not the problem. The problem is a lack of consistency.

Dr. Gould said that the approach of individual assessment of practices of front-line providers came about because when facilities are asked about policies and procedures, little information is gleaned. The survey is the next best thing short of direct observation of care.

Update on HICPAC Workgroup for Endoscope Reprocessing

Jeff Hageman
Division of Healthcare Quality and Promotion
National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Designated Federal Official, Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee

Mr. Hageman thanked HICPAC members Vickie Brown and Lisa Maragakis for volunteering to assist. He explained that workgroups are created to provide information or advice federal advisory committees. Their activities may include gathering information, analyzing relevant issues and facts, and drafting proposed recommendations for deliberation by HICPAC at a public meeting. Workgroups do not provide advice to CDC or HHS; rather, they work with issues, generate strategies and options, and review information between HICPAC meetings, given that there is not enough time to discuss all issues in-depth at the in-person meetings. The workgroups report to the full HICPAC to inform HICPAC's deliberations and overall recommendations to CDC. Workgroups must include at least two HICPAC members. They represent an opportunity to involve external experts with unique perspective or knowledge into the process. Non-federal consultants are required to complete conflict of interest disclosure statements before they participate in the workgroup.

During the July 2015 meeting, CDC asked HICPAC to provide input on recommendations and strategies to improve facility practices for endoscope device reprocessing. There needs to be innovation and improvement of the devices themselves, but in the interim, the challenges of training staff and improving the reprocessing processes must be addressed. HICPAC is forming a workgroup that will include HICPAC members and liaisons as well as experts in device reprocessing to develop draft strategies to improve these practices for HICPAC to consider. The target audience for the recommendations will be hospital infection prevention and control programs or other facility-level programs to improve practices. Separate work is ongoing with other federal agencies. For instance, FDA has advisory committees considering improvement of the device processes.

The workgroup is in progress and includes representation from organizations that are not represented on HICPAC, such as AAMI, the American Gastroenterological Association (AGA), and the International Association for Healthcare Central Service Material Management (IAHCSMM), which conducts accreditation of some reprocessing staff. The workgroup also includes representation from other federal agencies that address related issues, including FDA and CMS. Representatives from these organizations are being identified and their conflict of interest forms are being collected.

The workgroup will consider strategies in several areas:
 The most important areas for reprocessing in a facility and how to identify all of the areas across a facility or system where reprocessing occurs; there is a wide variety of staff as well as locations involved in reprocessing
 Ways to standardize training and assessment of competency of the healthcare personnel involved in reprocessing
 Effective ways to engage manufacturers in the process for training and education
 Considerations for audit and periodic reassessment of procedures
 Supplemental measures, given concerns regarding the increase in use of microbiologic culturing and an uptick of double-reprocessing and repeat high-level disinfection (HLD)

in the absence of culturing

Centralization of HLD or oversight within the healthcare facility: who owns this process and who should be involved in reprocessing decisions for the healthcare setting and system?

The workgroup could also address issues discussed by HICPAC in this meeting. Regarding endoscopes in particular, the workgroup could consider factors to improve cleanability. The workgroup could cover other strategies and guidance from which facilities could benefit. HICPAC liaison organizations can provide insight into their activities in this area, such as reprocessing guidelines that are currently in development, in existence, or out for public comment, as AORN does. Liaison organizations may have guidance, recommendations, tools, and education efforts that the workgroup should consider in its work. HICPAC was invited to provide feedback on the general focus areas for the workgroup and on additional topics that should be covered. The workgroup needs a clear charge so that it can meet the timeline of presenting draft strategies for review at the HICPAC meeting in March 2016.

Discussion Points

Dr. Maragakis added that there are many aspects to this work. Regarding medical devices in general, the workgroup might consider working with a facility's value analysis committee or setting up a mechanism in facilities to review new equipment before it is installed and to review the cleaning and sterilization guidance. The workgroup can provide guidance for facilities regarding the procedures and checks that can be in place before devices are introduced.

Ms. Brown agreed and hoped that the workgroup will be able to develop a guidance document that can help support the infection preventionists who may not have robust resources to delve into training and documents. It takes a great deal of support to provide the information that infection preventionists with limited access to a hospital epidemiologist may have to accomplish the same thing.

DNV Healthcare asked whether the document will address the size of the room in which processing takes place. Every hospital has a different area for processing, and some are so small that there is risk of recontamination. HICPAC suggested that a concise summary of available guidance about physical space requirements could be included.

Although the workgroup will focus on reprocessing duodenoscopes, it is helpful that the document will also highlight general principles that are important for reprocessing across the board.

APIC asked whether the workgroup will also consider manufacturers and the inherent challenges associated with accommodating products that are difficult to clean. Regarding value analysis, these programs in robust organizations have not historically considered the cleanability of items. It is important to emphasize that the decision-making process should include that element.

HICPAC commented on efforts to centralize sterilization across medical centers, which have worked well. Reprocessing, however, is a different and difficult area. The example was provided of an institution that commissioned a Reprocessing Oversight Committee to oversee how to ensure competencies, track compliance, and evaluate new products.

PHAC has a 2011 guideline on this topic. They have begun to receive questions about reprocessing, especially when the reports of outbreaks surfaced. The PHAC Infection Prevention and Control Expert Working Group has recommended a literature review. Additionally, a survey protocol is being written to conduct a survey of gastroenterologists. The survey will compare a number of aspects, including settings in acute care hospitals and outside. PHAC is drafting a notice to respond to the questions indicating that the agency is reviewing the issue and will make new recommendations if necessary. PHAC does not have as direct a relationship with industry as CDC does. If possible with the HICPAC workgroup timeline, it would be ideal for PHAC to work alongside the workgroup. Dr. Diekema agreed that the HICPAC workgroup and PHAC should work together and add the PHAC representative to the workgroup.

APIC has released talking points and frequently asked questions (FAQs) on the issue for consumers and has submitted comments to the FDA.

SHEA is involved with the AORN guidelines.

Public Comment

Dr. Diekema opened the public comment period at 4:04 pm.

Renee Odehnal
Manager of Professional Education
Ethcon Biopatch Products

Ms. Odehnal offered comments on the HICPAC CHG dressing discussion. There are many facets to consider when evaluating CHG dressings. Foremost among those facets is the dressing's ability to reduce catheter-related bloodstream infections (CBIs), which is dependent upon the dressing's active ingredient and ability to deliver it to the skin. When the previous guidelines were created, essentially one sponge and one gel were available. The products have continued to generate discussion, including comparing their cleared indications as well as the quality of evidence of each. In addition, and perhaps adding to confusion for healthcare providers, various other dressings have come to the market, including CGI film dressings and several more sponge dressings in which CHG has been added as a preservative to prevent bacterial growth within the dressing; the dressing lacks the ability to deliver CHG to the skin, and there is no clear indication that the product has been proven to reduce CBI. Clinicians are not always equipped to analyze these differences, thinking that "a sponge is a sponge," or "it's got CHG in it, it must do the same thing." Vendors can share information and educate, but bias

limits their credibility. In addition to strong evidence-based guidelines, clinicians would benefit from guidance regarding evidence-based product selection.

Rachel Stricof CSTE Consultant

Ms. Stricof hoped that as the endoscope guidance is developed, the workgroup would keep in mind the full array of settings in which these procedures are being performed, who is responsible for oversight in these settings, and who is responsible for performing these duties. There have been discussions regarding human factors and engineering. The Multisociety Guidelines are a fine guidance for people who know what they are doing, but in the majority of institutions where there are problems, the person responsible for reprocessing speaks English as a second language and does not read the instructions thoroughly. Even if they did, the guidelines require over 40 steps. It is beyond the capability of most people to reprocess correctly and to do it correctly every time. Another set of quidelines may not necessarily get the field where it needs to be. Reengineering the design of the products themselves and establishing standards for the individuals who are responsible for various duties would be beneficial. When the guidance is written, the workgroup should keep in mind who will read it. In the majority of offices, no one has seen the Multisociety Guidelines, the Society of Gastroenterology Nurses and Associates (SGNA) guidelines, or the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE) guidelines. The workgroup has a monumental task ahead of it.

Discussion Points

HICPAC noted that the automotive industry has lessons to teach regarding how to make certain technologies safe with process. Ultimately, better design must be implemented.

The reprocessing workgroup will address issues related to delivering training and information to the multiple people and disciplines that may be responsible for reprocessing devices. This area is where the disconnect exists. The technology will improve, but it will take time. In the meantime, the point is well-taken that there is a knowledge deficit regarding how to get correct information to the right people so that they can understand it.

Dr. Bell noted that the HICPAC workgroup does not include representatives from the world of materials management. He wondered if HICPAC liaisons could help reach out to those groups and other important implementer groups to participate on the workgroup and bring the real-world perspective to their proceedings.

APIC noted that IAHCSMM is the organization that represents sterile processing personnel and could be a key partner.

Recognition of Retiring Members

Dr. Bell recognized two HICPAC members who were rotating off of the committee:	
□ Dr. Susan Huang□ Ms. Gina Pugliese	

He thanked them for contributing their insights and skills to HICPAC and looked forward to their continued involvement in HICPAC activities. Mr. Hageman presented Dr. Huang and Ms. Pugliese with a certificate and a letter of appreciation from Dr. Tom Frieden, CDC Director.

Liaison / Ex Officio Reports

ACOEM

ACOEM is rewriting the guidance for occupational health services in medical centers. It is a practical document with many hyperlinks, many of them to CDC sites. Its intent is to provide guidance to occupational medicine practitioners in hospitals regarding not only infectious hazards, but also chemical, physical, and psychosocial shift-work based hazards.

America's Essential Hospitals (AEH)

During Sepsis Awareness Month, AEH hosted a "Reducing Sepsis, Saving Lives" webinar that highlighted the work of two hospital members who have reduced sepsis shock and mortality. It also shared useful tools for addressing sepsis. AEH works by connecting hospitals to one another. In June 2015, AEH concluded its formal engagement with its member hospitals as a HEN and provided those hospitals with a CAUTI, CLABSI, and SSI data report stratified by age and gender to help hospitals identify potential disparities in care, which is a focus of AEH's mission. The group signed on to the foundational principles of the US Stakeholder Forum on Antimicrobial Resistance (S-FAR), convened by IDSA. AEH also took part in International Infection Prevention Week. Using its network, AEH disseminated targeted communications to members with social media, the website, and other means to draw attention to International Infection Prevention Week resources and materials, including healthcare professional pledges designed to be a public display of advocacy for infection prevention as well as hand hygiene and other materials.

National Association of County and City Health Officials (NACCHO)

NACCHO shares information with local health departments that is invaluable for responding to HAIs. Three health departments are participating in the NACCHO HAI Demonstration Site Projects: the Florida Department of Health; DePage County Health Department in Wheaton, Illinois; and the Philadelphia Department of Health in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. The departments have worked together to develop tools for antibiotic stewardship and collaborated on how to implement them in their jurisdictions. The sites have found common barriers and hope to develop an HAI guidance document for local health departments to engage in HAI prevention activities. NACCHO works with several of the HICPAC liaison associations and hopes to continue to do so.

SHEA

The SHEA spring conference will be held May 18-21, 2016, in Atlanta, Georgia. It will be cochaired by Drs. Sylvia Muñoz-Price and Tom Talbot. SHEA hopes to expand its in-depth scientific program further while appealing to a broad audience of infection control practitioners as well as healthcare epidemiologists and epidemiologists-in-training. This year's conference will have three different certificate programs: the standard SHEA basic training program, programs in infection control and prevention in long-term care facilities, and a new program in antibiotic stewardship. Other education developments within SHEA include the primer in healthcare epidemiology and infection control, an online program that is offered to a wide range of audiences, including infectious disease fellows and infectious disease practitioners. It launched on June 1, 2015. To date, there have been over 250 registered participants. Regarding guidelines and expert papers, SHEA contributed five comments to the Choosing

Wisely campaign. Two of the comments focused on infection control principles regarding devices and reducing unnecessary testing from a microbiological perspective; three comments focused on antibiotic utilization and reduction of unnecessary antibiotic use. Additionally, SHEA has an active guidelines committee. Over the last two years, guidance documents have been issued on animals in healthcare facilities and infection prevention for visitors to healthcare settings. Guidance documents in development focus on the duration of contact precautions, initiation of antibiotics in long-term care facilities, and infection prevention in anesthesia, SHEA has been involved with the endoscope and HAI programs. SHEA submitted comments through a workgroup to FDA in their public meeting, and some SHEA experts provide guidance to FDA on an ongoing basis. SHEA has been involved with the CMS reform requirements for long-term care facilities, having submitted several comments focusing on the organization of infection control programs and antibiotic stewardship programs in long-term care facilities.

CSTE

The CSTE-CDC HAI Data Analysis and Presentation Standardization Toolkit has gone through the clearance process and is near publication and release. It was developed in response to a position statement of two years ago that was requested at a HICPAC meeting. The CSTE-CDC Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance Taskforce will likely be launched in January 2016. Its earlier scope was limited, having only focused on CRE. In light of Ebola, its scope has been broadened for the new launch. The taskforce will likely include liaison positions with professional societies such as SHEA and APIC. CSTE and CDC are working on a Reportable Conditions Knowledge Management System, a real-time portal to enhance disease surveillance by providing comprehensive information to reporters regarding what is reportable, when, and why. It will serve as a "one-stop shop" for case reporting and for electronic laboratory result reporting. Discussions are underway to create a council, with a name still to be determined, to improve HAI outbreak response. It will be modeled to a similar council that improves foodborne outbreak response. The governance and bylaws for the council are being structured, and other organizations will likely participate in it. The CSTE HAI subcommittee is forming a working group on getting requirements for an extensively drug resistant organism (XDRO) registry similar to one created by the state of Illinois. The registry would use existing infrastructure, such as communicable disease surveillance reporting and electronic laboratory result reporting. Interested parties from other organizations are welcome to participate. CSTE contributed comments to the Federal Register on the proposed CMS rules for the Reform of Requirements for Long-Term Care Facilities and regarding the end-stage renal disease prospective payment system and quality incentive program.

<u>AORN</u>

AORN's comprehensive guidelines for flexible endoscopes are available for public comment on the AORN website through November 22, 2015. AORN has been conducting guideline implementation workshops, a new approach to reach staff nurses at the bedside. The workshops have been held in six different cities in collaboration with industry partners. The last one will be held in Atlanta, Georgia. The workshops include a lecture on the guidelines and a hands-on session with vendors to allow nurses to interact with products and to receive practical guidance on implementation. Because of generous support from industry partners, a free subscription to the e-book is available to participants. AORN looks forward to continuing the workshops in different topic areas. AORN is beginning work on guidelines for hand hygiene in the perioperative setting. It will be limited to studies in the perioperative setting and will have surgical hand scrubs as a main focus. Another new guideline will focus on the management of surgical smoke. Guidance regarding surgical smoke will be gathered from the AORN guidelines

for electrosurgery, laser safety, and minimally invasive surgery. AORN has an exciting new industry partnership to offer a surgical smoke certification program.

SIS

SIS is nearing the end of reformulating guidelines for the management of intraabdominal infections. They will be published within six to eight months. In parallel, IDSA is working on guidelines for intraabdominal infection. SIS is involved with that working group. The two guidelines will be complementary not competitive. The SIS guidelines focus on surgical technique, where the IDSA guideline emphasizes bacteriology, resistance, and other issues. With help from DHQP staff, SIS was able to host CDC representatives at its council meeting in Chicago, Illinois, in October 2015. The meeting included discussion regarding how SIS can partner with CDC. Two related projects were identified: how SIS can help build a curriculum for quality and safety officers who need to understand infectious disease and surgical infectious diseases and infections, such as CLABSI and CAUTI. Multiple members of SIS are interested in the concept of patient-gathered information, specifically in SSI, such as photography of wounds and image capture to feed into a post-discharge surveillance activity. This concept harnesses new technology and is exciting.

PHAC

PHAC is working on a number of guidelines. The guideline development process is being reviewed across the agency. A number of groups within PHAC develop guidelines in a range of areas. The review process will continue for the next six months. Canada held recent national elections. There was slower communication during the elections, so some guidelines were slightly delayed. Regarding emerging pathogens, PHAC is making small updates to the posted MERS-CoV guideline. There are no major changes to the recommendation; however, PHAC is considering the management of healthcare workers and patients exposed to a confirmed case as well as the management of asymptomatic healthcare workers and patients who are polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-confirmed for MERS-CoV. Several surveillance documents are available or are in development. A document on AMR organism surveillance from 2009-2014 was recently released. Regarding Ebola, a document will be released soon on infection prevention and control measures for pre-hospital care and ground transportation of patients with suspected or confirmed Ebola. The impetus for this document was the identification of gaps for medical first responders and paramedics. Core guidelines under development include the guideline on the prevention of transmission of bloodborne pathogens or viruses from infected healthcare workers to patients and the infection prevention and control guideline for personal services, such as tattooing and body piercing. Several guidelines have been developed for update: an update on the prevention and control of occupational infections in healthcare and an update on dialysis.

APIC

Infection Prevention Week in October 2015 was successful. APIC is partnering with AHA on their United Against Flu campaign. APIC has launched a new platform for its online text to make it more readable and to add navigation features. The CLABSI Implementation Guide is anticipated for release in November 2015. Additionally, a Long-Term Care Unit Guide will be released. This work came as a result of a grant from HRET. The *Prevention Strategist* Fall 2015 issue focused on many topics that are in the news, including the large listeria outbreak and the White House Forum on Antibiotic Stewardship. The Winter issue will focus on CHG and endoscope reprocessing crosswalks. APIC has completed its mega-survey on the state of the infection prevention profession. There was a high return rate from the survey, so APIC will be able to share information about demographics, organizational structure, competencies,

certification, and compensation for infection preventionists. The research committee will release an executive summary in 2016.

ASTHO

ASTHO has a number of ongoing activities related to monitoring HAI-related policies and initiatives, as well as legislative tracking. ASTHO is finalizing a web-based toolkit to support health departments as they work to access electronic health records (EHRs) for healthcare-associated outbreak assessments. This effort is based on an assessment of experiences and tools from 12 different states. ASTHO supports state health agencies as they conduct Ebola and infection control assessments through the federal ELC supplemental funding. Key activities include convening state team meetings to explore lessons learned, assembling an HAI outbreak response council, launching a website to share infection control and outbreak information and resources, developing and testing public health communications tools, and facilitating a workshop to refine roles and responsibilities and enhance coordination during outbreak responses.

Consumer's Union

Consumer's Union continues to work on AR issues. At the first National Action Plan for Combating Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria (CARB) meeting, Consumer's Union commented that patients are missing from the plan; Consumer's Union is calling for the plan to require hospitals to notify patients when outbreaks occur. Further, the plan should require hospitals to notify public health authorities when outbreaks occur. Two of the series of three articles on AR in Consumer Reports have been published. The third, which focuses on antibiotic use in farm animals, will be released on November 18, 2015 and in the January 2016 issue of the magazine. Consumer's Union conducted a successful experiment after the last ratings were complete. The dozen hospitals with the poorest scores on Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), CDI, and a composite infection score were contacted. Consumer's Union asked the hospitals for comment on their scores and about their plans to address them. Responses were received from several of the hospitals. Consumer's Union conducted a social media campaign about "the low-down dozen." The campaign was successful in securing commitment from the hospitals to engage in more activities to prevent infections. After two weeks of social media in their communities, all of the hospitals had responded to the questions. Their answers are posted on the Consumer's Union website. This effort is related to DHQP's TAP work, as the TAP approach is internal and passive. Consumer's Union believes that if the public is not involved in these efforts, hospitals will not act. Work on infection prevention issues has gone on for decades, and it should speed up. The work is challenging for many hospitals, but calling the community's attention to the ratings and how hospitals are progressing or not progressing is an important part of stimulating change. Consumer's Union will continue doing social media outreach in different ways and with different focus areas.

IDSA

IDSA remains active on a number of fronts related to infection prevention. Antibiotic stewardship and judicious use are a focus in a number of domains. Regarding implementation, S-FAR is an important initiative, and IDSA works with all partner organizations to develop improved implementation strategies and actions for the CARB plan. The focus is not only on human health, but also on animal health and agricultural uses. IDSA has active engagement in the proposed long-term care rule and opportunities to protect patients across the spectrum of care. Regarding education, the 2015 ID Week was successful. Educational offerings continue with IDSA partner societies and groups. IDSA maintains a robust list of infection prevention and stewardship-related practice guidelines. In the legislative realm, IDSA remains active in

targeting not only policies regarding stewardship implementation, but also in the Reinvigorating Antibiotic and Diagnostic Innovation (READI) Act, which is important because it highlights the vital connection between diagnostics and therapeutics regarding judicious antibiotic use. IDSA continues to engage the public at large regarding awareness of issues associated with antibiotic stewardship.

SCCM

SCCM's national meeting in February 2016 will include several sessions on antimicrobial resistance and stewardship in the critical care setting. Regarding sepsis, a study published in 2015 showed that fewer than half of Americans could identify sepsis as a disease, despite the fact that a similar number of people die of sepsis as die of heart attacks. SCCM was pleased that CDC Director Dr. Tom Frieden served as ambassador for World Sepsis Day in 2015. SCCM continues to support collaboratives on improving sepsis care outside the physical ICU, where a great deal of sepsis happens. SCCM is collaborating with the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESCIM) and has completed a revision of the sepsis definitions, which are out for organizational approval and publication process. The revision is quite different from the 2001 consensus criteria. For instance, systemic inflammatory response syndrome is not included in the definitional criteria. The Surviving Sepsis guidelines are under revision.

<u>Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA)</u> No report.

FDA

Regarding isolation gowns, FDA posted a guidance document in June 2015 requiring all manufacturers of the gowns that make Level 3 and Level 4 claims of performance to come into the agency for review for clearance. The comment period ended at the end of September 2015, and the manufacturers will be required to obtain clearance in the near future. They will not be allowed to market to anyone without that clearance. There will be a brief period in which marketing is allowed before the products are pulled to await clearance. Regarding duodenoscopes, the agency is actively working with the manufacturers of scopes as well as the manufacturers of sterilizing, reprocessing, and cleaning devices to determine whether the design of the devices allows for them to be cleaned as claimed. FDA is conducting its own testing to determine whether the devices are safe and effective, and whether there are problems with the design.

<u>CM</u>S

The CMS nursing home regulations have been released, and the infection control regulations are quite different from previous iterations. The Survey and Certification Group generally issues interpretive guidance of the broad regulatory language. The guidance gives facilities an idea of what will be required for compliance. Surveyors are also trained to assess compliance. CMS works closely with CDC on this issue and on piloting related initiatives. Further, CMS has been working with the Medicare Learning Network (MLN), an electronic communication platform that can disseminate either targeted or widespread messages in the healthcare community. Traditionally, the E-News messages focus on technical Medicare issues. The network is interested in adding quality and clinical issues to the messages. On October 22, 2015, the MLN E-News released an announcement, "New Survey Processes for Duodenoscope, Endoscopes, and Reusable Medical Devices." The announcement came after the release of CDC's health advisory and the multiple media reports about the issue with the duodenoscope. CMS has also seen disturbing survey findings on this issue as well. The announcement includes a link to the CDC advisory and a message supporting the advisory and describing how CMS is involved in

the issue. The announcement also describes new survey processes in which surveyors ask facilities specifically whether they conduct Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) or use endoscopes. The surveyors ask for the hospitals policies and procedures as well as the manufacturer's instructions. Surveyors are required to observe a scope reprocessing to ensure that the reprocessing is performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Another process is related to immediate use steam sterilization, which some facilities still use for routine sterilization. The announcement reiterates that immediate use steam sterilization is not for routine use for sterilizing reusable medical devices. Links are provided to a survey and documents that specifically address these issues, as well as hospital infection control worksheet with specific questions on device reprocessing. The surveyor training that CMS developed with CDC on infection control has been used to build educational products. Continuing education credits are available for these courses. The first course was on hand hygiene, and the most recent release includes new courses on environmental cleaning and injection safety. CDC is effective at communicating issues as they arise; these issues can be amplified with the MLN. Some of HICPAC's products may also be of use as educational products.

NIH

Since the last HICPAC meeting, NIH has continued efforts related to Ebola. No additional patients have been treated in the last year, but NIH follows the four patients who were treated. There have been some surprises that have added to knowledge about the natural history of the disease, both in patients who are seriously ill and in patients who are less ill. Providing care for these patients in the sophisticated environment of NIH's Clinical Studies Unit was a benefit. NIH continues to support the development of two candidate Ebola vaccines, and clinical trials are ongoing in West Africa. NIH continues its investigations into the ongoing transmission of Vancomycin-Resistant *Enterococcus faecium* (VRE) in its hospital. It may be possible, in a long-term longitudinal study, to contribute information regarding the healthcare-associated epidemiology of these organisms. NIH continues to study CRE following its cluster. No transmission has been detected in the facility since July 2012, but 23 new discrete isolates of CRE, all of which are genetically dissimilar from each other and from the outbreak isolate, have been discovered. Of the 23, 20 have the *Klebsiella pneumoniae* carbapenemase (KPC) gene. Whole-house surveillance for these isolates continues once a month. Surveillance is conducted once a week for every patient in the ICU and bone marrow transplant unit.

Society of Hospital Medicine (SHM)

Mr. Hageman presented the update from SHM, as the representative had a last-minute conflict and could not attend the meeting. SHM continues work with HRET on the prevention of CAUTI and CBI in hospital settings. Some of the CAUTI initiatives have expanded beyond hospitals to long-term care settings. SHM has continued work on antimicrobial stewardship. In addition to participating in the White House Forum in June 2015, SHM has committed to expand initiatives focused on education of their membership. In November 2015, SHM will launch a new campaign targeting its 14,000 members to improve antimicrobial use. The campaign will begin with a webinar launch on November 10, 2015. Additionally, SHM works with the Society for the Advancement of Blood Management (SABM) on an Anemia Prevention and Management Implementation Guides. SHM also works closely with the Choosing Wisely initiative and has published recommendations that guide hospitalists toward high-volume care in transfusion decision-making. Additionally, SHM has received funding to develop a QI initiative related to opioid medications SHM recently developed an implementation guide for reducing adverse drug events from opioids, and an online toolkit is in development. SHM has also developed an implementation guide for implementing a bundle for ICU delirium. It will be completed in mid-October 2016 and will be posted online.

Adjourn

Dr. Cardo recalled her presentation at the beginning of the day. She reminded everyone that CDC works with and through the HICPAC members, ex officio members, and liaisons. CDC and its federal partners provide funds to support initiatives of its partners; CDC also seeks new partnerships beyond funding to work together in different ways to improve the prevention of infections. She encouraged new initiatives and additional ways to work together.

With no additional comments or questions posed, Dr. Diekema adjourned the meeting for the day at 5:01 p.m.

Friday, November 6, 2015

The second day of the HICPAC meeting was called to order at 9:07 am. on Friday, November 6, 2015. Mr. Hageman called roll to establish quorum, HICPAC members restated their conflicts of interest, and he reminded those wishing to provide public comment to sign in.

Control of Antimicrobial Resistance Across Healthcare Settings

John A. Jernigan, MD, MS
Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Dr. Jernigan reported that DHQP has been moving toward more regional coordination for preventing the emergence and dissemination of multidrug-resistant (MDR) organisms in communities. The issue has been addressed in *MMWR* Vitalsigns™. He reviewed the rationale and findings of the report, which serves as a vision-setting document, realizing that not all jurisdictions are equipped to implement the approach. He hoped to hear perspectives from HICPAC and the liaison representatives regarding how to bring the vision to fruition.

The traditional approach to controlling healthcare-associated multidrug-resistant organism (MDRO) dissemination has been to encourage hospitals to implement infection control policies, procedures, and interventions independently. This independent approach in which each facility is siloed does not account for the very important contribution of inter-facility spread of organisms in and between healthcare facilities through the movement of colonized and infected patients. A more regionally coordinated approach would recognize the importance of this spread. Individual facilities are components of an integrated and dynamic network that is connected via patient movement. What happens in one facility may affect what happens in its neighbors.

This concept is demonstrated thoroughly in the literature. One investigation of a new introduction of KPC in Illinois carefully traced how the organism was introduced and spread within the facility. A long-term acute care (LTAC) hospital was at the center of this event. Many patients came to the facility carrying the organism, and it was amplified and sent out to various facilities in the community. If there was awareness of this interrelation, then interventions could have been targeted in even one acute care facility to have a significant regional impact.

Another recently-published article on an investigation of *C. diff* burden in California combined administrative coding data for *C. diff* in acute care hospitals with data on patient transfers between facilities. Major clusters of groups of hospitals that are tightly connected in terms of patient-sharing are depicted. Some facilities are tightly linked even though they are located geographically far from each other. The investigation considered the burden of *C. diff* in hospitals and found that the burden was related to the number of facilities from which they received patients. The outcome in the hospitals is influenced by connection networks.

DHQP has been asking whether there is an advantage to using a regional approach to MDRO prevention. DHQP also wonders what would happen if health interventions to reduce MDRO transmission were based on: 1) better situational awareness among an overarching body such as a health department; that is, if timely information were available on the incidence of MDROs from all facilities in a network; and 2) understanding of how facilities within a region are connected to each other in terms of patient transfer.

The division estimated the impact through mathematical modeling, which was published in the August 2015 *MMWR*. The division developed two complementary agent-based models in partnership with the University of Utah, which developed a 10-facility based model parameterized using transfer data from the VA healthcare system; and with a group from Orange County, California, which used their 102-facility model parameterized using real epidemiological data. The model results are shown as follows:

The project simulated the spread of CRE among patients in acute care hospitals, LTAC hospitals, and free-standing nursing homes in communities. The project then compared what would happen after introduction of CRE into these facilities according to three different approaches:

- Common Approach: the best estimation of current infection control activity and its effectiveness
- ☐ Independent Efforts: certain facilities in the region took extra efforts to address the problem of transmission of the organisms independently of each other and not in coordination with each other or the health department
- ☐ Coordinated approach: the coordinated, augmented approach was based on regional situational awareness and was targeted and implemented to be more efficient and effective.

Although there is some variation in the results, they share a message. In the 10-facility model, the status quo approach would expect to lead to region-wide CRE prevalence of approximately 12% in a five-year period. With independent intervention, the prevalence decreases to approximately 8.6%, and with coordinated facility intervention, the prevalence decreases to 2.1%, which represents a 74% reduction in prevalence. The Orange County model had similar results, with the status quo resulting in 15% prevalence, the independent facility resulting in 14% prevalence, and a coordinated approach resulting in 8% prevalence in a 15-year period. The models vary somewhat in their assumptions regarding timely access to granular facility-level information and facility-level triggers, but both models indicate that coordinated prevention approaches assisted by public health agencies have the potential to more completely address the emergence and dissemination of MDROs in comparison to independent facility-based efforts.

DHQP has taken practical steps to inform health departments regarding what they might do in their regions. The division has used Medicare data to examine Medicare patient transfer patterns in acute and long-term facilities. This work can identify networks of facilities that might be epidemiologically linked and considered units of intervention, or at least related to one another and placed on alert if a facility in the group has an outbreak of an MDRO.

A convenience sample from Washington and Oregon was used because the states have relatively few hospitals and densely-populated areas that are close to state borders. These regions and networks may not follow political borders, so facilities should think about their partners in neighboring states for coordination. The analysis defined a network as sharing greater than 100 Medicare patients within 30 days of discharge. Hospitals that are tightly related might be put on alert if one of them has an outbreak of an MDRO, and the hospitals might anticipate receiving high-risk patients and screen or be aware of them.

The division also retrospectively studied data from a partner health department that investigated an outbreak of New Delhi metallo- β -lactamase (NDM)-containing CRE in a hospital in the region. The outbreak was investigated thoroughly at the time. The division used the data to determine what might have happened if the networking data had been available. In the status quo, the facility experiencing the outbreak would be visited and told to improve infection control and to prevent transmission within the hospital. If the investigation had been able to take into account social networking data for related facilities that share patients, 22 hospitals would have been involved. They could have been made aware of the outbreak and cautioned to be aware of patients that transferred from the affected facility to take appropriate precautions.

Of the 22 hospitals in the network, 9 received a patient known to be infected or colonized with the MDRO. Of the facilities, 5 had additional outbreaks related to the transmission, and 4 additional facilities that were not in the network as defined also received patients. If transfer information had been coordinated, the facilities would have been aware of the outbreak. Since the outbreak, NDM organisms have been identified in another four hospitals in the state. It is not known whether those organisms are related to the initial outbreak. Of the 21 hospitals that were affected by the outbreak, 81% could have been identified using this information coupled with information regarding transfer of known colonized patients. It could be presumed, therefore, that using this information prospectively could help with effective response and stem emergence of dissemination of new and important organisms that are introduced in a community. DHQP is currently working with an active outbreak in a state that asked for this analysis. One hospital is involved, but the state plans to increase surveillance hospitals that are tightly-connected to it and to enhance communication upon transfer of patients from the index facility.

Although the Medicare data are readily available, and most states have access to state inpatient databases that include every admission of every patient, not every health department is in a position to generate these diagrams of networks. Other approaches can use information to improve coordination. The state of Tennessee has mapped annual incidence rates of *Klebsiella spp.* cases by county of residence.

A map like the one that follows from Tennessee can help target prevention resources in a manner that makes more sense than assuming that every county in Tennessee is equally affected by an isolate. The top three population centers in Tennessee are indicated by red asterisks on the map. It is worth noting that the *Kebsiella* cases are not concentrated there.

The implementation of a public health coordinated approach to antimicrobial resistance requires situational awareness across healthcare networks. The right data need to be available in order to identify and target problems. NHSN data are potentially useful in this regard, using the MDRO and Antimicrobial Use and Resistance (AUR) modules as participation increases in them. Steps may be taken to enhance participation in the modules to collect the needed data.

When problems are identified and recognized, interventions should be implemented in a coordinated fashion. CDC is providing guidance to health departments and hospitals and supporting states through the ELC cooperative agreement. There must be partnerships in the region itself to coordinate this work among acute care facilities, long-term care facilities, LTAC facilities, nursing homes, public health, and other entities.

Discussion Points

NACCHO commented on outbreaks in Florida, when facilities were hesitant regarding the social network approach because they do not want to know. A challenge at the local level regards how to engage hospitals and nursing homes to create a social network diagram proactively and to illustrate convincingly how the data could be helpful in an outbreak situation. Further, the local level struggles with not having access to experts to answer some questions regarding MDROs and complex outbreaks.

Dr. Jernigan replied that one strategy may be to share the initial example. These diagrams can be created without data from the hospitals themselves other than administrative sets that are already available. The facilities can be approached with the information regarding transfer links to other facilities and asked if they would like to be aware if a high-risk patient is coming to the facility from another facility in the midst of an outbreak. A hospital is likely to be interested in this information to avoid having NDM-CRE in the facility. He acknowledged that every health department does not have the expertise to do this diagramming. DHQP is trying to provide better resources to health departments. To the extent possible, DHQP can potentially provide support to health departments on an as-needed basis using at least Medicare data to create network diagrams. It is hoped that in the future, every health department will have the ability to perform this work.

HICPAC felt that this approach is a good direction toward understanding where these networks come from. The network diagrams are an important public health tool. To the extent that outbreaks are primarily known to public health and not to all facilities in a region, they are a good place to identify where to react first. It is important to note that patients often do not transfer directly from facility-to-facility, as they often go home or to another place before they are re-admitted. Direct transfers only account for approximately 10% of the patients that are shared in Orange County, California, for instance. The rates are slightly higher for LTAC facilities and nursing homes, but the links are not as tight as previously thought. Using networks to understand how facilities are most closely aligned, and being able to ask in the setting of an outbreak whether patients were in those facilities in the recent past, not just the direct transfer past, may be important. It would be instructive for the reports to be updated on a regular basis.

HICPAC asked for more information about the available data sources and a vision for data beyond Medicare that could inform this work. The tool is potentially powerful within a facility to understand unit-to-unit transfers as well.

Dr. Jernigan agreed that intra-facility movement is important to consider. DHQP uses the Medicare data in part because it is convenient and offers access to the universal population of Medicare recipients and every inpatient experience that they have. It also represents the highest-risk population. It will be critically important to compare the network analyses created based on Medicare-only data with analyses using all-payer data to determine whether the Medicare data is a good surrogate. Many states are using state inpatient databases, which have the same data, except for all payers within the state. There may be issues across state borders.

Almost all states collect a mandatory hospitalization line item data set that includes administrative data as well as a facility identifier. Many states have an encrypted identifier that is retained at the state level. This code can be used to track patients through the system. Some groups that do not have Social Security Numbers (SSNs), such as newborns, cannot be tracked this way. Patients are otherwise fully trackable. The states that do not use encrypted identifiers house information at the state level. These states could generate the nodal networks from that data. It is complicated to link this information to the Minimum Data Set (MDS), which requires nursing homes that receive Medicare to report on all of their residents.

It would be helpful to provide guidance to states stating the Medicare data set that is used and how to go about using it. The guidance could also describe other administrative data maintained by the state so that state health departments can request the data from the state to compare to the Medicare data.

Dr. Jernigan agreed and said that DHQP is early in the process and still learning about the best definition of "network" that is most epidemiologically important and helpful. The division can indicate some approaches that are useful now, but with more experience, more can be recommended regarding how to work with data.

This information is critical to controlling AMR. The idea of a regional collaborative network is a good one so that people in the network know each other and have periodic communications to share data and educational programs. When members of a network know each other, they are likely to feel comfortable sharing information about patient movement. The network concept could be part of the expectation for antibiotic stewardship participation that will be a Condition of Participation (CoP). This connection could answer the question of "what's in it for me" for nursing homes.

Although the models use specific interventions, such as active screening and isolation, Dr. Jernigan said that the models are agnostic to the intervention. Any intervention that will decrease transmission at a facility could be used.

Collaboratives share best practices. One institution learns from another. Dr. Jernigan said that on many fronts, collaborative intervention has been very valuable, particularly in situations in which occurrences at a neighbor's facility affect other facilities. Dr. Bell commented that the network modeling exercise showed some unexpected intensity of connection. He asked how this exercise might have led to the rebuilding or redesigning of collaborative relationships.

Dr. Jernigan described a collaborative in Vermont. It is a rural state with few hospitals. Because of the structure of their long-term care, those facilities tend to send their patients to the same hospitals, and vice versa, creating natural clusters. The collaborative organized their intervention into those intervention units. The acute care hospital and its associated long-term

care partners considered themselves the intervention unit. The work considers outcomes at the cluster level.

In Orange County, California, approximately 5000 MRSA isolates have been collected. Their genomics track tightly with patient-sharing, suggesting that the sharing of patients is related to the sharing of strains. There is a contract in place for regional intervention. Part of the modeling phase that will precede the intervention will take the networking links into account. It is voluntary for facilities to participate, but as groups are recruited, they are informed of the links between them and that direct effects and synergy can be detected more clearly depending upon how the groups are designed. Fully-enclosed groups can expect better gains than randomly-picked facilities. If a facility in a group decides not to participate, it is still possible to learn indirect effects. There are ways to be thoughtful about ways to glean information regarding how a group will gain more than an individual acting alone.

Dr. Bell said that there may be a role for state, local, and other health departments to broadcast information about the linkage networks of which facilities might not be aware. Sharing that information will not be threatening, but instead will be useful to end users.

Dr. Cardo said that Dr. Jernigan presented on this topic because many people are unaware of these networks, as they focus on interventions within their facilities. The modeling shows that even a strong program in an individual facility cannot prevent AR. Although the modeling was conducted for CRE, an emerging problem, the results are similar for endemic infections such as MRSA and *C. diff.* Regional collaborations are obviously important, but another aspect of this approach is targeted interventions. At times, an intervention at one facility with a higher burden can help many facilities. Focusing interventions for endemic as well as emerging infections can be more effective. She hoped to learn what might motivate a facility to join a networking initiative. The modeling shows benefit and there are examples of successful collaborations, but even with this evidence, health departments still have challenges in convincing facilities to join the concept. The success depends on having access not only to one or two hospitals, but also to the pathogens in order to guide targeting efforts. Health departments do not need to have all of the expertise. Partners, such as academic centers and professional organizations, can provide expertise. The network might not just be hospitals and healthcare facilities, but different organizations, with each playing a role.

CSTE commented that Tennessee has been very interested in this work. Understanding transmission dynamics was an item of high priority at an EIP meeting years ago. The state hospital discharge database now allows encrypted personal identifiers to be kept at the health department. When one of the Quality Boards from a large healthcare system in Tennessee was presented with the *Vitalsigns™* report, they were struck by the modeling and are engaging in additional work on CRE and antimicrobial stewardship. They are also meeting with public health and laboratory partners in a bordering state with which they share patients. Many of the population centers in Tennessee are near state borders, so they must think about their neighboring states. Understanding the connections is extremely helpful. CDC's hard work in this area is appreciated.

St. Louis, Missouri receives transfer patients from many states, particularly from Illinois. It is important for state departments to know how to access the data regarding patient connections. St. Louis could be a good setting for a first-step example for state departments to illustrate how the work could be done. The information could also be distributed to hospitals. State and local health department interactions, structures, lines of authority, and activity levels and penetration

into healthcare systems across states vary. Providing the information to infection prevention programs and hospital leadership is likely to be helpful. Regarding messaging of the guidance and rationale, it is important to show the networks without attaching them to a particular organism. The organisms of interest are likely to vary among hospitals. Further, this approach minimizes the possibility of assigning blame to a particular facility within the network.

There is momentum because of the $Vitalsigns^{TM}$. It was an important report for public health to begin to understand how to control these problems. The work is so important that it should not wait for a perfect approach. Health departments can build upon existing work and experience.

Dr. Cardo agreed that DHQP will not wait for perfection. They will do what is good enough, and then improve.

Focusing on building capacity at health departments is a good approach. The guidance should come to health departments as opposed to CDC creating a national model. It will be useful for states to determine their cross-border collaborations using that guidance.

Consumer's Union commented that the model is missing patients and their families in the model. They are the group that is most directly affected by these problems, and they can also carry information, informing facilities to which they are transferred about their colonization or infection status. Patients should be informed about these issues, whether they are returning home or going to another facility.

Dr. Jernigan agreed and said that one of the interventions in the model incorporated the broad concept of enhanced communication upon inter-facility transfer. There are many ways to improve that communication, and patients are an important part of it.

Facilities and health departments will be motivated to engage in this work if there is a "how-to" guide on assembling the data. Further, the communication issue is important, especially in reinforcing that this work is a team effort versus blame game. Orange County, California, has benefited from the local APIC chapter in messaging. Communication is important directly to consumers as well as through public health, APIC, SHEA, and other organizations to encourage a regional approach to problems that are broadly contagious.

ACOEM asked whether the models have been informative in clarifying the relative importance of direct institutional transfer versus a scenario in which a patient is transferred home and then readmitted to another institution after some time.

Orange County, California has a population of approximately 3.1 million. Patients who are admitted to a hospital have a 30% chance of being readmitted in the next year. Only half the time do patients return to the same hospital. Rates for nursing homes are higher. LTAC facilities have tighter direct transfers. A great deal of nursing home-to-nursing home sharing occurs, and there is also assisted living flow that is not captured. Data are needed to link these indirect pathways, or consumers need to be empowered to inform. That information should be captured systematically. There are many opportunities to improve communication linkages. Currently, the fastest method is to use state inpatient databases or Medicare data that crosses through nursing homes to understand what is happening in a region.

NACCHO commented that six years after the outbreak in Florida, the LTAC facility is still suffering from the trace back. If these systems and tools are going to be implemented, it is

critical to think about the repercussions. The health department could not help ease the financial burden on the facility. As these tools and capacities are constructed, careful thought should be given to messaging that the effort is not a blame game, but is for the betterment for all. Public health is likely not as prepared to do that as it should be.

Mr. Hageman said that the facility types where this work has begun are appropriate. The next steps might consider incorporating additional types of facilities, such as dialysis centers, with patients who come in and out multiple times per week.

Dr. Bell noted that this work describes risk of transmission and does not address how to shut the transmission of pathogens down. This work illustrates that infection control is not doing as perfect a job as it someday will in terms of preventing transmission at the bedside and within facilities and communities. A great deal of work remains to be done. Their target should be tracking as well as preventing.

HICPAC agreed and noted that in order to coordinate efforts, there must be something to coordinate.

NIH suggested that the ultimate communication solution may be electronic communication. It is a long way away, but they might think about how it might work. Mandatory electronic communication of pathogens when they are detected is one possibility. Often, patients are not detected until they are infected or when a culture is ordered because of suspicion of an infection. This approach provides superficial evidence of a much larger problem. For example, many patients have these organisms in their stool flora and the organisms will not be detected unless they are sought. It is also important to consider the role of the environment for these organisms. Little is known about how the organisms operate in the environment, whether they pass plasmids to one another or across species in the biofilm. This work presents a unique opportunity to make progress on horrid pathogens.

APIC commented on the role of collaboration for success. Healthcare organizations operate in a punitive system, with penalties of lack of reimbursement for HAIs. Somehow, all organizations need to want to participate in a collaborative effort without fear of retribution in order to be successful.

AEH agreed with concerns about financial repercussions when hospitals highlight these problems. Hospitals are asked to show connections between hospitals. Unless testing occurs at a facility, that facility may not necessarily be linked to an outbreak. If an outbreak is detected at a hospital that is tightly linked to an outside facility without that testing capacity, it may not be understood where the organism came from; yet, the linkages will be clear, and the financial penalties will be real.

VA noted that in an outbreak, it is usually possible to get cooperation because of fear. However, it is concerning that when there has been an outbreak, "you've already lost." The question is how to prevent the outbreak. Analyzing the number of patients who are transferred with an organism is also a loss, because most patients do not know if they have CRE because they are not sick from it. The burden of organisms is unknown. When conducting a risk assessment, a facility can determine from which facilities it receives the most transfers. Then, if it is known how much infection the facilities have, then the burden can be estimated. The time to intervene is before an outbreak. Hospitals need guidance regarding what to do with that information before there is a cluster of cases. Should patients who transfer from high-burden facilities all be swabbed, or put into isolation? Performing a nasal swab for MRSA is not usually problematic, but other kinds of swabs are more invasive and require ethical reflection. Knowledge is important, but using it for prevention is the essential next step.

Dr. Jernigan encouraged HICPAC to continue to think about how to overcome the barriers and to implement activities that are doable now as they move toward an ideal.

Sepsis Surveillance Definition Work Update

Anthony Fiore, MD, MPH
Chief, Epidemiology Research and Innovations Branch
Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Dr. Fiore updated HICPAC on the sepsis activities in which CDC has been participating. These activities have accelerated because of internal work, as well as work that is external to CDC. Initial care for sepsis has increasingly focused on intervention bundles, which include early-recognition issues such as better fluid and more timely fluid resuscitation, earlier initiation of antibiotics, and lactate levels. On October 1, 2015, CMS implemented a process measure known as "Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock: Management Bundle (NQF measure #0500)," or "SEP-1," in the Hospital Inpatient Quality Reporting Program (HIQR). This measure will focus attention on implementing these bundles.

Moreover, sepsis clinical definitions and interventions are currently in flux. A task force, convened by SCCM and ESCIM, has been working for some time on an evidence-based approach to identifying patients with infections that could lead to sepsis and severe outcomes earlier in order to implement the intervention bundles more quickly. This work is slated for release in 2016 and will allow clinicians to more easily identify cases earlier.

Sepsis is a final common pathway for many common infections. Without early intervention and optimal management, infections can lead to the adverse outcomes associated with sepsis.

Primary prevention focuses on preventing colonization or invasive disease, or prevention of an entry point for the pathogen. The second point is early recognition and diagnosis after the infection has already occurred. The third point, linked to the second, is optimizing the clinical management and treatment of the patient to avoid severe outcomes.

CDC and public health have a major role in the first step of primary prevention. CDC conducts epidemiologic studies and surveillance to inform prevention strategies. CDC uses outbreak response and analysis to inform prevention guidance and education. The agency also provides support for vaccine development and deployment, determining better ways to target vaccines to populations that are prone to developing severe outcomes after infections. Examples of CDC's primary prevention work include:

Preventing HAIs
Developing and leading antimicrobial stewardship initiatives
Supporting vaccine development and programs, which have prevented hundreds of
thousands of infections that could have led to sepsis
Peri- or post-exposure prophylaxis for invasive pathogens, such as Group B
Streptococcus in young infants
Preventing or reducing situations that put people at risk for infection: this work includes
the entire agency, even in the non-infectious realm, in areas such as better diabetes
identification and management

CDC engages in a great deal of sepsis-related communication. A variety of patient materials have been developed and released, particularly during September, which is Sepsis Awareness Month. These materials, such as fact sheets, provide simple information for consumers, patients, and clinicians to help them think about sepsis early. They describe the impact of sepsis and identify ways to intervene for sepsis early in the infection.

CDC collaborated with clinical partners and patient advocacy organizations during Sepsis Awareness Month in 2015. Other activities included a video from CDC Director Dr. Tom Frieden, a blog series on CDC's Safe Healthcare Blog written by people who had been personally affected by sepsis, and a Twitter chat. There were over 70,000 visits to the sepsis website during September.

A number of challenges are associated with identifying sepsis and tracking its burden. Sepsis is a difficult syndromic definition that is based on a clinician initially suspecting infection. There is no gold standard diagnostic test. Cultures are often negative among patients who meet sepsis criteria, and biomarkers are not adequate. Many patients who develop sepsis initially become ill in the community and have an initial encounter in an outpatient setting or the emergency department. There are concerns that the 2001 sepsis definition does not capture some cases and is not consistently applied by clinicians. Further, the Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome (SIRS) criteria are not specific enough and are not adequate to distinguish severe sepsis. The optimal bundled interventions are not defined. Death certificate data are problematic, given that this is dependent upon a clinician assigning sepsis as the underlying or contributing cause of death. Recent estimates of sepsis have relied on administrative claims data, but a variety of analyses suggest that there is increasing incidence of sepsis accompanied by decreasing mortality. This finding may imply that care is improving, but these changes are accompanied by no change or decreases in the incidence of typical underlying infections. Therefore, the change could be a result of coding becoming more effective at identifying sepsis, possibly driven by improved reimbursement for sepsis so that patients are now coded with sepsis who might previously have been coded with the underlying infection.

A recent study used national data between 2003 and 2011 to demonstrate that sepsis has more than doubled, while the underlying major drivers of sepsis, such as pneumonia, intraabdominal infections, and urinary tract infections (UTIs), are essentially flat of have decreased. Using EHRs and chart reviews, investigators have developed convincing evidence that the increase in sepsis is the result of clinicians and coders being better at recognizing and coding sepsis.

The field has recognized that several sepsis definitions are needed to address various key issues for clinicians. Early detection and implementation of interventions is important, so the definition needs to be sensitive and include elements that are easily captured during an initial clinical encounter. Research studies need a specific sepsis definition. For national surveillance, a definition is needed that is specific and consistent over time. To reduce the burden on reporting if there were national surveillance for sepsis, elements should be easily captured using EHRs. CDC can take the lead in this area.

CDC has been working with the Harvard Prevention Epicenter and partners to develop and test a surveillance definition based on electronic clinical data. This work is an extension of Harvard's previous work. Electronic surveillance definitions will be tested across multiple healthcare systems and hundreds of hospitals to determine how well they can consistently capture patients that have sepsis. The goals for Year 1 are to: 1) develop estimates of national incidence and mortality burden for sepsis and septic shock based on the EHR data; and 2) characterize trends in sepsis incidence and mortality.

CDC will continue work with critical care experts to establish groundwork for understanding the relationship between clinical definitions that are meant to capture sepsis at an early state and the surveillance definitions that will be more specific and stable over time.

CDC is also planning additional activities, including the following:

Conduct studies that will better define risk factors, microbiologic causes, preventable
fraction of sepsis cases to target prevention efforts
Assess sepsis definition candidates from the work of Harvard and partners that uses electronic clinical data to determine how they could be adapted for national surveillance
Continue engagement with critical care experts, clinicians, and the public to increase awareness of sepsis prevention and support and promote effective early intervention
measures
Work with partners to identify opportunities to improve and assess early intervention
impact, including antibiotic use, which may change based on early identification
Emphasize primary prevention programs, such as adult vaccination programs and work
on HAIs, that prevent infections that cause sepsis

HICPAC and its liaison representatives can support these efforts by increasing awareness of interventions within their organizations. When DHQP arrives at a surveillance definition, HICPAC can vet that definition.

Discussion Points

SIS asked about the emphasis that the surveillance definitions will place on actual documentation of the presence of bacteria or viruses. Many patients who are treated for sepsis have negative cultures and high antimicrobial usage. If the definitions are based on positive cultures, then the results will be different from the results of the current definition.

Dr. Fiore said that with an EHR definition, it will be possible to capture positive cultures. CDC is also interested in patients who enter into the sepsis treatment pathway. Many of those patients without positive cultures could be sepsis patients and could benefit from antibiotics and aggressive fluid resuscitation.

HICPAC noted that this point relates to research that still must happen regarding culturenegative patients who clearly have sepsis, and whether advanced molecular detection (AMD) and other approaches could provide more understanding. These approaches could detect pathogens that caused the initial illness if the patients are culture-negative because they have received antibiotics.

When new measurement systems are implemented, emergency medicine, hospital medicine, and ambulatory medicine should be involved. HICPAC cautioned DHQP to ensure that the modeling and data capture for the measures accounts for what happens when critical values are missing. When critical pieces of information are missing, there can be gaps in the electronic measures and in the patient's prognosis and severity of illness. In some cases, missing information can be a surrogate for the type of care that a patient is receiving.

Dr. Fiore pointed out that the CMS process measures will capture those points, as they assess which patients are missing values or received antibiotics and fluid resuscitation later.

SCCM said that Dr. Fiore elucidated the complexity of the issue clearly. With molecular methods, patients can be detected when they have an infection but are culture-negative. It is important to understand that the downside of not providing antimicrobials to those patients may be high from a mortality standpoint.

Ensuring Training and Competency of Healthcare Personnel in Infection Control

Michael Bell, MD
Deputy Director
Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion
National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Dr. Bell described DHQP's work in recognition of daunting realities in medicine. It is clear that infection control practice and understanding are not hand-in-hand in a broad range of facilities in the US. In hospital assessments of facilities of a range of sizes, there is a "ceremonial" approach to infection control and a belief system associated with personal protective equipment (PPE). In reality, a healthcare worker's actions need to be safe and correct in order to protect himself and patients.

This issue is related to a reduction in the amount of basic microbiologic training that is received as curricula in this area in nursing and medical schools have eroded. At the same time, there is an absence of focus on risk assessment. Risk assessment, whether of a device or another aspect of healthcare, is rooted in understanding potential sources of risk and following up on them.

Training in infection prevention was delivered at CDC in the past. That system ended in the 1990s because it is expensive, but it may be worth rethinking given the balance of cost and impact. DHQP is in the process of rethinking and reconsidering what type of training is needed in infection control and in improving the quality of healthcare. The training will not duplicate existing tools. The element of sustainability will be based on understanding. This training should include more than the usual groups. The focus on clinical staff alone is insufficient. There is increasing need for materials management and environmental services to be part of the group that is trained in risk assessment and infection prevention.

DHQP is establishing a new group to serve different needs, including training. It is important not to lose momentum in healthcare facility assessments. They are a valuable way to interact with local and state health departments to have a more robust connection with healthcare delivery. These connections can incorporate TAP assessments and facility review consultation in ways that can materially improve practices. Most facilities do not have the necessary expertise and resources that need to be brought to bear in a broad way, especially in nursing homes and other facilities where care is provided, but not enough measures are in place to maintain safety and infection control. The new group will include Kathy Dunn from PHAC to lead a team to focus on the training aspects of infection control. She has experience in the Canadian government as well as an ICU nurse and instructor.

The group will incorporate a guidelines group. DHQP is evolving its approach to guidelines, and the combination of training, guidelines, and consultation is a natural fit. The next steps in guidelines will not adhere to the former approach of taking years to write, in effect, a book. This timeline is not doable given the pace at which evidence moves. Rather, the guidelines will be

electronic and accessed and searched as a single body of information. The recommendations for the core elements that do not have evidence, do not need evidence, and will never change, will be codified separately from the recommendations that are expected to be updated. The new group will determine how to do that updating.

This work will include determining how to assess evidence more efficiently. The GRADE approach is not sufficient, and they are in the process of redefining the range of evidence to consider beyond RCTs to include retrospective studies, outbreak studies, and other examples of evidence that should be considered. The group will consider the range of available evidence and understand how the different types of evidence should be graded and weighted against each other.

Related to this effort is work in innovations in information technology (IT). DHQP is discussing tools such as full text review, natural language analysis, and other tools that can be part of a learning system. If this system can be applied to initial manuscript pulls for evidence reviews, then the process of answering specific questions based on evidence will speed up. The system could even incorporate some of the ranking processes that are conducted by hand. Further, data systems update periodically, so it might be possible to conduct a fresh search on relevant questions on a weekly basis. If so, at a certain threshold of either quantity or significance of evidence a list of questions can be brought forward for consideration. This process could be valuable not only in helping to answer questions, but in deciding which questions to answer first.

This process is different from past approaches, but it is likely to be more useful. The comfort level with using electronic information is increasing. There is an opportunity, as with NHSN data, for smartphone technology to be more useful for guidelines and recommendations.

Working groups of HICPAC require two HICPAC members to lead them, but they can include staff from DHQP, other federal colleagues, and outside experts. Working groups cannot directly make recommendations. Recommendations from HICPAC have to be presented during a public meeting. These meetings, whether held in person or via teleconference, are advertised in the *Federal Register* for three months. HICPAC members can participate on more than one working group, and the results of their deliberations are reported to the HICPAC co-chairs.

DHQP will provide a calendar of working group teleconferences and schedules. This approach will allow for segmental updates of guidelines with an eye toward eventual rolling updates prioritized by need and importance for patient safety. An interactive, transparent product is the goal.

Training should initially focus on risk management. This step is largely lacking in all training. CDC has contracts with many partner organizations, from ANA, APIC, and SHEA, to professional societies representing environmental services and materials management. Connections are strong with HRET and its membership groups. Unions also have significant reach to important groups. CDC will provide content to these groups and work with them to develop additional content, as well as endeavor to deliver the material effectively.

Risk assessment efforts will begin in clinical settings, as the immediate patient care environment is a reasonable place to start. It will extend to other elements of the environment. There could be different modules for different elements of care, such as waste handling or laboratory biosafety, in concert with other partners. This skill set is needed in all areas. The goal is to have

a training app available for download within one calendar year. This tool would be accessible to a range of people on their own time and could have widespread impact.

Discussion Points

HICPAC expressed support for the changes to the guideline editing and production process.

HICPAC members appreciate updates on the status of guidelines, as they are approached with questions by their colleagues.

Standardized training will be beneficial. Microbiology is extremely important. In many hospitals, consultants are cutting laboratory resources, including microbiology resources, which limits capacity and affects the timeliness and accuracy of susceptibility reports and has implications for antibiotic stewardship and resistance. The emphasis on microbiology in training and stewardship is appreciated.

Dr. Bell emphasized that all providers should receive training, not just infection control professionals or hospital epidemiologists. Determining how to measure competency in infection control is a challenge. HICPAC's input may be requested in the future regarding criteria that are essential components of demonstrating competency. Some of this work has been done by other partner associations. HICPAC can provide a broad perspective of how these criteria could work and link to health department oversight, licensure, and other issues. Regarding microbiology, having this expertise onsite is ideal for risk assessment. Discussions are ongoing regarding gram stains and other tools that are useful in certain clinical settings. As the ability to study organisms moves away from clinicians, they are less aware of them. Understanding of germ theory should be increased.

Summary and Work Plan

Dr. Diekema raised items that HICPAC is interested in moving forward:

Improving the initial risk assessment of medical devices, their infection control,
unintended consequences, the ability to ensure that manufacturers demonstrate efficient
and effective methods of cleaning, and a set of minimum standards for the evaluation of
these devices prior to marketing.
Duratidia a catalante de frances de frances de frances de la casa de la catalante de catalante de catalante de

☐ Providing a structure or framework for those who promulgate treatment guidelines to help them incorporate stewardship principles into the guidelines.

Dr. Bell hoped that by the end of November 2015, a list could be generated of elements for HICPAC to consider regarding medical devices. The co-chairs can deliver the list to HICPAC, which can share comments and additional considerations. These elements can serve as interim criteria and may be useful for other partners to use as a starting point.

Regarding stewardship and treatment guidelines, Dr. Bell said that having actionable recommendations for including phrases that meaningfully balance the dynamic between encouraging too much antibiotic use and doing the right thing for the patient in terms of the treatment and prevention of sepsis will provide a framework for myriad partner societies.

Discussion Points

Dr. Cardo suggested that the framework could begin with the principles provided by Dr. Hicks.

HICPAC discussed an issue that has arisen. The Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) has released a common rule change for Institutional Review Boards (IRBs) to the *Federal Register* for feedback. This proposed change is relevant to HICPAC members, liaisons, and ex officio members.

The draft guidance attempts to clarify what constitutes research oversight, QI, and public health authority. The change is intended to be helpful, but it is alarming where the line was drawn. As stated, the rule indicates that QI is restricted to only elements that check that a facility is appropriately implementing something that is already the gold standard. For instance, if a facility wishes to reduce *C. diff* rates, it could implement an activity that checks hand-washing, but it cannot implement an activity with the goal of reducing the rate of *C. diff*. Any activity examining the effective measure of the outcome itself falls under IRB jurisdiction.

For example, if sepsis is an outcome, the only permitted activity would be to check that a bundle is happening once the bundle is known. An activity cannot engage in innovative activities that are operational at a facility that could impact the outcome. These activities would be considered new science that falls under IRB regulation.

It is important for OHRP to hear from consumer groups and societies to protect the operational work that goes on for the greater good in response to the HHS action plan and to CMS mandates. The proposed rule change defines public health activities, which has been a subject of deep ethical debate for some time. Oversight and ethics are needed, but the proposed rule has drawn the line in a concerning manner. OHRP also defines that certain type of activities, such as outbreak response and emergency response, are public health domain. It states that determining risk factors for diseases is considered under IRB oversight. With this approach, a state health department cannot use NHSN or other data to define risk factors related to a disease in an area.

It is important for OHRP to hear from those in QI and public health to understand what has been considered operational and necessary to protect the well-being of patients.

OHRP received input from stakeholders to derive a reasonable determination of QI versus research. Some institutions have an oversight process for determining QI versus research projects. The proposed document is concerning, as it does not appreciate the basic tenets of QI: "Plan, Do, Study, Act." This approach allows for local interventions and evaluating process as well as outcome measures. The proposed rule cites a document about social science research as rationale for making the changes. All QI is local, and it is concerning for this document to be released without input from QI professionals. It is a threat to patients if institutions are not able to improve their processes and outcomes constantly.

Many facilities do not have IRBs.

Dr. Bell appreciated the information about the proposed rule. DHQP is determining whether HICPAC can make a formal statement about this rule as a committee. As individuals and independent scholars, they are free to make comments.

CSTE said that because of the tight timeline, it will be important to get input from different groups to ensure that the response is well-rounded from the public health and QI perspectives.

Public Comment

Dr. Diekema opened the floor for public comment at 11:23 am.

Robert Jones
Managing Partner
Energy & Environmental Enterprises, LLC

Mr. Jones addressed HICPAC representing Goldshield, a new water-based antimicrobial with a unique residual efficacy, which was referred to CDC by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). EPA has no existing protocol to test the long-term residual efficacy of antimicrobials. Goldshield currently has EPA and FDA approvals under the existing protocols and is just beginning to distribute these products in the US.

In the November edition of the *American Journal of Infection Control* (*AJIC*), there is an article discussing a nine-month clinical trial of this product at Oakwood Hospital in Michigan. One application every 30 days, in concert with once-a-day cleaning, reduced the bioburden 3 to 4 logs on the surfaces tested. An ideal application might also include privacy curtains or healthcare uniforms in hospitals and bed linens in extended-care facilities. The cost to deploy this material on surfaces is comparable to current practices. The product is beginning to be used with success in the United Kingdom National Healthcare System.

As healthcare leaders, Goldshield wishes to make HICPAC aware that there is a non-leaching, non-migrating technology with studies showing residual protection on surfaces, textiles, and equipment. It has not demonstrated any substantial evidence of genetic adaptation. It is also approved as a water-based hand sanitizer.

Even after a nine-month clinical trial, amassing over 60,000 cultures and 38 other evidence-based studies, healthcare facilities would benefit greatly from HICPAC's insight to help provide the guidelines and test protocols so that they can optimize this tool as part of a comprehensive program.

Dr. Diekema thanked Mr. Jones and noted the relevance of his comment to HICPAC's discussions regarding environmental contributions to infection prevention.

Adjourn

With no additional comments or questions, the HICPAC meeting adjourned at 11:25 am. The next meeting is scheduled for March 31-April 1, 2016.

Certification

	ledge and ability, the foregoing minutes of the care Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee,
Date	Daniel Diekema, MD or Deborah Yokoe, MD, MPH Co-Chair, Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee, CDC

Attachment #1: Acronyms Used in this Document

Acronym	Expansion
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
AAMI	Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation
AAP	American Academy of Pediatrics
ACOEM	American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine
AEH	America's Essential Hospitals
AGA	American Gastroenterological Association
AHA	American Hospital Association
AHRQ	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
AJIC	American Journal of Infection Control
AMD	Advanced Molecular Detection
AMR	Antimicrobial Resistance
ANA	American Nurses Association
AORN	Association of periOperative Registered Nurses
APIC	Association of Professionals of Infection Control and Epidemiology
AR	Antibiotic Resistance
ARTI	Acute Respiratory Tract Infection
ASC	Ambulatory Surgery Center
ASGE	American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy
ASHRAE	American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers
ASM	American Society for Microbiology
ASTHO	Association of State and Territorial Health Officials
AU	Antibiotic Use
AUR	Antimicrobial Use and Resistance
BSI	Bloodstream Infection
C. diff.	Clostridium difficile
CAD	Cumulative Attributable Difference
CARB	(National Action Plan for) Combating Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria
CAUTI	Catheter-Associated Urinary Tract Infection
CBI	Catheter-Related Bloodstream Infection
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CDI	Clostridium difficile Infection
CGI	Chlorhexidine Gluconate-Impregnated
CHG	chlorhexidine gluconate
CID	Clinical Infectious Diseases
CLABSI	Central Line-Associated Bloodstream Infection
CLSI	Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute
CMS	Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
CoP	Condition of Participation
CRBSI	Catheter-Related Bloodstream Infection
CRE	Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae
CRI	Catheter-Related Infection
CSTE	Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists
CUSP	Comprehensive Unit-based Safety Program
CVC	Central Venous Catheter
010	Certiful verious Catrieter

DFO	Designated Federal Official
DHQP	Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion
DoD	(United States) Department of Defense
ECDC	European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control
EHR	Electronic Health Record
EIP	Emerging Infections Program
ELC	Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity
EPA	(United States) Environmental Protection Agency
ERCP	Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography
ESCIM	European Society of Intensive Care Medicine
FAQ	Frequently Asked Question
FDA	(United States) Food and Drug Administration
GAS	Group A Streptococcus
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation
HAI	Healthcare-Associated Infection
HEDIS	Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set
HEN	
HHS	Hospital Engagement Network
	(United States Department of) Health and Human Services
HICPAC	Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee
HIQR	Hospital Inpatient Quality Reporting Program
HLD	High-Level Disinfection
HRET	Health Research and Educational Trust
HRSA	Health Resources and Services Administration
IAHCSMM	International Association for Healthcare Central Service Material
10115	Management
ICHE	Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
ID	Infectious Disease
IDSA	Infectious Diseases Society of America
IRB	Institutional Review Board
IT	Information Technology
KPC	Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase
LASIK	Laser-Assisted in situ Keratomileusis
- 	
LTAC	Long-Term Acute Care
М	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium
M MAC	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex
M MAC MAUDE	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience
M MAC MAUDE MDR	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Multidrug-Resistant
M MAC MAUDE MDR MDRO	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Multidrug-Resistant Multidrug-Resistant Organism
M MAC MAUDE MDR MDRO MDS	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Multidrug-Resistant Multidrug-Resistant Organism Minimum Data Set
M MAC MAUDE MDR MDRO MDS MERS-CoV	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Multidrug-Resistant Multidrug-Resistant Organism Minimum Data Set Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus
M MAC MAUDE MDR MDRO MDS MERS-CoV MLN	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Multidrug-Resistant Multidrug-Resistant Organism Minimum Data Set Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus Medicare Learning Network
M MAC MAUDE MDR MDRO MDS MERS-CoV MLN MMWR	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Multidrug-Resistant Multidrug-Resistant Organism Minimum Data Set Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus Medicare Learning Network Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report
M MAC MAUDE MDR MDRO MDS MERS-CoV MLN MMWR MOU	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Multidrug-Resistant Multidrug-Resistant Organism Minimum Data Set Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus Medicare Learning Network
M MAC MAUDE MDR MDRO MDS MERS-CoV MLN MMWR	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Multidrug-Resistant Multidrug-Resistant Organism Minimum Data Set Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus Medicare Learning Network Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Memorandum of Understanding Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
M MAC MAUDE MDR MDRO MDS MERS-CoV MLN MMWR MOU	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Multidrug-Resistant Multidrug-Resistant Organism Minimum Data Set Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus Medicare Learning Network Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Memorandum of Understanding Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus Maximum Sterile Barrier
M MAC MAUDE MDR MDRO MDS MERS-CoV MLN MMWR MOU MRSA	Long-Term Acute Care Mycobacterium Mycobacterium avium Complex Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Multidrug-Resistant Multidrug-Resistant Organism Minimum Data Set Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus Medicare Learning Network Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Memorandum of Understanding Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus

NCEZID	National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases
NDM	New Delhi metallo-β-lactamase
NEJM	New England Journal of Medicine
NHAMCS	National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Survey
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
NHSN	National Healthcare Safety Network
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NQF	National Quality Forum
NTM	Nontuberculous Mycobacterium
OHRP	Office for Human Research Protections
OR	Operating Room
PCORI	Patient-Centered Outcome Research Institute
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PFGE	Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis
PHAC	Public Health Agency of Canada
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
PPI	Protein-Pump Inhibitor
PSA	Public Service Announcement
QI	Quality Improvement
QIN	Quality Innovation Network
QIO	Quality Improvement Organization
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial
READI	Reinvigorating Antibiotic and Diagnostic Innovation
SAAR	Standardized Antibiotic Administration Ratio
SABM	Society for the Advancement of Blood Management
SCCM	Society of Critical Care Medicine
S-FAR	US Stakeholder Forum on Antimicrobial Resistance
SGNA	Society of Gastroenterology Nurses and Associates
SHEA	Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America
SHEPheRD	Safety and Healthcare Epidemiology Prevention Research Development
SHM	Society of Hospital Medicine
SIR	Standardized Infection Ratio
SIRS	Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome
SIS	Surgical Infection Society
SPU	Standard Polyurethane
SSI	Surgical Site Infection
TAP	Targeted Assessment for Prevention
UA	Urinalysis
UTI	Urinary Tract Infection
VA	(United States Department of) Veterans Affairs
VHA	Veterans Health Administration
VRE	Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococcus faecium
VTE	Venous Thromboembolism
WHO	World Health Organization
<u> </u>	

Attachment #2: Liaison and Ex-Officio Reports

Liaison Report HEALTHCARE INFECTION CONTROL PRACTICES ADVISORY COMMITTEE (HICPAC) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Mark Russi, MD, MPH

Organization represented: American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine

Interim activities and updates:

ACOEM annual meeting took place in Baltimore, Maryland, May, 2015. The College continues to place emphasis upon Wellness, Disease Management and Population Health management within workplaces. A range of presentations addressed medical center occupational health issues, including preparation of hospitals to care for patients with EVD and MERS.

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

Title	Date
Integrating Health and Safety in the Workplace: How Closely Aligning Health and Safety Strategies Can Yield Measurable Benefits	5/11/2015
Marijuana in the Workplace: Guidance for Occupational Health Professionals and Employers	4/14/2015
Guidance to Employers on Integrating E-Cigarettes/Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems Into Tobacco Worksite Policy	3/25/2015

In progress: Update of ACOEM Guidance for Occupational Health Services in Medical Centers (last published 2009.)

D 141	_4_4
Position	statements:

Genetic Screening in the Workplace	3/25/2015
Medical Clearance Guidelines for Ebola Care Teams in US Hospitals	2/11/2015
Legislation:	

ı	
Legislation:	
ACOEM Expresses Strong Support for Preventive Health Savings Act	10/23/2015
ACOEM Urges Congress to Fund Total Worker Health Program for 2016	10/7/2015
ACOEM Comments on FMCSA Proposal to Permit Insulin-Treated Diabetics to Operate CMVs without Obtaining Exemptions	7/16/2015
ACOEM Responds to SAMHSA Proposal to Include Oral Fluid Testing in Mandatory Guidelines for Federal Workplace Drug Testing Programs	7/15/2015
ACOEM Provides Comments to EEOC Regarding Proposed ADA Amendments	6/25/2015
ACOEM Responds to Senate Finance Committee Regarding Improving Care for Medicare Patients with Chronic Conditions	6/25/2015

ACOEM Urges Inclusion of Industry/Occupation Information for Certification in Meaningful Uses Stage 3	6/4/2015
ACOEM Comments on IRS Excise Tax on High Cost Employer-Sponsored Health Coverage	5/26/2015
ACOEM Urges House and Senate Appropriations Subcommittees to Fully Fund NIOSH ERCs	3/25/2015
ACOEM Comments on EPA Ozone Air Quality Standards	3/18/2015
Medical Organizations Urge Repeal of Medicare Sustainable Growth Rate	3/18/2015
ACOEM Joins Other Organizations in Expressing Concern Over Implementation of ICD-10	3/6/2015
ACOEM/Washington State Urge Prioritizing Secondary Prevention at NIOSH	2/9/2015
ACOEM Joins Consortium to Support Tobacco Control Act	2/4/2015
ACOEM Comments on Graduate Medical Education Program	1/19/2015

Campaigns and related activities:

Press activities:	
Brent Pawlecki, MD, MMM, Honored with 2015 Global Leadership in Corporate Health Award	10/14/2015
Focus on Well-Being Improves Worker Health While Lowering Costs	10/14/2015
Program to Reduce Work-Family Conflict Pays for Itself	9/9/2015
Job Strain Linked to Increased Sick Leave Due to Mental Disorders	8/12/2015
'Farm-to-Table' Model Shows Occupational Health Risks in Food Industry	7/13/2015
Rheumatoid Arthritis Carries High Costs for Employers	6/11/2015
ACOEM Installs New Officers and Directors at AOHC 2015	5/12/2015
Dr. Glenn Pransky Receives ACOEM's Health Achievement Award	5/12/2015
Dr. Natalie Hartenbaum Receives ACOEM's Meritorious Service Award	5/12/2015
Dr. Paul Brandt-Rauf Receives Highest Honor in Occupational and Environmental Medicine	5/12/2015
Mark A. Roberts, MD, Principal Scientist for Exponent, Inc., Named ACOEM President	5/12/2015
Renowned Medical Educator Judith Green-McKenzie Receives ACOEM's Excellence in Education/Research Award	5/12/2015
Researchers Honored for Outstanding Contribution to Medical Literature on Costeffective Treatment for Low Back Pain	5/12/2015
Researchers Honored for Outstanding Contribution to Medical Literature on the Costs of Obesity Among Employees	5/12/2015

Investing in Community Health — What's the Business Case?	5/11/2015
ACOEM and UL Propose New Framework for Integrating and Measuring Health and Safety Programs in the Workplace	5/7/2015
Major Occupational Health Groups Publish Guidance for Employers on the Impact of Marijuana in the Workplace	4/14/2015
When Health Risks Go Down, Worker Productivity Goes Up	4/9/2015
National Economy Is Best Predictor of Job Satisfaction	3/6/2015
ACOEM Releases Guidelines for Medical Clearance of Ebola Caregivers	2/20/2015
Which Conditions Show Reduced Costs with Disease Management?	2/8/2015
Low Levels of Libby Asbestos Exposure Linked to Lung Abnormalities	1/7/2015

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Ex-officio name: Michael McElroy, MPH, CIC

Organization represented: America's Essential Hospitals

Interim Activities and updates:

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

Position Statements:

In August, four national hospital organizations, including America's Essentials Hospitals, collaborated on a <u>letter urging the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) to suspend plans to implement an inpatient quality reporting measure for severe sepsis and <u>septic shock management</u> that conflicts with the principles of effective antimicrobial stewardship.</u>

Legislation:

Campaigns and related activities:

- America's Essential Hospitals has concluded its formal engagement with member hospitals as a Hospital Engagement Network as part of the Partnership for Patients (PfP). In June, we provided hospitals a CAUTI, CLABSI, and SSI data report, through the Essential Hospitals Engagement Network (EHEN), stratified by age and gender to help hospitals identify potential disparities in care. In August, we provided hospitals with a days between hospital-acquired infections report to help hospitals identify high and low performing units and demonstrate improvement when events are rare and infrequent.
- As part of Sepsis Awareness Month, America's Essential Hospitals hosted a "Reducing Sepsis, Saving Lives" webinar on September 2 that highlighted the work of two hospital members who have reduced sepsis shock and mortality, as well as shared useful tools for addressing sepsis. <u>Successful sepsis reduction case studies from members</u> were also featured on America's Essential Hospitals' website in September.
- America's Essential Hospitals has signed on to the <u>Foundational Principles of the U.S.</u>
 <u>Stakeholder Forum on Antimicrobial Resistance (S-FAR)</u>, convened by the Infectious
 Diseases Society of America (ISDA), to support the principles that:
 - o antimicrobial resistance (AR) is an urgent problem and the U.S. should be a leader in a multi-pronged effort to reduce the negative impact on human, animal, and plant health:
 - the U.S. needs a national plan to address AR with measurable goals, timelines, and mechanisms for accountability;
 - the U.S. AR action plan must be informed by formal, substantive, and regular engagement with non-government experts and stakeholders, and government alone cannot effectively address the problem of AR; and
 - o stakeholders from all industries are critical partners who can help inform policy and create awareness.

Press activities:

International Infection Prevention Week (IIPW) – Oct. 18-24 – America's Essential Hospitals
once again took part in IIPW, with this years' theme being the engagement of patients and
families in infection prevention. Targeted communications were shared with our members and
the public via social media and our website to draw attention to IIPW resources and materials,
such as consumer and health care professional "pledges" designed to be a public display of
advocacy for infection prevention as well as hand hygiene materials.
Publications:

Other items of note:

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Ex-officio name: William B. Baine, MD

Organization represented: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Interim Activities and updates:

National Action Plan for Combating Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria (CARB)

The CARB National Action Plan calls on AHRQ to support research to develop improved methods and tools for combating antibiotic resistance and conducting antibiotic stewardship activities in long-term care, ambulatory care, and acute care hospitals. In FY 2015, AHRQ more than doubled its investment in CARB-related research as compared to FY 2014. Previous AHRQ-supported research in this area has produced significant results: e.g., funding a study, conducted collaboratively with CDC, that demonstrated the most effective method for preventing MRSA transmission in ICUs, and the production of a toolkit for antibiotic stewardship programs to prevent Clostridium difficile infections. AHRQ also developed a guide for implementing antibiotic stewardship programs in nursing homes, which is currently being field-tested and is expected to be widely available in late 2016. AHRQ and CDC are also planning a meeting of experts and stakeholders to identify knowledge gaps for preventing antimicrobial-resistant healthcare associated infections (HAIs) and to identify potential interventions. Melissa Miller recently presented AHRQ's progress and on-track status on the milestones to the Presidential Advisory Committee on Combating Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria. AHRQ, CDC, CMS, and OASH are also collaborating to accelerate the implementation of antibiotic stewardship programs in hospitals.

AHRQ Safety Program for Reducing CAUTI in Hospitals

AHRQ's 4-year project to promote the nationwide implementation of the Comprehensive Unit-based Safety Puerto Rico. 550 intensive care units (ICUs) participated in the main project, and 379 participated in an ICU-specific cohort. Interim data have shown substantial reductions in CAUTI rates. CAUTI rate reductions have been greater in non-ICUs vs. ICUs in the main project. Final results will be available in December 2015.

AHRQ Safety Program for Surgery

This 4-year project to promote development of a surgical unit-based safety program to reduce surgical site infections and other surgical complications reached completion in September 2015. This project has recruited 5 cohorts comprising 197 hospitals and 376 surgical teams across 37 states. Included in the project is an ethnographic study which qualitatively examines the factors associated with successful implementation of a safety improvement program in the surgical environment. We anticipate announcement of results in late 2015. AHRQ Safety Program for Mechanically Ventilated Patients

This 3-year project aims to increase the safety of mechanically ventilated patients by reducing ventilator-associated complications (including ventilator-associated pneumonia) through promoting use of a set of evidence-based practices in these patients. The project has thus far recruited 255 units in 200 hospitals across 34 states, Puerto Rico, and Saudi Arabia and will reach completion in Fall 2016.

AHRQ Safety Program for Ambulatory Surgery

This 4-year project aims to improve safety and reduce complications including surgical site infections in ambulatory surgery centers and has thus far recruited 662 centers in 46 states including one cohort specifically focused on endoscopy centers. Two issues that will be

addressed for the endoscopy cohort are adequacy of scope cleaning and safety of sedation/anesthesia. This project will reach completion in Fall 2016.

AHRQ Safety Program for Long-Term Care: Preventing CAUTI and Other HAIs

This 3-year project aims to reduce catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTI) and other HAIs in long term care facilities by adapting CUSP to this setting and by promoting broad implementation through State-based or regional consortia/collaborative efforts. To date, more than 500 long-term care facilities across the United States are participating, and recruitment is continuing. The project will also reach completion in Fall 2016.

AHRQ Safety Program for ICUs: CLABSI/CAUTI

Initiated in September 2015, this 1.5 year project aims to reduce central-line associated bloodstream infections (CLABSI) and catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTI) in intensive care units with persistently elevated rates. This is a follow-up to AHRQ's nationwide projects of CUSP for CAUTI and CUSP for CLABSI. Implementation strategies tailored to this group will be developed, including a modified set of CUSP training resources.

<u>2015 AHRQ Research Conference: Producing Evidence and Engaging Partners to Improve Health Care</u>

AHRQ held its national research conference, co-hosted by Academy Health, at the Crystal Gateway Marriott in Arlington, VA October 4-6. Among the sessions were three focused on healthcare-associated infections and antibiotic resistance:

- 1. Combating Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria (CARB): AHRQ's Role and Activities in the White House-Mandated National Enterprise
- 2. Comprehensive Unit-Based Safety Program (CUSP) for Catheter-Associated Urinary Tract Infection (CAUTI): Detailed Results of the AHRQ Nationwide Implementation Project
- 3. Spreading the Successful CUSP Model to Other HAIs and Settings (inpatient surgery, ambulatory surgery centers, and mechanically ventilated patients)

ப	COL	tınr	n ct	2ta	me	ntc:
	usi	11()1		a_{1}		

Legislation:

Campaigns and related activities:

Press activities:

Publications:

Han JH, Sullivan N, Leas BF, Pegues DA, Kaczmarek JL, Umscheid CA, "Cleaning Hospital Room Surfaces to Prevent Health Care-Associated Infections: A Technical Brief," Ann Intern Med. 2015 Oct 20;163(8):598-607.

Other items of note:

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Amber Wood Organization represented: AORN

Interim activities and updates:

Hot Topics

- Public Comment on Guidelines for Flexible Endoscopes
- Working with ANA to have perioperative RN representation on antimicrobial stewardship focus groups

Upcoming Events

- AORN Surgical Conference & Expo 2016, April 2-6, Anaheim, CA
 - o OR Executive Summit™/Leadership Development Summit™
- Nurse Executive Leadership Series, multiple dates and cities
- Guideline Implementation Workshop, November 14, 2015, Atlanta, GA
 - o Content focused on Staff RN, \$45 (Breakfast & Lunch included)
 - o FREE Guidelines for Perioperative Practice e-book!
 - o Topics: Environmental Cleaning, Surgical Attire, Positioning, & Surgical Smoke
 - o AORN Guideline Implementation Workshops Atlanta

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

- AORN guidelines are available in print and through electronic access (e-subscription and e-book). Information on how to obtain can be found at www.aorn.org.
- The 2015 Guidelines for Perioperative Practice include 8 new evidence rated guidelines: Safe Environment of Care Part 2, Specimen Management, Preoperative Patient Skin Antisepsis, Surgical Attire, Care and Cleaning of Surgical Instruments, Surgical Tissue Management, Local Anesthesia, and Complementary Care Interventions.
- Available electronically now (will be in 2016 book): Radiation Safety
- Guidelines in development: Prevention of Unplanned Hypothermia, Prevention of Retained Surgical Items, Flexible Endoscopes, and Moderate Sedation.

Position statements:

Available at http://www.aorn.org/Clinical_Practice/Position_Statements/Position_Statements.aspx Legislation:

The AORN legislative priorities for 2015 are RN as circulator, preserving and protecting the Perioperative Registered Nurse's scope of practice, supporting workplace safety and patient safety initiatives, and advancing positive health care improvements.

Campaigns and related activities:

Sharps Safety Campaign

Press activities:

Recent AORN press releases can be accessed at www.aorn.org.

Publications:

2015 Guidelines for Perioperative Practice, AORN Journal, Perioperative Job Descriptions and Competency Evaluation, & Perioperative Policies and Procedures

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Michael Anne Preas

Organization represented: Association for Professionals in Infection Control and Epidemiology

(APIC)

Interim activities and updates:

• Resource developed: "Dos and Don'ts For Wearing Masks in Non-Surgical Healthcare Settings" aimed at educating health care workers on use of respiratory personal protective equipment (PPE). APIC solicited input from the Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN), and Association of Occupational Health Professionals (AOHP) on content. The following organizations have agreed to help disseminate the resource: AOHP, AORN, AHA, ANA and CDC.

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

• APIC Board supported and endorsed <u>Joint Interim Guidance on HVAC in Operating Room and Sterile Processing Departments</u>, developed by a taskforce representing multidisciplinary group representing not only APIC but also, the American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE), the American Society for Healthcare Engineering (ASHE), the Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation (AAMI), the Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN), and the Facility Guidelines Institute (FGI).

Position statements:

Legislation and regulatory activities:

- Sent letter to U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Energy and Commerce opposing repeal of the Prevention and Public Health Fund.
- Joined Trust for America's Health and other organizations to support federal paid sick leave legislation.
- Joined Pew Charitable Trusts and 22 other organizations in support of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services proposed rule that would require long-term care facilities to have antibiotic stewardship programs.
- Joined Infectious Diseases Society of America and other allied organizations in supporting antibiotic development tax credit legislation.
- Submitted comments to FDA on Draft Guidance for Industry on Liquid Barrier Claims on Gowns Used in Healthcare.
- Submitted comments to CMS on End-Stage Renal Disease Prospective Payment System update.
- Submitted comments to CMS on Hospital Outpatient Prospective Payment System and ASC Payment System updates.
- Submitted comments to CMS on Home Health Agency Prospective Payment System update.
- Submitted comments to CMS on Physician Fee Schedule updates for 2016.
- Submitted comments to CMS on Reform of Requirements for Long-Term Care Facilities.
- Submitted comments to NQF on infection-related provisions in the Patient Safety Report

2015.

Submitted comments to FDA on healthcare antiseptics tentative final monograph.

Campaigns and related activities:

- Held successful observance of International Infection Prevention Week, October 18-24, which is a year-round awareness effort through the broader "*Infection Prevention and You*" umbrella campaign.
 - 2015 focus: engaging consumers, patients, and healthcare providers around infection prevention
 - o Re-designed *Infection Prevention and You* website
 - Organized Twitter chat in partnership with the American Hospital Association with 25 other partner groups to discuss the important roles that patients, families and healthcare professionals play in preventing infections.
 - Created and promoted new <u>Clean hands stop germs</u> materials that help patients and providers talk about hand hygiene
 - o Orchestrated a "Clean hands stop germs" social media <u>Thunderclap campaign</u> with 174 supporters, reaching an audience of 485,000.
 - Created and promoted an infection prevention pledge for <u>healthcare professionals</u> and <u>patients and families</u> that asks them to commit to actions that will help protect patient safety. Available in English and Spanish.
 - Developed light-hearted <u>polls</u>, <u>quizzes</u> and memes for easy sharing on social media and to engage more consumers
 - o Designed new infection prevention eCards for electronic sharing
 - o Created campaign toolkit with template materials for easy sharing and posting
 - o Recruited 60 association partners and 3 corporate champions
 - Published blog post on CDC Safe Healthcare blog and NFID blog; press releases
- Partnered with AHA on the "United Against Flu" campaign

Press activities:

- Issued press statements related to key infection prevention milestones and initiatives:
 - Undertook a survey of APIC members to assess preparedness a year after the U.S. Ebola crisis. Issued press release highlighting results showing that 9 in 10 IPs surveyed feel more prepared to deal with a patient with a lethal infectious disease than a year ago.
- Issued press releases on new APIC resources:
 - o APIC's new Graduate Student Award
 - o Updated infection control certification study guide
 - o New infection prevention manual for construction and renovation
 - o New hand hygiene implementation guide
- Issued press releases on key articles in APIC's scientific journal AJIC. Topics included:
 - Persistent contamination on colonoscopes and gastroscopes despite reprocessing performed in accordance with guidelines
 - o Simplified handwashing program improves hand hygiene and school absenteeism
 - o Grade school disaster and biological event preparedness
 - Impact of Clostridium difficile-associated diarrhea on acute care length of stay, hospital costs, and readmission

Publications:

- APIC Text Online (ATO)—launched a new online platform in October 2015. The new platform has enhanced readability and other navigational features.
- Two publications are anticipated for a November 2015 release:
 - CLABSI Implementation Guide (downloadable publication)—anticipated in November 2015

- Long-Term Care Unit Guide (downloadable publication)—completed under a grant from HRET, this publication has a tentative release date of November 2015.
- Consumer e-bulletins focused on:

August: <u>Herd Immunity</u>September: Sepsis

o October: Flu season and masks

o November: Germy gloves and scarves

- Fall issue of *Prevention Strategist* featured articles on the Blue Bell ice cream listeria outbreak, the White House Forum on Antibiotic Stewardship, CMS revisions to ASC surveyor worksheet, HAP prevention outside of the VAP bundle, *Acanthamoeba*, and *Coxiella burnetii*.
- Winter issue of *Prevention Strategist* will feature articles on CHG and endoscope reprocessing crosswalks, infection prevention staff education, handling infection prevention emergencies, process improvements, *Streptococcus pyogenes*, and Ebola fighter stories. Other items of note:

Update on the APIC *MegaSurvey: State of the IP Profession*: Survey received a 31% return rate. The high volume of returns – 4,062 out of 12,900 – creates a solid basis for higher predictive value. APIC plans to produce three to four reports that will provide benchmarking data on IP demographics, organizational structure, competencies and certification, and compensation. These reports will be made available for purchase along with an online version that will provide more customized reports. The APIC Research Committee will produce an executive summary in the *American Journal of Infection Control* in 2016.

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Emily Lutterloh, MD, MPH

Organization represented: Association of State and Territorial Health Officials (ASTHO)

Interim activities and updates:

ASTHO is working in collaboration with CDC to develop tools and collect best practices for state HAI prevention.

ASTHO is finalizing a web-based toolkit to support health departments in accessing electronic health records for healthcare-associated outbreak investigation. The toolkit is based on an assessment of experiences and tools from twelve states.

ASTHO is also supporting state health agency HAI/AR programs as they conduct Ebola and infection control assessments through federal ELC supplemental funding. The objectives of this project are to: 1) facilitate coordination and implementation of Ebola-related activities for effective and sustainable HAI programs; and 2) accelerate capacity building around healthcare infection control assessment and outbreak response. Key activities include:

- Convening state teams meetings to explore lessons learned regarding ELC supplemental funding activities
- Assembling an HAI outbreak response council, which will provide leadership, align messages, and identify priorities for states
- Launching a website to share infection control & outbreak information, tools and resources
- Developing and testing public health communications tools
- Facilitating a workshop to refine roles & responsibilities and enhance coordination during outbreak responses

Ongoing:

ASTHO monitors developments in HAI-related policies and initiatives, shares this information with members, represents the state health agency perspective, and enhances collaboration with partners. ASTHO participates on the Safe Injection Practices Coalition, CSTE HAI Subcommittee and HAI Standards Committee, and National Healthcare Safety Network Steering Committee Workgroup.

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

Position statements:

Legislation:

Ongoing: Real-time state HAI legislative tracking on ASTHO's website, available at www.astho.org/state-legislative-tracking/

Campaigns and related activities:

Ongoing: ASTHO provides information to health officials on pertinent HAI issues through conference calls (All S/THO Call) and the *State Public Health Weekly* newsletter.

Press activities:

Publications:

ASTHO's HAI Publications are available at www.astho.org/Programs/Infectious-Disease/Healthcare-Associated-Infections/

Other items of note:

Meeting Date: November 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Lisa McGiffert

Organization represented: Consumers Union, the advocacy arm of Consumer Reports

Interim activities and updates:

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

Position statements:

Following the work of the Council on Combatting Antibiotic Resistance. Attended the CARB Council's first meeting in DC and provided comments on several issues: (1) mandating accountable antibiotic stewardship programs that includes public reporting of antibiotic use and antibiotic resistant infections by the end of 2016; (2) requiring hospitals to notify affected patients and public health authorities when outbreaks occur.

Continue to follow the issues relating to duodenoscope contamination with CRE. Submitted comments to CMS in support of proposed long term care antibiotic stewardship programs.

Legislation:

Held a lobby day in Congress with activists from around the country, focusing on concerns with proposals that would weaken the clinical testing of antibiotics and calling for antibiotic stewardship programs to be part of any proposals to change the what antibiotics are approved.

Communicated with key Senators deliberating on the budget regarding the need to fund CDC's proposals to fight antibiotic resistance.

Campaigns and related activities:

Press/Social Media activities:

After publishing Consumer Reports hospital ratings relating to MRSA and *C. difficile* and a composite infection measure, we identified the dozen hospitals with the lowest ratings on all three measures. We reached out to each hospital to ask several questions: *Are there specific reasons that your infection rates were higher than average during the time period of Oct 2013- Sept 2014? Do you have an antibiotic stewardship program? Do you have a specific program on infection control? Have you made any changes since the period covered in the ratings? Do you have any additional comments?* Then we published the responses received in a blog, along with their ratings. Then we conducted a two-week Twitter campaign to raise awareness in their local areas and with local media. The effort was very effective in getting every hospital to respond about how they are or plan to improve infection control.

Publications:

The final article in the Consumer Reports' series on antibiotic resistance will cover antibiotic use in farm animals. It will be available November 18 (the January magazine). The other two articles including a primer on antibiotic resistance and focused on outpatient issues and hospital infections, including hospital ratings including on MRSA and *C.difficile* are available at http://www.consumerreports.org/cro/health/the-rise-of-superbugs/index.htm.

Other items of note:

Meeting Date: Nov 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Marion Kainer

Organization represented: Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists (CSTE)

Interim activities and updates:

Archive of conference presentations from 2015 annual conference available at: https://cste.confex.com/cste/2015/webprogram/start.html

2016 annual conference will be held in Anchorage, Alaska, June 19-23; Abstracts close Jan 6 additional information: http://www.csteconference.org/2016/

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

- ➤ CSTE Survey sent out to state HAI coordinators to better understand healthcareassociated infection (HAI) program's infection prevention and control and drug diversion investigation resources, capacity and experience. The information will be used to determine your state HAI program's needs and interest in expanding activities in these areas and to identify gaps. Survey due date to CSTE is Nov 6.
- ➤ The CSTE/CDC HAI Data Analysis and Presentation Standardization Toolkit developed in response to http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/PS/13-ID-02.pdf should be posted/ disseminated shortly.

Toolkit Table of Contents:

- Toolkit Introduction
- o Methods for Composing HAI Reports
- Template Report for Consumers
- o Template Report for Providers
- Other Considerations
- o Data Tables
 - Infection Summary Table
 - Infection Tables for Consumer Report
 - Infection Tables for Technical Report
 - Summary Data Table for Hospital Process Measures
 - Healthcare Worker Influenza Vaccination Summary Table
- Technical Resources
- Report Dissemination Strategies
- o Toolkit Conclusions
- Workgroup Members and Acknowledgments
- CSTE Position Statement: Data Analysis and Presentation Standardization Toolkit (13-ID-02)
- References
- ➤ The CDC-CSTE Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance Taskforce (v 2.0) will likely be launched in January 2016 in response to CSTE PS 13-SI-01: "Recommendations for strengthening public health surveillance of antimicrobial resistance in the United States" http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/PS/13-SI-01.pdf. Earlier efforts were much more limited in scope and were derailed because of Ebola response. This new taskforce likely will have liaison positions with professional societies such as SHEA, APIC,

APHL

- ➤ Reportable Conditions Knowledge Management System (RCKMS) is an authoritative, real-time portal to enhance disease surveillance, by providing comprehensive information to reporters (and PH) about the "who, what, where, when, why, and how" of case reporting. It consists of (1) an authoring interface- a web portal where jurisdictions can enter, edit, and manage their reporting criteria into a centralized tool; (2) a Public Health Decision Support (PHDS) service, hosted centrally that reporters can automatically query to determine if a potential case is reportable, to where etc... The PHDS will have a list of trigger codes to initiate a call from an EHR system to the PHDS; a payload message to PHDS (the electronic initial case report- elCR); and a return message from PHDS "Notice of Reportablity"-Yes/No/Maybe. This project is now entering a content vetting phase by public health subject matter experts.
- ➤ Discussions are currently underway to create a Council to Improve Healthcare Associated Infection Outbreak Response (exact name to be determined). This would be very similar to the Council to Improve Foodborne Outbreak Response (CIFOR)- see http://www.cifor.us/. CIFOR is a multidisciplinary working group convened to increase collaboration across the country and across relevant areas of expertise in order to reduce the burden of foodborne illnesses in the US. The mission of CIFOR is to improve methods as the local, state and federal levels to detect, investigate, control, and prevent foodborne disease outbreaks. Governance structure and bylaws for the HAI council are under discussion; likely will be cochaired by CDC and CDC. Expect to reach out to multiple professional organizations such as APIC and SHEA to be partners of the council and/or to participate in workgroups.
- > The CSTE HAI subcommittee is forming a working group on getting requirements for a "XDRO registry" similar to that created by Illinois, but that can utilize existing infrastructure such as communicable disease surveillance systems and electronic laboratory result reporting (ELR). Would be helpful to get input from professional societies—such as SHEA, APIC
- CSTE submitted comments to the federal register on the CMS proposed rule regarding End-Stage Renal Disease Prospective Payment System and Quality Incentive Program
 CSTE submitted comments to the federal register on the proposed rule for the Reform of Requirements for Long-Term Care Facilities in the Medicare and Medicaid program.

Position statements:

8 position statements passed at the 2015 conference are now available at: http://www.cste.org/?page=PositionStatements. Definitions (if changed) take effect January 1, 2016.

- 15-ID-01: Standardized surveillance and case definition for acute flaccid myelitis
- 15-ID-02: Recommendations for strengthening antimicrobial stewardship in Veterinary Medicine and Animal agriculture
- 15-ID-03: Revision of case definition for Hepatitis C for National Notification
- 15-ID-04: Recommendations for Surveillance and Reporting of Healthcare Associated Infections in Long Term Care Facilities
- 15-ID-05: Standardized Definition for Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) and Recommendation for Sub-classification and Stratified Reporting
- 15-EB-01: Common Data Structure for National Notifiable Diseases
- 15-CD-01: Revision to the National Oral Health Surveillance System (NOHSS) Indicators
 - 15-EH-01: Public Health Reporting and National Notification for Elevated Blood Levels

Legislation:

Campaigns and related activities:
Press activities:
Publications:
Applied Epidemiology Scientific Writing, Trends, Needs, and Recommendations, 2014,
available at: http://www.cste2.org/Publications/CSTE-Applied_Epi_Scientificpdf
Other items of note:

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Stephen Weber, MD

Organization represented: Infectious Diseases Society of America

Interim activities and updates:

- 1. IDSA has provided multiple opportunities for the over 110 partner organizations in our U.S. Stakeholder Forum on Antimicrobial Resistance (S-FAR) to learn about and support stewardship in both human health and agricultural settings. The annual S-FAR meeting in September featured strategy sessions on funding to support implementation of the CARB plan (including stewardship components), stewardship in human health, and stewardship in animal health and agriculture.
- 2. In October, IDSA submitted comments to CMS in response to the agency's proposed LTC stewardship rule, expressing support for the overall policy and offering recommendations to ensure that LTC stewardship programs produce meaningful outcomes for patients and public health, including ID physician leadership of stewardship programs and mechanisms for measuring the impact of stewardship programs on antibiotic use rates.
- 3. In a letter to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), IDSA supported a proposed rule that would revise the FDA's annual reporting requirements for drug sponsors of all antimicrobials sold or distributed for use in food-producing animals in order to obtain estimates of sales by major food-producing species (cattle, swine, chickens, and turkeys)
- 4. At IDWeek 2015, IDSA, SHEA, the Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society of America (PIDS), and the HIV Medicine Association (HIVMA) were proud to offer a wide array of robust educational opportunities focused on stewardship and infection prevention

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

Guidelines in development related to infection prevention and antimicrobial stewardship:

- 1. Implementing an Antimicrobial Stewardship Program
- 2. Clostridium difficile (Update) Joint w/SHEA
- 3. Hospital-acquired, ventilator-acquired pneumonia (Update) Joint w/ATS
- 4. IV Catheter Management (Update)
- 5. MRSA (Update)
- 6. Nosocomial Meningitis
- 7. Outpatient Parenteral Anti-Infective Therapy (OPAT) (Update)
- 8. Vancomycin (Update) Joint w/ASHP/SIDP/PIDS

Approved, to be Published

1. Candidiasis

Link to other guidelines on website: http://www.idsociety.org/IDSA Practice Guidelines/

Position statements:

No new updates

Legislation:

- 1. In October, IDSA led over 40 S-FAR partner organizations in a letter to congressional leaders urging strong funding for the CARB plan, including stewardship components.
- 2. IDSA led advocacy for the establishment of a new, targeted antibiotic approval pathway in which all limited population antibiotics would bear narrow indications and clear labeling to help

guide stewardship of these drugs. This policy was included in the 21st Century Cures Act, which passed the House of Representatives by an overwhelming bipartisan margin in July.

- 3. IDSA developed a new legislative proposal to provide a 50% tax credit for qualified research expenses (phase 2 and 3 clinical trials) for new rapid diagnostics and antibiotics that address an unmet medical need. IDSA also secured bipartisan congressional champions for this legislation, the Reinvigorating Antibiotic and Diagnostic Innovation (READI) Act. While several other antibiotic incentive bills have been considered by Congress, this is the first to include an incentive for diagnostics, which are critical for the successful implementation of stewardship.
- 4. IDSA led a letter of support, which included 36 groups, that urged the Senate committee that oversees health policy to include a limited population antibacterial development (LPAD) pathway in a medical innovations bill that is currently under development

Campaigns and related activities:

Key areas of IDSA focus related to infection prevention and control include:

- 1. New antibiotic development (10 x '20 initiative): http://www.idsociety.org/10x20/
- 2. Antimicrobial resistance and stewardship: http://www.idsociety.org/AR Policy/
- 3. Infection prevention and control: http://www.idsociety.org/Infection Control Policy/

Press activities:

Selected news releases from: http://www.idsociety.org/News Releases/

1. IDSA Supports Proposed Stewardship Requirement for Long Term Care, Touts ID Physician Leadership (7/16/15)

Publications:

No new updates

Other items of note:

The following questions were posed to HICPAC liaison representatives in advance of the meeting. Responses on behalf of IDSA are provided in *italics*

1. Antimicrobial Stewardship

Does your organization develop guidelines/recommendations that include recommendations for antibiotics (e.g., treatment, prophylaxis, etc.)? What are those guidelines? The activities of IDSA in support of appropriate antimicrobial utilization and stewardship are detailed throughout this liaison report. This is a major priority area for IDSA

IF yes, do these include stewardship recommendations/considerations? Yes. Most recently, IDSA has been especially active in engaging in recent CMS proposed stewardship proposals for LTCF. Formal guidelines are in development

Does your organization have or is in the process of developing guidance, tools, etc. regarding antimicrobial stewardship? An array of tools to support best practices will be released in conjunction with updated stewardship guidelines

2. Reprocessing Endoscopes

Does your organization have or is in the process of creating tools or guidance for improving reprocessing of endoscopes? At this time no specific tools or guidance are planned or under formal development

3. Improving Training and Competency Healthcare Personnel on Infection Control

Does your organization produce infection control training/ education materials? At this time no specific tools or guidance are planned or under formal development

If so: What are your priority areas of focus? N/A

Are there any gaps? N/A

What training materials do you currently have under development? N/A

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA Liaison name: Sarah Matthews, Florida Department of Health in Orange County, FL

Organization represented: National Association of County and City Health Officials (NACCHO)

Interim activities and updates:

- October 2014 present: Activated a modified incident command structure to support local health departments and CDC in preparing for and responding to Ebola
 - An in-progress review meeting was held in August 2015 to reflect and assess the
 national public health response to-date, identify steps to ensure a strong and effective
 transition and recovery process, and determine ways to improve preparedness and
 response efforts, including crossover applications to other infectious disease threats
 - Partners included CDC and ASTHO and invitees included federal, state, and local representatives, as well as partner organizations
 - A report is currently being developed by NACCHO and ASTHO to outline recommendations identified at the in-progress review meeting and key stakeholder interviews
- July 2015 present: Started new fiscal year of multiyear HAI demonstration site project and this year focuses on local health departments' antibiotic stewardship efforts; the three funded demonstration sites are:
 - Florida Department of Health in Orange County Orlando, FL: Launched a
 partnership with the state's Department of Health to collaborate on HAI prevention
 efforts and increase local capacity to respond to active outbreaks; documenting work
 in decreasing unnecessary antibiotic use through urine specimen collection and
 prescribing practice
 - DuPage County Health Department Wheaton, IL: Engaging long-term care facilities and acute care hospitals to improve their understanding of local needs and approaches to the prevention of HAIs and MDROs; also facilitating quarterly educational sessions, disseminating relevant reference materials, and distributing customized "Get Smart About Antibiotics" posters to facilitate communication among staff and with residents, visitors, and family members
 - Philadelphia Department of Public Health Philadelphia, PA: Established a regionwide antimicrobial stewardship collaborative that includes acute care hospitals, longterm care facilities, non-profit organizations, and government agencies; offering an educational webinar series on antimicrobial stewardship
- September 2015: Participated in two calls with representatives from Florida Hospital, including one call with Florida Department of Health in Orange County representatives, to explore HAI activities and opportunities to partner more closely to advance shared priorities surrounding infection control
- September 2015: Participated in a call with APIC to discuss NACCHO's work to support local health departments in addressing HAIs, antimicrobial resistance and stewardship efforts, and infection control, as well as APIC and opportunities to partner more closely to advance shared priorities surrounding infection control
- Ongoing: Participated in the following meetings, conference calls, and committees related to (1) obtain updates on HAIs, injection safety, antimicrobial resistance, and infection control; and (2) determine how NACCHO can support national efforts to address related issues

- o Safe Injection Practices Coalition partner calls
- Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists (CSTE) HAI Standards Committee calls
- Ongoing: Participated in conference calls with ASTHO and CSTE to discuss HAI activities
- Ongoing: Shared HAI prevention and infection control news and resources via NACCHO's regular communication channels
- Upcoming: Will be attending CDC ELC HAI and Ebola Grantees' meeting
 - Two NACCHO representatives and three local health department representatives from Dallas County Health and Human Services, Florida Department of Health in Orange County, and Philadelphia Department of Public Health will be attending
- Upcoming: Will be initiating work with local health departments on infection control
 - A funding opportunity will be released in November that seeks to enhance local public health's infection control preparedness and response to HAI outbreaks, Ebola, and other infectious diseases through strengthening organizational capacity and partnerships

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

 Ongoing: Developing an HAI guidance document for local health departments to engage in HAI prevention activities – it will be based on experiences and input from the local health departments participating in NACCHO's HAI prevention demonstration project, corresponding state health departments, and a DHQP representative

Position statements:

- September 2015: Submitted a letter to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services about the establishment of the Presidential Advisory Council on Combatting Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria
 - The letter expresses support for the Advisory Council and recommends the need for engaging local health departments in activities to combat antibiotic resistance
- September 2015: Signed on to Infectious Diseases Society of America letter about the Antibiotic and Rapid Diagnostic Research and Development Tax Credit Act of 2015
 - o The letter expresses support of the proposed bill that provides a tax credit for rapid antibiotic and diagnostic research and development
- October 2015: Submitted a letter to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services about the CMS Condition of Participation Rule for Long-Term Care Facilities
 - o The letter expresses support of the proposed rule, describes the critical role of local health departments in preventing and controlling infections, and emphasizes the support needed for long-term care facilities and local health departments in implementing reforms
- October 2015: Signed on to Pew Charitable Trusts' letter about the CMS Condition of Participation Rule for Long-Term Care Facilities
 - o The letter expresses support of the proposed rule mandating the implementation of antibiotic stewardship programs for long-term care facilities
- Upcoming: Developing policy statement on increasing federal, state, and local collaboration in addressing antimicrobial resistance and promoting antibiotic stewardship
 - Working in partnership with NACCHO's Infectious Disease Prevention & Control
 Workgroup and other local health department representatives to develop policy statement
 - o Will emphasize importance of inclusion and support of local health departments and encourage state health departments to engage and establish relationships with their local health departments in antimicrobial resistance prevention and antibiotic stewardship
- Upcoming: Updating policy statement on increasing local health departments' access to healthcare-associated infection data through the National Healthcare Safety Network

- Working in partnership with NACCHO's Infectious Disease Prevention & Control Workgroup to update policy statement
- o Will emphasize importance of inclusion and support of local health departments in accessing NHSN and the relationship to antimicrobial stewardship

Legislation:

N/A

Campaigns and related activities:

N/A

Press activities:

N/A

Publications:

N/A

Other items of note:

- 1) Antimicrobial Stewardship
- Does your organization develop guidelines/recommendations that include recommendations for antibiotics (e.g., treatment, prophylaxis, etc.)? What are those guidelines? If yes, do these include stewardship recommendations/considerations? No.
- Does your organization have or is in the process of developing guidance, tools, etc. regarding antimicrobial stewardship?

Yes. Future tools will be developed based on LHD feedback, such as collaborating with state health departments and long-term care facilities on antimicrobial stewardship.

- 2) Reprocessing Endoscopes
- Does your organization have or is in the process of creating tools or guidance for improving reprocessing of endoscopes?
 No.
- 3) Improving Training and Competency Healthcare Personnel on Infection Control
- Does your organization produce infection control training/education materials?
 Yes.
- If so: What are your priority areas of focus?

Assessing competencies and capabilities relating to infection control, strengthening internal and external infection control-related coordination and communication.

Are there any gaps?

Connecting infection control and preparedness, obtaining infection control certification for local health department staff.

• What training materials do you currently have under development?

A guidance document is being developed that outlines roles and opportunities for LHDs to prevent and reduce HAIs in collaboration with state health departments. Future tools will be developed based on LHD feedback, such as guidance on tabletop exercises, collaborating with state health departments, and communications about infection control.

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Ex-officio name: David K. Henderson, M.D.

Organization represented: National Institutes of Health

Interim Activities and updates:

- 1. Since the previous HICPAC meeting, the NIH has continued to engage with DHHS and other federal Agencies to address various aspects of the Ebola epidemic in West Africa. The Clinical Center provided care for four patients one a Maryland physician who sustained a high risk occupational exposure, another the first of the two intensive care unit nurses from Dallas who became ill after providing care for a Liberian man who was the first person to be diagnosed with Ebola in the US, the third a healthcare worker who sustained an occupational exposure, and the fourth a healthcare provider who developed severe Ebola illness. Managing these patients in the sophisticated clinical research environment of the Clinical Center makes implicit sense and offers a substantial opportunity for us to learn about the disease's unique pathophysiology, as well as the optimal approaches to the management of patients who have this disease. All these patients were discharged home. We have continued to follow these patients to track the resolution of their illnesses and to chart the natural history of mild and severe infection with this pathogen. Additional new data about the natural history of the disease has emanated from these observations.
- 2. NIH is contributing both to the understanding of the natural history, pathogenesis, and optimal management of EVD as well as to the development of strategies for preventing its spread. For example, NIAID has completed a Phase II/III study of a candidate Ebola Virus Vaccine; NIAID intramural scientists developed this vaccine. The vaccine employs a replication incompetent chimpanzee adenovirus vector carrying the gene for the Ebola coat glycoprotein. NIAID is also supporting the development of a second candidate Ebola vaccine that is being jointly developed by the Department of Defense and Canadian collaborators. This vaccine employs a replication-competent horse vesicular stomatitis virus vector. This vaccine has been evaluated both as a post-exposure intervention as well as for primary prevention. Ongoing trials are continuing.
- 3. Work is ongoing evaluating the transmission of Vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus faecium* (VRE) in our hospital environment using whole-genome sequencing and detailed epidemiological information.
- 4. In addition, studies of CRE transmission are also continuing. We continue to employ aggressive microbial surveillance for CRE and other MDR gram-negatives and are focusing now on the presence of these organisms in our environment. Since July 2012, we have not detected transmission of any CRE isolates, but have detected 23 new isolates of CRE all of which are genetically dissimilar to our epidemic strain as well genetically dissimilar to each other. 20 of the isolates harbored the KPC gene (11 *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, 2 *Klebsiella oxytoca*, 3 *Enterobacter cloacae*, 2 *Escherichia coli*, 1 *Pantoea agglomerans*, 1 *Aeromonas hydrophila*); two harbored the NDM-1 gene (1 *Acinetobacter spp.*, 1 *Klebsiella pneumoniae*); and one harbored the OXA-48 gene (*Klebsiella pneumoniae*)

and one harbored the OXA-48 gene (Klebsiella pneumoniae).	,,
Position statements:	
Legislation:	
Campaigns and related activities:	

Press activities:

Publications:

- 1. Palmore TN, Barrett, K. Davey RT, Henderson DK. Challenges in managing patients who have suspected or confirmed Ebola Virus infection at the National Institutes of Health. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2015;36(6):623-6.
- 2. Beekmann SE, Palmore TN, Polgreen PM, Bennett JE. Adequacy of Duodenoscope Reprocessing Methods as Reported by Infectious Disease Physicians. Infection control and hospital epidemiology. 2015:1-3.
- 3. Mollura DJ, Palmore TN, Folio LR, Bluemke DA. Radiology preparedness in ebola virus disease: guidelines and challenges for disinfection of medical imaging equipment for the protection of staff and patients. Radiology. 2015;275(2):538-44.
- 4. Munoz-Price LS, Banach DB, Bearman G, Gould JM, Leekha S, Morgan DJ, et al. Isolation precautions for visitors. Infection control and hospital epidemiology. 2015;36(7):747-58.
- 5. Palmore TN, Barrett K, Michelin A, Ramsburg A, Lee LM, Davey RT, et al. Challenges in managing patients who have suspected or confirmed Ebola virus infection at the National Institutes of Health. Infection control and hospital epidemiology. 2015;36(6):623-6.
- 6. Palmore TN, Henderson DK. Intensifying the Focus on the Contribution of the Inanimate Environment to Health Care-Associated Infections. Annals of internal medicine. 2015;163(8):642-3.

Other Items of Note:

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Toju Ogunremi

Organization represented: Public Health Agency of Canada

Interim activities and updates:

Agency response related to emerging pathogens:

Interim Guidance - Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (MERS-CoV): Infection Prevention and Control Guidance for Acute Care Settings:

http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/eri-ire/coronavirus/guidance-directives/nCoV-ig-dp-eng.php Guidance is currently being updated for clarity, user-friendliness, and to reflect recent outbreak. Will no longer be an interim guidance.

No change in recommendations as evidence on mode of transmission remains the same. However, two new sections under development for inclusion in the document:

- Management of HCWs and patients exposed to a confirmed case of MERS-CoV
- Management of asymptomatic HCWs and patients who are RT-PCR positive for MERS-CoV Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

HEALTHCARE ASSOCIATED INFECTIONS SURVEILLANCE DOCUMENTS RECENTLY RELEASED:

Antimicrobial Resistant Organisms (ARO) Surveillance: Summary Report for Data from January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2014

http://healthycanadians.gc.ca/publications/drugs-products-medicaments-produits/antimicrobial-summary-sommaire-antimicrobien/index-eng.php

EBOLA VIRUS DISEASE GUIDANCE DOCUMENT AWAITING RELEASE:

Infection Prevention and Control Measures for Prehospital Care and Ground Transport of Patients with Suspected or Confirmed Ebola Virus Disease

CORE IPC GUIDELINES AND HAI SURVEILLANCE REPORTS CURRENTLY UNDER DEVELOPMENT:

Guideline on the Prevention of Transmission of Bloodborne Pathogens from Infected Healthcare Workers

Infection Prevention and Control Guidance for Personal Services: Risks, Principles, and Recommendations

Human Antimicrobial Drug Use Report – 2014 (to be released November 2015 as part of the Global AMR Twitter Chat and National Antibiotic Awareness Week)

Vancomycin-Resistant Enteroccoci Infections in Canadian acute-care hospitals:

Surveillance Report January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2013

Central Venous Catheter Associated Blood Stream Infections (CVC-BSI) in Intensive Care Units in Canadian Acute-Care Hospitals 2009-2014

CORE IPC GUIDELINE DOCUMENT IDENTIFIED FOR DEVELOPMENT:

Prevention and Control of Occupational Infections in Health Care: Guidance document (2002) to be updated.

Position statements:
Legislation:
Campaigns and related activities:
Press activities:
Publications:
Other items of note:

Liaison Report

HEALTHCARE INFECTION CONTROL PRACTICES ADVISORY COMMITTEE (HICPAC) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: David Banach, MD Organization represented: SHEA

Interim activities and updates:

SHEA Board of Trustees

SHEA has announced its 2016 Board of Trustees election results:

Vice President: Keith Kaye, MD Treasurer: Eli Perencevich, MD

Councilors: Deverick Anderson, MD, MPH and Silvia Munoz-Price, MD

International Councilor: Hanan Balkhy, MD

Education

SHEA Spring 2016: Science Guiding Prevention

The SHEA Spring 2016 conference will be held on May 18 – 21st in Atlanta, GA with Drs. Thomas Talbot and Silvia Munoz-Price as the Scientific Programs Co-Chair. Building upon the success of 2015 while also adding some additional features to the program, the chairs wanted to highlight the following:

- SHEA 2016 will provide an innovative, provocative, and in-depth scientific program applicable to healthcare epidemiologists in all settings (academic center, community hospital, post-acute care, etc.)
- Three Certificate Courses:
 - o SHEA/CDC Training Certificate Course in Healthcare Epidemiology
 - SHEA/CDC/AMDA Infection Prevention in Post-Acute and Long Term Care Certificate Course
 - o SHEA Antibiotic Stewardship Training Certificate Course (*New for 2016*)
- Cutting-edge healthcare-associated infection prevention and antibiotic stewardship education plus sessions on multi-disciplinary and integrated approaches involving implementation science and prevention across the healthcare continuum
- Focused scientific abstracts related to healthcare epidemiology, surveillance, implementation science and patient safety, and prevention strategies
- Poster and oral abstract awards for all career levels
- Launch of the SHEA Mentorship Program (*New for 2016*)
- Women in Epi Networking Event
- SHEA Education & Research Foundation Dinner

Registration and the abstract site opened on October 7, 2015.

IDWeek 2015

SHEA was pleased to be joining IDSA, PIDS and HIVMA once again for IDWeek 2015. Drs. Charlie Huskins and Arjun Srinivasan are serving as SHEA's Chair and Co-Chair, respectively. This year SHEA will have 1 Pre-Meeting workshop, 6 MTPs, 11 Symposiums, 1 Interactive Session and 2 Cross-Cutting Sessions.

IDWeek 2016

Hilary Babcock, MD was selected as IDWeek 2016 Vice Chair alongside Arjun Srinivasan, MD, who will be the SHEA Chair representative for next year's meeting.

Primer on Healthcare Epidemiology, Infection Control and Antimicrobial Stewardship

SHEA has launched its Online Primer on June 1st. This online educational course offers any Infectious Diseases practitioner or Fellow an opportunity to learn the basics of healthcare epidemiology, infection prevention and antimicrobial stewardship. Written by experts from adult and pediatric healthcare epidemiology, case-based information is presented in a dynamic and interactive learning environment intended to highlight the role of the healthcare epidemiologist. With 12 modules and topics varying from pathogen transmission, outbreak management in the healthcare setting, approach to control of bioterrorism agents, advanced occupational health management, implementing antimicrobial stewardship and the prevention and management of multidrug resistant organisms including *Clostridium difficile*, surgical site infections and device-associated infections, to name a few, we anticipate this to be very well received by Fellows and Physicians in the field. 4 CME credits are available for this course. This is a product of the membership of the Society of Healthcare Epidemiology of America and is endorsed by the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) and Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society (PIDS). As of October 22, 2015, we've had 248 Registrants: 205 Fellows & Allied Professionals and 43 Physicians.

SHEA Mentor/Mentee Program

We began this program with a pilot at IDWeek 2015 and SHEA will launch its official Mentorship Program at SHEA Spring 2016. The sub-committee, led by Jesse Jacob, MD, decided to have a Pilot Program at IDWeek. Our Mentee list was pulled from SHEA members who had previously submitted to the Epi Project as well as Poster Trainee Award Winners at IDWeek 2015. Our Mentors include: Drs. Arjun Srinivasan, Ebbing Lautenbach, Keith Kaye, Silvia Munoz-Price, Chris Nyquist and Yoko Furuya. After IDWeek, the subcommittee and SHEA staff will begin work on the application process and the implementation plan for the official Mentorship Program.

SHEA Spring 2015: Track Recordings

SHEA recorded the Spring 2015Conference Post-Acute & Long-Term Care and SHEA/CDC Healthcare Epidemiology Training Tracks. The recordings were made available for purchase on September 29 to members (\$149), non-members (\$199), and conference attendees (\$99). The Post-Acute and Long-Term Care Certificate track is co-sponsored by the Society for Post-Acute and Long-Term Care Medicine (AMDA). As of October 26, 2015, we've received 16 purchases for the recordings.

Guidelines, Expert Papers and Compendium

The SHEA Choosing Wisely list was released on October 1, and includes the following recommendations: 1) Don't continue antibiotics beyond 72 hours in hospitalized patients unless patient has clear evidence of infection. 2) Avoid invasive devices (including central venous catheters, endotracheal tubes, and urinary catheters) and, if required, use no longer than necessary. They pose a major risk for infections. 3) Don't perform urinalysis, urine culture, blood culture, or *C. difficile* testing unless patients have signs or symptoms of infection. Tests can be falsely positive leading to overdiagnosis and overtreatment. 4) Do not use antibiotics in patients with recent *C. difficile* without convincing evidence of need. Antibiotics pose a high risk of *C. difficile* recurrence. 5) Don't continue surgical prophylactic antibiotics after the patient has left the operating room.

The SHEA Expert Guidances: a) Isolation Precautions for Visitors and b) Animals in Healthcare were published in ICHE and are available in pocket card format:

- http://www.shea-online.org/GuidelinesResources/Guidelines.aspx
- http://www.shea-online.org/GuidelinesResources/SHEAPocketGuidelines.aspx

The pocket card for the "Compendium of Strategies to Prevent HAIs in Acute Care Hospitals: 2014 Update" remains popular.

The Guidelines Committee has begun work on three expert guidance proposals, "Duration of Contact Precautions," "Initiation of Antibiotics in the Long-Term Care Setting," and "Infection Prevention in Anesthesia."

A subgroup of the SHEA Guidelines Committee reviewed prevailing methodologies in guidelines development to further codify the SHEA guidelines and expert guidance literature review and grading processes. This task force is being chaired by Drs. Kristina Bryant and Deborah Yokoe. A publicly accessible handbook explaining the SHEA expert guidance development process is complete and under Board review.

Policy

2016 Budget and Appropriations

SHEA has been working with healthcare organization partners, such as IDSA, PIDS, HIVMA, APIC and others to advocate for the removal of discretionary spending caps, increased funding for CDC and NIH, as well as keeping AHRQ fully funded and intact. SHEA is a member of the Coalition for Healthcare Funding, NDD United, and Friends of AHRQ and directs most of its energy in advocating for CDC, NIH and AHRQ funding through these avenues.

In addition, SHEA is developing an evergreen grassroots campaign advocating for sustaining AHRQ funding. This campaign will be one of the core components of SHEA's grassroots program and will be driven by SHEA members who have been affiliated with programs funded or supported by AHRQ. The campaign will primarily be an education program directed at key members of the House and Senate to help them understand that AHRQ is not a duplicative agency, and that AHRQs patient safety research programs are different from patient safety research conducted by NIH and CDC. SHEA members will be asked to summarize their work with AHRQ funded programs and document how this research has worked toward improving the quality of healthcare delivery within their respective congressional districts. Their stories will be shared with their congressional representatives, who will in turn hear from their constituents about how terminating or diminishing AHRQ funding will negatively impact scientific research taking place in their districts.

FDA Proposed Rule for Healthcare Antiseptics

On May 1, FDA published a proposed rule to reevaluate the safety and effectiveness of over-the-counter healthcare antiseptics containing certain ingredients and to amend the tentative final monograph (TFM) for these products. SHEA is in the process of developing comments in response to the proposed rule, which are due October 28, 2015. SHEA is working closely with APIC to ensure comments and messaging are aligned.

Inpatient Prospective Payment System Proposed Rule.

The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) published its final rule on August 17. All SHEA-relevant provisions were finalized as proposed.

Investigation of Endoscopes and HAIs

SHEA continues to monitor the status of policy development that may emerge from the recent spate of contaminated duodenoscopes which led to deadly CRE infections at a number of hospitals across the country. The HAI outbreaks linked to the contaminated duodenoscopes continue to receive high level media coverage and have led to an FDA investigation. SHEA member Dr. Zachary Rubin delivered expert witness testimony at an FDA hosted public meeting May 14-15 to discuss recommendations on effective reprocessing procedures for duodenoscopes and preventing HAIs. In June, Sen. Patty Murray D-WA raised concerns that scope manufacturer Olympus Corporation of the Americas did not take adequate steps to warn patients about potential HAIs from its duodenoscopes and asked the company to provide her with information about its actions by June 19. These investigations into reprocessing procedures have expanded beyond duodenoscopes and include other similar medical devices subject to reprocessing procedures.

SHEA Response to CMS Proposed Rule for Dialysis Centers

SHEA submitted comments in August in response to CMS' proposed FY2016 regulations for providers of End-Stage Renal Disease prospective payment and quality incentive programs. Specifically, SHEA

recommends that CMS improve its methodology and take steps to expand its pool of dialysis facilities for validation of data reported to the NHSN dialysis event reporting module. Additionally SHEA is recommending that dialysis facilities be required to report immunization data to both CROWNWeb and NHSN.

SHEA Comments re: CMS Reform of Requirements for Long-Term Care Facilities Proposed Rule

CMS has extended the comment period for the Reform of Requirements for Long-Term Care Facilities (LTCFs) proposed rule, which was published in the *Federal Register* July 16. Comments are being developed with support and assistance from volunteers from the LTC Special Interest Group, the PPGA Committee and the Antimicrobial Stewardship Committee. We've made an effort to work closely with those members with experience in the long-term care/post-acute care (LTPAC) setting. SHEA's comments have primarily focused on CMS' proposal to require LTCFs to adopt antibiotic stewardship programs as a requirement for Medicare certification. SHEA convened a teleconference of several key stakeholder organizations representing the LTPAC community to understand the LTC provider prospective and challenges with implementing this regulation. Among the key elements of the proposed regulation are:

- Revising the formal definition of infection prevent and control programs (IPCP) by expanding requirements including requiring the adoption of antibiotic stewardship programs, and to incorporate recognized national standards
- Requiring antibiotic stewardship programs to include antibiotic use protocols and systems for
 monitoring antibiotic use and recording incidents identified under the facility's IPCP, and the
 corrective actions taken by the facility
- Requiring facilities to designate an Infection Prevention and Control Officer (IPCO) who is responsible for the IPCP and who has received specialized training in infection prevention and control beyond their initial professional degree.

FDA Guidance for Industry: Manufacturer Premarket Notification Requirements for Gowns Intended for Use in Health Care Settings

SHEA is submitting comments to The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) request for public comments on proposed revisions to it draft guidance for manufacturers of surgical gowns. FDA is proposing to update the standard currently referenced in the guidance to conform with the American National Standards Institute/Association of the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation (ANSI/AAMI) PB70:2003, "Liquid barrier performance and classification of protective apparel and drapes intended for use in health care facilities."

State Legislation

California SB 361. In keeping with SHEA's commitment to improve advocacy engagement at the state and local level, SHEA has fully endorsed SB 361, a bill that would require skilled nursing facilities to implement antibiotic stewardship policies. This bill mirrors a similar piece of legislation for acute care facilities signed into law September 2014. The bill passed the California Legislature in September and with universal support from the healthcare and agricultural communities in California. The governor is expected to sign it into law.

Federal Legislation (excludes budget resolutions, appropriations bills)

The following list of bills are being tracked and monitored by SHEA, but not necessarily being acted upon:

- S. 185: Promise for Antibiotics and Therapeutics for Health Act (PATH Act).
- S. 621: Preventing Antibiotic Resistance Act of 2015.
- H.R. 6: 21st Century Cures.
- H.R. 931: HEAL Act.
- H.R. 1424: Infection Reduction Labeling Act.
- H.R. 1552: Preservation of Antibiotics for Medical Treatment Act of 2015.
- H.R. 3539: the Reinvigorating Antibiotic and Diagnostic Innovation (READI) Act.

Research

International Research – MDRO Study Survey

The MDRO Study survey is in its second phase of deployment. The response period of the second phase has been extended by 30 days to accommodate the distribution of the survey to a 3,000 member professional society. The survey was sent to representatives of institutions in regions outside the United States to assess the current status of their infection control programs and measures taken to manage and/or prevent MDRO outbreaks.

SHEA Research Network (SRN)

The SHEA Research Network (SRN) has closed several of this year's surveys. The first by PI Dr. Susan Huang sought to define research quality improvement in the context of when patient consent is needed, the second by Dr. Jason Lempp, winner of the 2014 Epi Competition, aimed to apply the Washington state CLABSI validation method to national standards, the third, by Dr. David Yassa addresses practices related to ERCP, and the fourth, by Dr. Phillipe Vanhems hopes to develop a standard definition for healthcare-acquired influenza. A project released on October 1 by Dr. Daniel Livorsi, addresses use of antibiotics in acute care settings.

Press activities:

Below is a list of press releases that SHEA has released in the past few months. To read the complete text of any of the releases visit <a href="https://www.shea-past.com/www

online.org/JournalNews/PressRoom/PressReleaseArchives.aspx

- 10/13/15 Drug-Resistant E.coli Bacteria Increasingly Found in Community Hospitals
- 10/01/15 Infection Control Experts Announce Recommendations to Reduce Overuse in Medicine
- 09/16/15 Dominant Strain of Drug-Resistant MRSA Decreases in Hospital Settings But Persists in the Broader Community
- 09/15/15 Ensuring Appropriate Antibiotic Use in Long-Term Care Settings to Improve Patient Care
- 08/27/15 Probiotics Show No Impact in Preventing Gastrointestinal Colonization with Drug Resistant Organisms
- 08/20/15 Multiple Strains of C. difficile Cause Severe Patient Outcomes
- 08/04/15 Controlling Inappropriate Antibiotic Use Across Settings Provides for Better Patient Outcomes
- 07/20/15 SHEA Applauds Proposed Rule Requiring Implementation of Infection Control and Antibiotic Stewardship Programs in Long-Term Care Institutions
- 06/18/15 Best Practices Highlighted to Prevent Infections During Laundry Process of Healthcare Textiles
- 06/08/15 Whole Genome Sequencing Found to Rapidly Enhance Infection Control

SHEA continues to collaborate with Medscape submitting expert commentaries and contributing select articles from Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. The SHEA page is available at: www.medscape.com/partners/shea/public/shea

SHEA also has an active social media presence which you can follow:

LinkedIn – The Society for Healthcare Epidemiology Group

Twitter: @SHEA Epi

Facebook: www.facebook.com/SHEAPreventingHAIs

Publications:

Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology

We are almost a full year in (from a planning perspective) to publishing with the Cambridge University Press. We have increased subscriptions, advertising and submissions since moving to Cambridge. Overall, it has been a successful transition to the new publisher.

SHEA Spotlight

The SHEA Spotlight which is our weekly advertising supported newsletter that is outsourced to Multiview. We continue to see ad growth and our open rate continues to stay strong. If you are interested in subscribing, please contact kweinshel@shea-online.org.

Other items of note:

SHEA Awards

SHEA presented the following awards at IDWeek 2015:

- SHEA Senior Scholarship Award Daniel J. Sexton, MD, FIDSA, FSHEA
- SHEA Mentor Scholar Award Issam I. Road, MD, FIDSA, FSHEA
- SHEA Pediatric Scholarship Award Susan Coffin, MD, MPH, FPIDS, FIDSA
- SHEA Mid-Career Scholarship Award Keith Kaye, MD, MPH, FIDSA, FSHEA
- SHEA Barry Farr Award Kalpana Gupta, MD, MPH
- SHEA William Jarvis Award Caroline Quach, MD, MSc, FSHEA
- SHEA International Scholarship Award Anucha Apisarnthanark, MD
- SHEA Advanced Practice IP Award Mary Lou Manning, PhD, CRNP, CIC, FSHEA

SHEA is now accepting applications for scholarship awards for SHEA Spring 2016: Science Guiding Prevention. In addition to awards for IPs (Pugliese Scholarship) and Epi MD Fellows (Freeman Scholarship), we are expanding to offer two scholarships to non-MD Healthcare Epi/Healthcare Associated Infection researchers in honor of William Rutala. More information available at www.SHEASpring.org.

Other items of note:

Antimicrobial Stewardship

Does your organization develop guidelines/recommendations that include recommendations for antibiotics (e.g., treatment, prophylaxis, etc.)? What are those guidelines? IF yes, do these include stewardship recommendations/considerations? SHEA/IDSA Guidelines on Implementing an Antibiotic Stewardship Program are currently under review and finalization is expected early 2016.

Clinical Practice Guidelines for Antimicrobial Prophylaxis in Surgery

Author: The American Society of Health-System Pharmacists (ASHP), the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA), the Surgical Infection Society (SIS), and the Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America (SHEA)

Date Published: Feb 04, 2013

Date Revised: Feb, 2013 (American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy and Surgical

Infections)

Publication Format: HTML

Abstract: The guidelines are intended to provide practitioners with a standardized approach to the rational, safe, and effective use of antimicrobial agents for the prevention of surgical-site infections (SSIs) based on currently available clinical evidence and emerging issues. Choosing Wisely Campaign: 5 Things List: 1) Don't continue antibiotics beyond 72 hours in hospitalized patients unless patient has clear evidence of infection. 2) Avoid invasive devices

(including central venous catheters, endotracheal tubes, and urinary catheters) and, if required, use no longer than necessary. They pose a major risk for infections. 3) Don't perform urinalysis, urine culture, blood culture, or *C. difficile* testing unless patients have signs or symptoms of infection. Tests can be falsely positive leading to overdiagnosis and overtreatment. 4) Do not use antibiotics in patients with recent *C. difficile* without convincing evidence of need. Antibiotics pose a high risk of *C. difficile* recurrence. 5) Don't continue surgical prophylactic antibiotics after the patient has left the operating room.

SHEA is working on developing Expert Guidance: Initiation of Antibiotics in the Long-Term Care Setting. Should be finalized by the end of 2016.

Does your organization have or is in the process of developing guidance, tools, etc. regarding antimicrobial stewardship?:

<u>Guidance for the Knowledge and Skills Required for Antimicrobial Stewardship</u> Leaders

Author: Sara E. Cosgrove, Elizabeth D. Hermsen, Michael J. Rybaka, Thomas M. File, Sarah

K. Parker and Tamar F. Barlama **Date Published:** December 2014

Publication Format: HTML

Abstract: The purpose of this guidance document is to outline the knowledge and skills that are needed to lead an antimicrobial stewardship program. It was developed by antimicrobial stewardship experts from organizations that are engaged in advancing the field of antimicrobial stewardship.

<u>Guidelines for Developing an Institutional Program to Enhance Antimicrobial</u> Stewardship

Author: Joint SHEA/IDSA Taskforce
Date Published: Jan, 01 2007
Publication Format: PDF

Abstract: This document presents guidelines for developing institutional programs to enhance antimicrobial stewardship, an activity that includes appropriate selection, dosing, route, and duration of antimicrobial therapy. The combination of effective antimicrobial stewardship with a comprehensive infection control program has been shown to limit the emergence and transmission of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria and reduce healthcare costs without adversely impacting quality-of-care. These guidelines focus on the development of effective hospital-based stewardship programs and do not include specific outpatient recommendations. The population targeted includes all patients in acute care hospitals.

Guidelines for the Prevention of Antimicrobial Resistance in Hospitals

Author: SHEA/IDSA Joint Committee on the Prevention of Antimicrobial Resistance **Date Published:** April 1997, CID

Abstract: Antimicrobial resistance results in increased morbidity, mortality, and costs of healthcare. Prevention of the emergence of resistance and the dissemination of resistant microorganisms will reduce these adverse effects and their attendant costs. Appropriate antimicrobial stewardship that includes optimal selection, dose, and duration of treatment, as well as control of antibiotic use, will prevent or slow the emergence of resistance among microorganisms. A comprehensively applied infection control program will interdict the dissemination of resistant strains.

<u>Policy Statement on Antimicrobial Stewardship by the Society for Healthcare</u> Epidemiology of America (SHEA), the Infectious Diseases Society of America: Antimicrobial resistance has emerged as a significant healthcare quality and patient safety issue in the twenty-first century that, combined with a rapidly dwindling antimicrobial armamentarium, has resulted in a critical threat to the public health of the United States. Antimicrobial stewardship programs optimize antimicrobial use to achieve the best clinical outcomes while minimizing adverse events and limiting selective pressures that drive the emergence of resistance and may also reduce excessive costs attributable to suboptimal antimicrobial use. Therefore, antimicrobial stewardship must be a fiduciary responsibility for all healthcare institutions across the continuum of care. This position statement of the Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America, the Infectious Diseases Society of America, and the Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society of America outlines recommendations for the mandatory implementation of antimicrobial stewardship throughout health care, suggests process and outcome measures to monitor these interventions, and addresses deficiencies in education and research in this field as well as the lack of accurate data on antimicrobial use in the United States.

Author: SHEA, IDSA, PIDS; Date Published: 3/15/2012 11:37:00 AM; Publication

Format: ICHE

Education/Training:

- SHEA Antibiotic Stewardship Training Certificate Course: SHEA Spring Meeting 2016: This certificate course designed for physicians of infectious diseases, healthcare epidemiologists, microbiologists, pharmacists, and other healthcare providers who are involved with creating, implementing, or improving an antimicrobial stewardship program for their healthcare institution. It will include cutting-edge healthcare-associated infection prevention and antibiotic stewardship education including sessions on multi-disciplinary and integrated approaches as well as discussing strategies needed to support antibiotic stewardship program in your institution.
- IDWeek Pre Meeting Workshop: Best Practices for Antimicrobial Stewardship Programs: This workshop which was co-organized by The Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America (SHEA), Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society (PIDS) and in collaboration with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) is meant to improve an antimicrobial stewardship program for their healthcare institution. This activity is designed for pediatric and adult infectious diseases physicians, healthcare epidemiologists, microbiologists, pharmacists, and other healthcare providers who desire to create, implement a stewardship program. This workshop evaluates components of effective antimicrobial stewardship programs and implements interventions in their healthcare settings while applying strategies for and implementing process and outcomes measures.
- SHEA Antimicrobial Stewardship Textbook (under development)
- Online Primer for Healthcare Epidemiology, Infection Control and Antibiotic Stewardship: This online educational course offers any Infectious Diseases practitioner an opportunity to learn the basics of healthcare epidemiology, infection control and antimicrobial stewardship. Written by adult and pediatric experts in the field, case-based information is presented in a dynamic and interactive learning environment intended to highlight the role of the healthcare epidemiologist. Topics covered include pathogen transmission, outbreak management in the healthcare setting, approach to control of bioterrorism agents, advanced occupational health management, implementing antimicrobial stewardship and the prevention and management of multidrug resistant organisms including Clostridium difficile, surgical site infections and device-associated infections. This is a product of the membership of the

Society of Healthcare Epidemiology of America and is endorsed by Infectious Disease Society of America (IDSA) and Pediatric Infectious Disease Society (PIDS).

• Antimicrobial Stewardship: Rationale, Design and Implementation Conference: SHEA and IDAC hosted a conference in Los Angeles on Feb. 2-3, 2015. This two-day training course is designed for physicians of infectious diseases, healthcare epidemiologists, microbiologists, pharmacists, and other healthcare providers who are involved with creating, implementing, or improving an antimicrobial stewardship program for their healthcare institution. This course met the training requirements set out in the *California Bill SB 1311 for Stewardship Training*.

Reprocessing Endoscopes

Does your organization have or is in the process of creating tools or guidance for improving reprocessing of endoscopes?

The SHEA Guidelines Committee is in the process of providing expert comments on the AORN Guideline for Processing Flexible Endoscopes.

A research project was conducted through the SHEA Research Network this summer regarding ERCP Endoscope Reprocessing Practices to Reduce the Risk of CRE Transmission (PI David Yassa). The resulting manuscript will be unaffiliated with SHEA, as with other SRN projects.

Improving Training and Competency Healthcare Personnel on Infection Control

Does your organization produce infection control training/ education materials? If so:
What are your priority areas of focus?

Infection Prevention and Control Practitioners:

- SHEA Spring Conference: Science Guiding Prevention: SHEA Spring 2016 includes broad subject matter expertise in healthcare epidemiology, long-term care, research methods, clinical microbiology, patient safety and quality, implementation science, and networking and communication. Also, cutting-edge healthcare-associated infection prevention and antibiotic stewardship education plus sessions on multi-disciplinary and integrated approaches involving implementation science and prevention across the healthcare continuum. 2 featured tracks of the conference include:
 - o SHEA/CDC Training Certificate Course in Healthcare Epidemiology
 - SHEA/CDC/AMDA Infection Prevention in Post-Acute & Long Term Care Certificate Course
- Practical Handbook for Healthcare Epidemiology Textbook (currently being updated)
 ID Fellows:
- Online Primer for Healthcare Epidemiology, Infection Control and Antibiotic Stewardship: This online educational course offers any Infectious Diseases practitioner an opportunity to learn the basics of healthcare epidemiology, infection control and antimicrobial stewardship. Written by adult and pediatric experts in the field, case-based information is presented in a dynamic and interactive learning environment intended to highlight the role of the healthcare epidemiologist. Topics covered include pathogen transmission, outbreak management in the healthcare setting, approach to control of bioterrorism agents, advanced occupational health management, implementing antimicrobial stewardship and the prevention and management of multidrug resistant organisms including Clostridium difficile, surgical site infections and device-associated

infections. This is a product of the membership of the Society of Healthcare Epidemiology of America and is endorsed by Infectious Disease Society of America (IDSA) and Pediatric Infectious Disease Society (PIDS).

Are there any gaps?

More LTC Infection Control Training is a priority for SHEA

What training materials do you currently have under development?

• Continual enhancement and improvement on both SHEA Spring Meeting and IDWeek infection control content.

Liaison Report HEALTHCARE INFECTION CONTROL PRACTICES ADVISORY COMMITTEE (HICPAC) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Meeting Date: November 5, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Vineet Chopra, MD

Organization represented: The Society of Hospital Medicine

Interim activities and updates:

- SHM has been working with HRET on Catheter Associated Urinary Tract Infection (CAUTI) prevention and best practices regarding the Comprehensive unit-based safety program model (CUSP)
 - SHM has facilitated coaching calls and actively supported three cohorts for the project in order to assist hospitals with implementing cultural and technical interventions in order to reduce CAUTI rates; HRET recruited for cohort 5 and SHM will be supporting the new cohort
 - The CAUTI Fellowship, Project Protect: Infection Prevention Fellowship was completed in March 2015 and The Hospitalist Blog highlighted one of SHM's faculty and his mentee
 - SHM executed Option Year 3 of the contract, which ended on August 14, 2015;
- Received notification of award for additional subcontract to work in partnership with HRET to reduce CAUTI in the long term care setting; Currently executing Option Year 2 of the contract
 - SHM faculty experts are responsible for developing content and coaching organizations enrolled in the program to reduce CAUTI in long term care facilities (LTCFs)
 - o The program is also assisting facilities in developing their culture of safety and working on additional safety issues such as falls and antimicrobial stewardship
- March 2015- SHM's HQPS Committee introduced the Antimicrobial Stewardship Subcommittee recognizing that hospitalists are well positioned to impact the improvement of antimicrobial use, implement appropriate prescribing and appropriately address antimicrobial resistance
- June 2, 2015- SHM was invited to participate in the White House Forum on Antibiotic Stewardship. SHM made a commitment to:
 - Support national initiatives that advocate for the appropriate use of antimicrobials and promote strategies to reduce antimicrobial resistance.
 - Create a Society of Hospital Medicine Behavior Change (Awareness) Campaign to enhance hospitalists' awareness of key antimicrobial stewardship best practices and ask them to formally commit to at least two behavior changes to reduce inappropriate antimicrobial use and reduce antimicrobial resistance.
 - Identify partnerships and other opportunities to support the development of a comprehensive program to implement antimicrobial stewardship best practices in America's hospitals.
- SHM received notification of an award for additional subcontract to work in partnership with HRET to reduce CLABSI and CAUTI in Intensive Care Units (ICU).

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

• SHM worked in conjunction with the Society for the Advancement of Blood Management, Inc (SABM) on an Anemia Prevention and Management Implementation Guide

- SHM faculty experts assisted with the production of a repository of materials to assist clinicians and facilities who are interested in improving the care of patients with anemia in the hospital setting as well as preventing transfusion overuse in anemia patients
- SHM participated in the American Board of Internal Medicine's (ABIM) Choosing
 Wisely Campaign, which subsequently identified blood transfusion as a common, but
 inappropriately utilized intervention for anemia
- SHM in partnership with the ABIM's *Choosing Wisely* initiative published two recommendations that will guide hospitalists toward high-value care in the transfusion decision:
 - Avoid transfusions of red blood cells for arbitrary hemoglobin or hematocrit thresholds and in the absence of symptoms of active coronary disease, heart failure or stroke, and
 - Do not perform repetitive complete blood count and chemistry testing the face of clinical and lab stability
- SHM faculty experts and SABM faculty experts finalized the Blood Management and Anemia Implementation Guide in October 2015 and a toolkit referencing the Implementation Guide is currently in development with an estimated completion date of November 30, 2015
- SHM received funding from Covidien to develop a quality improvement initiative related to opioid medications
 - SHM faculty experts developed an Implementation Guide for Reducing Adverse Drug Events from Opioids (RADEO)
 - o An online toolkit for RADEO is currently in production
 - The second phase of this project is to demonstrate best practices by using SHM's Mentored Implementation model in five hospitals affiliated with major health systems
- SHM faculty experts developed an Implementation Guide for Implementing a bundle for intensive care unit (ICU) delirium
 - The implementation guide was completed in mid-October and an online toolkit is currently in production

Campaigns and related activities:

- SHM's Antimicrobial Stewardship Subcommittee along with SHM staff developed a behavior change campaign to:
 - Promote dialogue among hospitalists and their team members about appropriate antibiotic prescribing
 - o Encourage behavior change to ultimately facilitate sustainable culture change and promote appropriate prescribing in the hospital
 - o Provide resources to support hospitalists in their antimicrobial stewardship efforts
- SHM will target its membership of 14,000 members through a targeted Antimicrobial
- Stewardship Campaign created within its Center for Hospital Innovation and Improvement
 - o SHM will launch its Fight the Resistance Campaign on November 10th to ask hospitalists to support appropriate antibiotic prescribing behavior in the hospital
 - o The campaign includes targeted messages that address appropriate antimicrobial prescribing practices and key strategies to reduce spread of antimicrobial resistance
 - o SHM will rely on multiple venues to introduce and conduct the campaign including social media, email and its Hospital Medicine Exchange interactive site
 - The subcommittee will host a campaign launch webinar on November 10, 2015 presented by Dr. Scott Flanders and Dr. Melhim Bou Alwan

Press activities:

• CDC will promote the Fight the Resistance campaign during their Get Smart About Antibiotics campaign

Publications:

- The association of patient complexities with antibiotic ordering
- Improving transitions of care for patients on warfarin: The safe transitions anticoagulation report

Other items of note:

Liaison Report HEALTHCARE INFECTION CONTROL PRACTICES ADVISORY COMMITTEE (HICPAC) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Robert G. Sawyer, MD

Organization represented: Surgical Infection Society (SIS). Website: www.sisna.org

Interim activities and updates:

The annual Surgical Infection Society mid-annual meeting was held at the annual American College of Surgeons meeting in Chicago in October. The meeting focused to a large extent on increasing membership in the society. Dan Pollock from the CDC and Joe Sharma from the CDC/Emory joined the meeting for a very lively and fruitful discussion of how the CDC and the SIS can work together to solve common problems.

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

1. Guidelines in process

The members of the Guidelines and Therapeutics Committee are conducting the following systematic reviews:

- 1. Antibiotics for facial trauma
 - a. October 2015: completion of analysis
 - b. December 2015: manuscript submission to Surgical Infections
- 2. Revision of 2010 Guidelines for the management of intra-abdominal infections
 - a. August 2015 Review literature
 - b. November 2015 Complete analysis
 - c. February 2016 Submit manuscript
- 3. Guidelines for the management of acute appendicitis
 - a. May 2016 Review literature
 - b. August 2016 Complete analysis
 - c. November 2016 Submit manuscript
- 4. Guidelines for the management of the open abdomen
 - a. Spring 2016 Review literature
 - b. Summer 2016 Complete analysis
 - c. Fall 2016 Submit manuscript
 - d. Guidelines for the management of necrotizing soft tissue infections
 - e. April 2016 Review literature
 - f. July 2016 Complete analysis

g. October 2016 Submit manuscript
Position statements:
Legislation:
Campaigns and related activities:

Recent Publications:

Press activities:

REVIEWS

The Bacteremia Caused by Non-Lactose Fermenting Gram-Negative Bacilli in Solid Organ Transplant

Recipients Full Access

Qiquan Wan, Qifa Ye, Feizhou Huang.

Surgical Infections. October 2015, 16(5): 479-489.

Other items of note:

The SIS and CDC with the help of Dan Pollock and Joe Sharma are beginning two projects to surgical infections, including a method to incorporate remote image capture and transmission in to the post-discharge surveillance of surgical wounds and the development of the appropriate curriculum for hospital quality managers who need to be well-versed in the field of HAIs.

Liaison Report HEALTHCARE INFECTION CONTROL PRACTICES ADVISORY COMMITTEE (HICPAC) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Meeting Date: November 5-6, 2015

Meeting Location: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA

Liaison name: Margaret VanAmringe

Organization represented: The Joint Commission

Interim activities and updates:

Updates to Surveyor Education and Activity Guide - Duodenoscope Reprocessing

As part of The Joint Commission's accreditation survey, high level disinfection and sterilization processes are routinely addressed using the tracer methodology – following an endoscope, probe, or set of surgical instruments from the point-of-use (in the procedure room after the procedure is over), cleaning, decontamination, high-level disinfection or sterilization, to storage. With the increase of endoscope associated outbreaks of a multi-drug resistant organism (CRE), The Joint Commission provided additional specialized training of this topic to our surveyor cadre in order that they would be better educated to identify opportunities for improvements within health care organizations. Furthermore, the issue of duodenoscope reprocessing was stressed during The Joint Commission's executive briefings this year with health care organizations. The Joint Commission has uploaded guidelines and guidance information on duodenoscope cleaning on our Infection Prevention HAI-Portal for all accredited organizations. See:

http://www.jointcommission.org/topics/hai portal external resources disinfection sterilization.aspx

Guidelines and Guidance: Please include both in-progress and planned in the coming year. If you have a different format (e.g., information on a website) you don't have to list them here but could just include the link to the website.

N/A

Position statements:

N/A

Legislation:

N/A

Campaigns and related activities:

<u>The President's National Action Plan for Combating Antibiotic-Resistance – The Joint Commission's Antimicrobial Stewardship Standard Development Initiative</u>

In keeping with the President's initiative, The Joint Commission is currently in the process of developing a draft antimicrobial stewardship standard for potential application to the hospital, critical access hospital, nursing care center, ambulatory, and office-based surgery settings. Stakeholder calls are currently being conducted with external organizations to obtain feedback on the proposed antimicrobial stewardship standard. Thus far, stakeholder calls have been held with CMS, CDC, SHEA, and IDSA. In November 2015, The Joint Commission will present the proposed antimicrobial stewardship standards to its Standards and Survey Procedures Committee for consent to conduct a field review survey of the proposed standard in December 2015.

Press activities:

The Joint Commission's Antimicrobial Stewardship Campaign

In addition to evaluating its standards regarding stewardship, The Joint Commission has committed to the development of several publications to: raise the level of awareness of providers to the benefit of engaging in stewardship practices, create patient-based materials

to engage consumers in this important area, and update a tool kit to support organizations with implementing stewardship programs.

The Joint Commission has published the following products regarding antimicrobial stewardship:

Speak-Up Campaign: http://www.jointcommission.org/topics/speakup antibiotics.aspx Quick Safety:

http://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/23/Quick Safety Issue 16 September 20153.PDF Infection Control and Hand Hygiene Portal: http://www.jointcommission.org/hai.aspx HAI infographic: http://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/10/IC HAI Infographic.pdf

Twitter Chat - Flu Vaccine

The Joint Commission participated in a Twitter chat with the CDC, NFID, and ABC News on Tuesday, September 29, 2015 at 1:00p.m. EST on the flu vaccine. The hashtag for the event was #abcDRBchat. You can follow The Joint Commission @TJCommission.

Publications:

N/A

Other items of note:

Research Campaign

Pfizer Independent Grants for Learning and Change (IGLC) and The Joint Commission partnered with the long-term goal to support an array of projects designed to accelerate the adoption of evidence-based innovations that improve patient care. This collaboration was designed to utilize the Request for Proposal (RFP) process to identify, fund and oversee projects related to specific improvement objectives that align the mutual interests of patients, health care providers and the two partner organizations. Projects under this collaboration are funded by Pfizer IGLC and administered by The Joint Commission. Phase I of this collaboration provided a funding opportunity for antimicrobial stewardship. The goal of this RFP was to accelerate the development and adoption of evidence-based approaches that have the capacity to prevent or contain antimicrobial resistance (AMR), and that support and promote appropriate use of antimicrobial agents. Three projects related to antimicrobial stewardship were awarded during phase I of this project. The Joint Commission continues to provide oversight to these project, as of yet there are no data or preliminary findings to report.

CDC SHEPheRD Program

The Joint Commission and The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) are collaborating on an initiative designed to adapt, enhance and disseminate CDC guidance related to infection prevention and control in ambulatory health care settings. This goal of this effort, which is supported through a CDC Safety and Healthcare Epidemiology Prevention Research Development (SHEPheRD) contract, is to create model infection control plans and expand the reach, uptake and adoption of these and other infection prevention and control guidance materials to prevent infections in outpatient settings.

The project will focus on a variety of free-standing ambulatory settings and services. In collaboration with the CDC, The Joint Commission will select and work with 12 outpatient-focused professional organizations (e.g., medical specialties that primarily serve ambulatory patient populations), and 10 ambulatory health care systems. The Joint Commission and CDC also will engage with local chapters of the professional organizations and state health departments that have an interest in enhancing infection prevention and control in their areas.

Expanded Dissemination of Respiratory Protection Project Program

As part of a contract funded through CDC/NIOSH/NPPTL, The Joint Commission developed an educational monograph designed to assist hospitals in addressing common challenges and barriers in the implementation of their respiratory protection programs. The monograph, Implementing Hospital Respiratory Protection Programs: Strategies from the Field, features examples, strategies, new resources, and a variety of implementation approaches which were solicited from the field and vetted through an eight-member Technical Expert Panel (TEP). In order to reach a larger audience, The Joint Commission received additional support to augment dissemination activities through March of 2016. Project staff presented information about the monograph and other related resources at three conferences:

- American Association of Occupational Health Nurses (AAOHN), Annual Conference (poster), March 23-26, 2015 Boston, MA
- The Joint Commission 2015 Emergency Preparedness Conference, Speaking engagement (30 minutes), April 30-May 1, 2015 Lake Buena Vista, FL
- Association of Occupational Health Professionals in Healthcare (AOHP), Annual Conference (speaking engagement), September 9-12, 2015 San Francisco, CA In addition, project staff participated on a NIOSH-sponsored webinar highlighting available respiratory protection program resources on September 4, 2015 in celebration of N95 day. This webinar offered one CE credit and was attended by over 220 people.

The Joint Commission and CDC Collaboration to Explore Opportunities to Use NHSN Data for Quality Improvement

The overall goal of this collaborative pilot study is to explore the extent to which The Joint Commission and CDC can facilitate the use of NHSN information for improvement in hospitals and to explore incorporating this information in the accreditation process.

This developmental project will be implemented in two parts: a pre-pilot (months 1-4) and a pilot test (months 5-12). The objectives of part 1 include:

- 1. To familiarize Joint Commission staff with the content of available NHSN reports related to C. difficile and possibly other modules
- 2. To identify how hospitals currently use these reports and their perceptions of the usefulness of the information
- 3. To work collaboratively with CDC and possibly other organizations (such as QIOs) to consider how The Joint Commission could facilitate usefulness of the reports and support current local and state-level initiatives for improving performance.

After obtaining agreement to participate from five hospitals that are currently engaged in the Joint Commission's Center for Transforming Healthcare (CTH) "Preventing C. difficile Infections Project", pre-pilot data will be collected by teleconference using structured interviews with a member of each hospitals' infection prevention staff.